

Interim report

Proposal for soil remediation values for Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)

M. Van Holderbeke, J. Bierkens, L. Geerts

Study carried out on behalf of OVAM 2019/Unit/R/2055

October 2020



VITO NV Boeretang 200 - 2400 MOL - BELGIE Tel. + 32 14 33 55 11 - Fax + 32 14 33 55 99 vito@vito.be - www.vito.be

BTW BE-0244.195.916 RPR (Turnhout) Bank 375-1117354-90 ING BE34 3751 1173 5490 - BBRUBEBB

Distribution: Restricted



All rights, including copyright, on the information stated in this document are held by the "Vlaamse Instelling voor Technologisch Onderzoek NV" ("VITO", Flemish Institute for Technological Research), Boeretang 200, BE-2400 Mol, Belgium, Turnhout Register of Legal Persons, VAT no. BE 0244.195.916. The information provided in this document is confidential information from VITO. This document may not be reproduced or distributed, nor used in whole or in part for making claims, conducting legal proceedings, for the purpose of advertising or adverse publicity or used more generally for the purpose of recruitment, without the prior written permission of VITO

DISTRIBUTION LIST

Griet Van Gestel, OVAM

SUMMARY

The present report discusses the proposals for soil remediation values (SRV) for Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) and Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). The derivation follows the guidelines set out in Cornelis and Touchant (2016). The calculations of the soil remediation values were carried out with an adapted version of S-Risk 1.3, a model for human exposure and health risk assessment at contaminated sites.

For soil, three toxicology scenarios were retained, namely US-EPA (2016c) (= preferred scenario), Zeilmaker et al. (2016) and EFSA (2018c). For the ecotoxicological reference values, biomagnification was taken into account. Table S 1 and Table S 2 show the resulting soil remediation values proposed for PFOS and PFOA respectively, with the preferred values in green. For the decision on the SRV for landuse type II (agriculture), the study 'Derivation of target values for perfluorinated compounds' is pending, and policy may be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.

Landuse type	II ¹		IV	V
Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO)	-	-	-	-
Proposal human health based tox US-EPA (2016c)	3.1	204.6	1,949 (drinking water) (IVb)	1,949 (drinking water (Va and b)
Proposal human health based tox Zeilmaker et al. (2018)	0.84	55.05	1,949 (drinking water) (IVb)	1,949 (drinking water (Va and b)
Proposal human health based tox EFSA (2018c)	0.11	6.63	447.2 (IVa)	1,488 (Vb)
Proposal ecotox	3	18	110	9,100
Background value	1.5			

Table S 1: The proposed SRV for soil (μ g/kg dm) for PFOS

¹ Not final, will be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil

	II^1	III	IV	V
Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO)	-	-	-	-
Proposal human health based tox US-EPA (2016c)	4.3	205	643 (drinking water) IV a and IV b	643 (drinking water) Va and Vb
Proposal human health based tox Zeilmaker et al. (2016)	2.7	127	643 (drinking water) IV a and IV b	643 (drinking water) Va and Vb
Proposal human health based tox EFSA (2018c)	0.14	6.2	375 (Va)	443 (Vb)
Proposal ecotox	7	89	1,100	50,000
Background value	1.0			

No background values for Flemish soils were available at the time this study was carried out. On behalf of OVAM, background values were measured in 2020, for which, for PFOS and PFOA, a background value of 1.5 respectively $1.0 \mu g/kg dm$ in soil was derived.

The SRV for groundwater has a human health based underpinning, and corresponds to the drinking water standard if this has a toxicological basis (Cornelis & Touchant, 2016). The drinking water standard of 100 ng/l proposed by the EU is mainly based on feasibility and not on toxicology. As such, the SRV for groundwater was calculated for the three toxicology scenarios US-EPA (2016c), Zeilmaker et al. (2016) and EFSA (2018c). The derived SRV for groundwater for PFOS and PFOA are given in Table S 3, with the selected value in green.

Toxicological	Value	Unit	SRV groundwate	SRV groundwater (ng/l)	
reference value					
			PFOS	PFOA	
Set 1 (preference)					
US-EPA (2016a)					
TDI oral	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	120	120	
TCA inhalation	7.10 ⁻⁵	mg/m ³			
TDI dermal	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d			
Set 2 Zeilmaker <i>et al.</i>					
(2018)					
TDI oral	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	38	75	
TCA inhalation	21.9.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m ³			
TDI dermal	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d			
Set 3 EFSA (2018b)					
TDI oral	1.8.10-6	mg/kg/d	11	4.8	
TCA inhalation	6.3.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m ³			
TDI dermal	1.8.10-6	mg/kg/d			

Table S 3: The calculated SRV for groundwater (ng/l) for PFOS and PFOA

CONTENTS

Distribut	ion list	I
Summary	/	
Contents		v
List of ta	oles	VIII
List of fig	ures	XI
List of ab	breviations	xIII
CHAPTER	1. Introduction	1
1.1.	Background	1
1.2.	Approach	1
1.2.3	Physiochemical properties	1
1.2.2	2. Occurrence in the environment	1
1.2.3	3. Toxicology	2
1.2.4	4. Calculations	2
1.2.	5. Ecotoxicological reference values	2
1.2.0	b. Integration and evaluation of the proposals for values	3
1.3.	Reader's guide	3
CHAPTER	2. PFOS	4
2.1.	Identification	4
2.2.	Sources of PFOS	4
2.3.	Behaviour in soil and physiochemical properties	4
2.3.3	L. Fate of PFOS in soil	4
2.3.2	2. Physiochemical properties	6
2.4.	Occurrence in the environment	16
2.4.	L. Soil	16
2.4.2	2. Air	16
2.4.3	 Drinking water 	17
2.4.4	Image: Concentrations in foodstuffs and intake via food	17
2.5.	Transfer to plants	28
2.6.	Transfer to animal products	37
2.7.	Toxicology	41
2.7.:	L. Introduction	41
2.7.2	2. Toxicokinetics	41
2.7.3	 Effects on test animals and humans 	43
2.7.4	 Summary of the available toxicological reference values 	50
2.7.	Proposal for toxicological reference values to be used	56
2.8.	Ecotoxicology	58

Contents

2.9. Leg 2.9.1. 2.9.2. 2.9.3.	al limits Outdoor air and indoor air Diet and food Drinking water	58 58 59 59
2.10. Cale 2.10.1. 2.10.2. 2.10.3. 2.10.4.	culation of the soil remediation value Groundwater Soil Ecotoxicological reference values Target values	60 60 62 69 71
2.11. Inte 2.11.1. 2.11.2. 2.11.3. 2.12. Con	egration and evaluation Soil Groundwater Guideline values	71 71 73 73 73 74
CHAPTER 3.	ΡΕΩΑ	77
3.1. Idei	ntification	77
3.2. Sou	prces of PFOA	77
3.3. Beh 3.3.1. 3.3.2.	Paviour in soil and physiochemical properties Fate of PFOA in soil Physiochemical properties	77 77 79
3.4. Occ 3.4.1. 3.4.2. 3.4.3. 3.4.4	Soil Air Drinking water Concentrations in foodstuffs and intake via food	87 87 87 87 87 87 88
3.4.4. 3.5 Tra	nsfer to plants	88
3.6. Tra	nsfer to animal products	108
3.7. Tox 3.7.1. 3.7.2. 3.7.3. 3.7.4. 3.7.5.	icology Introduction Toxicokinetics Effects on test animals and humans Summary of the available toxicological reference values Proposal for toxicological reference values to be used	111 111 111 111 111 114 119 126
3.8. Eco	toxicology	126
3.9. Leg 3.9.1. 3.9.2. 3.9.3.	al limits Outdoor air and indoor air Diet and food Drinking water	127 127 127 127 127
3.10. Cale 3.10.1. 3.10.2. 3.10.3. 3.10.4.	culation of the soil remediation value Groundwater Soil Ecotoxicological reference values Target values	128 128 129 133 134

Anney B. PF	OA substance sheet	1/6
Annex A: PF	OS substance sheet	140
3.12. Со	mparison with foreign soil remediation values	137
3.11.3.	Guideline values	137
3.11.2.	Groundwater	136
3.11.1.	Soil	135
3.11. Inte	egration and evaluation	135

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Physicochemical properties of PFOS, the values used for the calculations are indicated i hold	n 11
Table 2: Overview of the range (minimum-maximum) of PEOS concentrations and the median in	- ±±
organic and conventional food samples (D'Hollander <i>et al.</i> 2009)	์ 18
Table 3: Average concentrations of PEOS in a selection of foodstuffs, as used in the intake	_ 10
estimation (mg/kg fresh weight) (Cornelis et al. 2009: Cornelis et al. 2012)	18
Table 4: Intake of PEOS via food by the Elemish (Belgian) population (ng/kg day). The exposure v	- <u>-</u> 0 /ia
food could not be calculated for children aged $0.5 - < 3$ years due to a lack of Elemish/Belgi	an
consumption figures (Cornelis $et al. 2009)$	19
Table 5: Concentration of PEOS in food groups collected in 2009 in the Netherlands (results > 10	- <u>ד</u> חו
are shown in hold)	رر, 10
Table 6: Long-term intake via food for PEOS in the Netherlands (Noorlander <i>et al.</i> 2010:	- 13
Noorlander et al. 2011) for the P50 percentile (in $pg/kg d$). Values under the LOD were	
approached according to 2 different scenarios	20
Table 7: Selection of analysis data for PEOS in foodstuffs according to EESA (2012)	- 20 - 21
Table 9: Average chronic PEOS intake via food, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (LB) approac	_
	 วว
(LFSA, 2012)	_ 22 .h
for Polgium, obtained by EESA in 2019 (EESA, 2019c)	 วว
Table 10: Selection of analysis data for PEOS in foodstuffs according to EESA (2019c)	_ 22
Table 10. Selection of analysis data for PFOS in foodsturis according to EFSA (2016c).	_ 23
rable 11. Estimated (between LOD and LOQ) and measured (> LOQ, indicated in bold)	Trop
of al. 2012)	31611
Table 12: Concentration data for PEOS in Polgian samples measured in PEPEOOD (Herzke at al.	_ 24
2012: Houskova et al. 2012)	24
ZOIS, FILOUSKOVA Et Ul., ZOIS)	_ 24
the lower and upper bound scenario (Klanow et al. 2012)	0 26
Table 14 PEOS intake via food for the Polgian nonulation calculated on the basis of extrapolation	_ 20 2 of
Table 14 PPOS intake via lood for the beigian population calculated on the basis of extrapolation	101
Table 15: BCE (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PEOS for careals and grasses (Selection from	_ 20 n
Chisi et al. (2019)	20
Table 16: BCE (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PEOS for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi e	_ 23 t al
(2010) supplemented with Navarro <i>et al.</i> (2017))	201.
Table 17: Selected BCE (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculat	_ JU
the soil remediation value (SRV) for PEOS in this study	יייש 22
Table 18: Comparison between BCE _{scoc} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi et al.	_ 55
(2019) and the BCE _{stoc} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019)	25
Table 19: Calculated (hold) and estimated RCFs for PEOS for the different crons in the S-Risk for	- 22
hasket with indication of the equivalence rules used	36
Table 20: Concentrations of PEOS (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows	_ 50
(Vestergren et al. 2013)	28
Table 21: BTE values (mg kg ⁻¹ fw/mg d ⁻¹) for hovines and sheen for PEOS derived from available	_ 50
literature data	20
Table 22: Average BTE values (mg kg ⁻¹ fw/mg d ⁻¹) for hovines from Vestergren <i>et al.</i> (2013) van	
Asselt et al. (2013) and Kowalczyk et al. (2013)	4∩
Table 23: Average BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for hovines from Vestergren <i>et al.</i> (2013) and	0
Kowalczyk et al. (2013)	40

Table 24: (Sub)acute and (sub)chronic animal studies with PFOS (sources: CONCAWE (2016), EFSA	
(2008b))2	18
Table 25: Overview of the BMD analysis (EFSA, 2018c) 5	51
Table 26: Toxicological criteria for PFOS 5	54
Table 27: Drinking water standards of various countries/bodies6	50
Table 28: Reference values for groundwater6	51
Table 29: Proposed human health based soil remediation values for PFOS (μg/kg dry matter) with LB data from EFSA (2012)6	52
Table 30: Calculated percentile values for diffuse load of PFOS in the topsoil (μg/kg dm) (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018).	չ 54
Table 31: Proposed human health based soil remediation values for PFOS (μg/kg dry matter) with LB data from EFSA (2012).	54
Table 32: Differences in approach for calculating risk limits for PFOS in the Netherlands and soil remediation values (for tox scenario 2) in Flanders. 6	59
Table 33: Overview of ecotoxicologically based reference values (direct soil contact and	
biomagnification in brackets) derived for PFOS by RIVM (explanation in the text) in μ g/kg dm	70
Table 34: Proposal for ecotoxicological values for PFOS in Flanders (μg/kg dm); values based on direct toxicity are shown in brackets. 7	70
Table 35: The proposed SRV for soil (μ g/kg dm) for PFOS with the preferred value in green. The so	il
remediation values for landuse type II may be further adjusted to a feasible value on the basi	S
of the target values and the values for free use of soil7	73
Table 36 Foreign reference values for soil and groundwater ^a . 7	75
Table 37: Physicochemical properties of PFOA, the values used for the calculations in S-Risk are	
indicated in bold8	33
Table 38: Overview of the range (minimum-maximum) of PFOA concentrations and the median in	
organic and conventional food samples (D'Hollander <i>et al.</i> , 2009) 8	38
Table 39: Average concentrations of PFOA in a selection of foodstuffs as used in the intake estimate	te
by Cornelis <i>et al.</i> (2009) (mg/kg fresh weight) 8	39
Table 40: Intake of PFOA via food by the Flemish (Belgian) population (ng/kg.day) (Cornelis <i>et al.</i> , 2009) 2009)	39
Table 41: Concentration of PFOA in food groups collected in 2009 in the Netherlands (results > LO	D
are shown in bold) 9) 0
Table 42: Long-term intake via food for PFOA in the Netherlands (Noorlander <i>et al.</i> , 2010;	
Noorlander <i>et al.,</i> 2011) for the P50 percentile (in ng/kg.d). Values under the LOD were	
approached according to 3 different scenarios) 1
Table 43: Selection of concentration data for PFOA in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2012) 9) 1
Table 44: Average chronic PFOA intake via food for the Belgian population, lower bound (LB) and	
upper bound (UB) approach (EFSA, 2012) 9) 2
Table 45: Average chronic PFOA intake via food, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (UB) approach	า
for Belgium, obtained by EFSA in 2018 (EFSA, 2018c).) 3
Table 46: Selection of concentration data for PFOA in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2018c).) 3
Table 47: Estimated (between LOD and LOQ) and measured (> LOQ, indicated in bold)	
concentrations in mg/kg PFOA in Swedish food samples from 1999, 2005 and 2010	
(Vestergren <i>et al.</i> , 2012)) 4
Table 48: Concentration data for PFOA in Belgian samples measured in PERFOOD (Herzke et al.,	
2013; Hlouskova <i>et al.</i> , 2013).) 5
Table 49: Average PFOA intake via diet for children and adults in Belgium, calculated according to	
the lower and upper bound scenario (Klenow <i>et al.</i> , 2013).) 5

LB and UB approach of EFSA (2012) and (2018). 97 Table 51: BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PFOA for cereals and grasses (Selection from Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019)) 99 Table 52: BCF for PFOA for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019) supplemented with Navarro et al., 2017) 101 Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study 106 Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, with indication of the equivalence rules used 107 Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows (Vestergren et al., 2013) 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available literature data. 109
Table 51: BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PFOA for cereals and grasses (Selection from Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019)) 99 Table 52: BCF for PFOA for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019) supplemented with Navarro et al., 2017) 101 Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study 106 Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, with indication of the equivalence rules used 107 Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows (Vestergren et al., 2013) 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available literature data. 109
Ghisi et al. (2019)) 99 Table 52: BCF for PFOA for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi et al. (2019) supplemented with 101 Navarro et al., 2017) 101 Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for 106 Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, 107 Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available 109
Table 52: BCF for PFOA for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019) supplemented with 101 Navarro et al., 2017) 101 Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for 106 Calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study 106 Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, 107 Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available 109
Navarro et al., 2017) 101 Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study 106 Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, with indication of the equivalence rules used 107 Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows (Vestergren et al., 2013) 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available literature data. 109
Table 53: Selected BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study
calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study
Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, 107 with indication of the equivalence rules used
with indication of the equivalence rules used
Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows 108 (Vestergren et al., 2013) 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available 109 literature data. 109
(Vestergren et al., 2013) 108 Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available literature data. 109
Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available 109
literature data 109
Table 57: Average (± SD) BTF values (mg.kg ⁻¹ fw/mg.d ⁻¹) for bovines from Vestergren, 2013 and
Kowalczyk <i>et al.</i> (2013) 111
Table 58: (Sub)acute and (sub)chronic animal studies with PFOA (sources: EFSA (2018c) CONCAWE
(2016), EFSA (2008b), US-EPA (2016d))) 117
Table 59: Overview of the BMD analysis of PFOA (EFSA, 2018c) 120
Table 60: Toxicological criteria for PFOA 124
Table 61: Drinking water standards of various countries/bodies 128
Table 62: Reference values for groundwater 129
Table 63: Proposed human toxicological soil remediation values for PFOA (µg/kg dry matter) when
lower bound intake figures from EFSA (2012) are used. The calculations were made for 3 sets
of toxicological reference values, see also the substance sheets at the end of this report and
chapter 3.7 Toxicology 129
Table 64: Calculated percentile values for diffuse load of PFOA in the topsoil (Pancras & van
Bentum, 2018) 132
Table 65: Overview of ecotoxicologically based reference values (direct soil contact and
biomagnification in brackets) derived for PFOA in the Netherlands (RIVM, 2019) (μ g/kg dm).
134
Table 66: Proposal for ecotoxicological values for PFOA in Flanders (µg/kg dm); values based on
direct toxicity are shown in brackets134
Table 67: The proposed SRV for soil (μ g/kg dm) for PFOA with the preferred value in green. The soil
remediation values for landuse type I (nature) and landuse type II (agriculture) may be further
adjusted to a feasible value on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.
136
Table 68 Foreign soil remediation values for soil and groundwater ^a . 138

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Intake PFOS for Belgium in μg/kg.day for different ages. Comparison of data published BF-Risk, EFSA (upper bound and lower bound) and PERFOOD (upper bound and lower boun	l in nd) 27
Figure 2: BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for crop plants and grasses as a function of t	the
concentration of PFOS in soil (mg/kg dm) (Selection from Gnisi <i>et al.</i> (2019))	_ 30
Figure 3: BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) in vegetables (circled blue) and cereal crops	
(circled red) as a function of the concentration of PFOS in the soil (mg/kg dm)	_ 32
Figure 4: BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) as a function of concentration (mg/kg dm) in	ו י
the soil and the % OC (based on data from Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013), 2014). The trend lines are c	only
indicative and do not describe a association between the variables in question.	33
Figure 5: BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019) converted on a matter basis as a function of the concentration of PFOS in soil.	1 dry 34
Figure 6: Comparison between BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019) and the BCF _{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019)	25
Converted on a dry matter basis.	_ 33
days (feeding with contaminated feed stops after 29 days), based on data from Kowalczyk <i>al.</i> (2013).	et 39
Figure 8: Comparison of the SRV (μ g/kg dm) calculated on the basis of three sets of toxicity	
reference values dmusing LB intake and concentrations in food (EFSA 2012) for the differe landuse types	nt 66
Figure 9: Comparison of the SRV on the basis of 3 tox scenarios with respect to the median, 95 th	h
percentile and 25 th percentile value of the diffuse loading of PFOS in topsoils in the	
Netherlands (Pancras, 2018). dm	66
Figure 10: Contribution of exposure pathways to overall risk for PFOS in tox scenario 1 (US-EPA (2016c)) and with background dietary exposure based on the LB approach of EFSA (2012) (blue: oral, green: dermal, orange: inhalation). The contribution has been calculated for a s concentration equal to proposed soil remediation values and - with the exception of landu type Vb - for children (1-6 years).	soil Ise 67
Figure 11: Intake PFOA for Belgium in μg/kg.day for different ages. Comparison of data publishe BF-Risk, EFSA (upper bound and lower bound) and PERFOOD (upper bound and lower boun	ed in nd) จด
Figure 12: BCE _{see} , (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for cereals and grasses as a function of the	_ 90
concentration of PEOA in soil (mg/kg dm) (Selection from Ghisi $et al. (2019)$)	100
Figure 13: BCE _{sco} , (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) in vegetables (circled blue) and cereal cror	. 100 NS
(circled red) as a function of the concentration of PEOA in the soil	,3 102
Figure 14: BCE (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) as a function of the concentration of PEOA	. 102
(mg/kg dm) in the soil and the % OC (based on data from Blaine et al. (2012) 2014	102
Figure 15: BCE (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Liizen et gl. (2018) converted on a dr	. 103
matter basis as a function of PFOA concentrations in soil	y _104
Figure 16: Comparison between BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi <i>et a</i>	1.
(2019) and the BCF _{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018) converte	ed
on a dry matter basis. For peas and spinach only one value was derived in this study. A value	ue
tor pumpkin is only available at Lijzen et al. (2018)	. 105
Figure 17: BTF in milk, muscle, liver and kidney in dairy cattle after 29 and 50 days (feeding with	۱
contaminated feed stops after 29 days), based on data from Kowalczyk <i>et al.</i> (2013)	109
Figure 18: Comparison of the SRV (μ g/kg dm) calculated on the basis of three sets of toxicity	
reference values under scenario 2 (LB scenario) for the different landuse types	131

Figure 19: Contribution of exposure pathways to overall risk for PFOA in tox scenario 1 (US-EPA
(2016c)) and with background dietary exposure based on the LB approach of EFSA (2012)
(blue: oral, green: dermal, orange: inhalation). The contribution has been calculated for a soil
concentration equal to proposed soil remediation values and - with the exception of landuse
type Vb - for children (1-6 years) 131
Figure 20: Comparison of the SRV on the basis of 3 tox scenarios with respect to the median, 90 th
percentile and 95 th percentile value of the diffuse loading of PFOA in topsoils in the
Netherlands (Pancras, 2018) 133

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BCF	Bioconcentration factor
SRV	Soil remediation value
CL	Clearance
CLP	Classification, Labeling and Packaging – Regulation (EC) Nr. 1272/2008 on
	classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures
CONTAM	Contaminants in the food chain
d	Dav
Da	, Diffusion for organic substance in air
DNEL	Derived no effect level
Dpe	Diffusion value (permeation) through polyethylene drinking water pipe
	Diffusion value (permeation) through PVC drinking water pipe
dm	Dry matter
Dw	Diffusion for organic substance in water
FFSA	European Food Safety Authority
SR	Serious Risk for the soil ecosystem
	Furonean Union
GVDC	Global Atmospheric Passive Sampling
	Hazardous concentration for 50% of the soil organisms
	Health Based Guidance Value
	Human Equivalent Doso
	Human Health Screening Value
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
Kd	Soll/water partition coefficient
K _{oa}	Octanol-air partition coefficient
K _{oc}	Organic carbon-water partition coefficient
Kow	Octanol-water partition coefficient
LB	Lower bound
LC50	Lethal concentration for 50% of organisms
LD50	Lethal dose for 50% of organisms
bw	bodyweight
LOAEL	Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level
LOD	Limit of Detection
loq	Limit of Quantification
MRL	Minimal Risk Level
MTR	Maximum Tolerable Risk
NECC	Nutrient and Energy Cycling Check value
N(L)OEC	No (Lowest)-Effect-Concentration
NOAEL	Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level
NTP	National Toxicology Program
OC	Organic carbon
PBPK	Physiologically based pharmacokinetic
PFAS	Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances
PFCA	Perfluorinated carboxylic acids
PFOA	Perfluorooctanoic acid
PFOS	Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid
PFSA	perfluoro-alkyl sulfonic acids
POPs	Persistent Organic Pollutants
RfD	Reference dose

- SQG_E Environmental Soil Quality Guideline
- T3 Triiodothyronine
- TCA Tolerable concentration in air
- TDI Tolerable Daily Intake
- TSH Thyroid Stimulating Hormone
- TWI Tolerable Weekly Intake
- UB Upper bound
- UDS Unscheduled DNA-synthesis
- UKCOT United Kingdom Committee on Toxicity of Chemicals in Food, Consumer Products and the Environment
- US-EPA United States of America Environmental Protection Agency
- USA United States of America

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

The present report describes the derivation of proposals for soil remediation values (SRV) for:

- Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS),
- Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)

The present report discusses in detail the elements of behaviour in soil and physicochemical properties, occurrence in the environment, transfer to plants and animals, toxicology and legal limits. The information is summarised in substance sheets at the end of this report, which serve as a basis for entering the data into the S-Risk model. Via the S-Risk model (www.s-risk.be), proposals for soil remediation values are calculated for the solid phase of the soil. The collected information follows the guidelines set out in Cornelis and Touchant (2016).

1.2. APPROACH

1.2.1. PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

The following sources were consulted: EFSA (2008b), CONCAWE (2016), FSANZ (2017), Moermond *et al.* (2010), Lijzen *et al.* (2018), Pancras (2018), Wintersen (2019) and publications from scientific journals.

1.2.2. OCCURRENCE IN THE ENVIRONMENT

The discussion on the occurrence of PFOS and PFOA in the environment is limited to the environmental compartments and data needed to determine background concentrations and background exposure. This concerns air, drinking water and food.

Background concentrations in indoor air are equal to background concentrations in outdoor air. Possible higher concentrations in indoor air due to indoor sources and the resulting exposure are not included in the background exposure.

For background exposure via food, information for PFOS and PFOA for Belgium is available in Cornelis *et al.* (2009), EFSA (2012), EFSA (2018c) and Klenow *et al.* (2013).

Concentrations in drinking water are available in various studies (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009). If drinking water is included in the selected intake study, the background concentration in tap water will be set to zero for deriving the soil remediation value, to avoid double counting.

1.2.3. TOXICOLOGY

The overview of toxicology is primarily based on data from reviews and discussion papers. The chapter on Toxicology provides a description of toxicokinetics and a brief description of the main toxicological effects. The toxicological reference values derived by known bodies are thoroughly evaluated and finally, on the basis of this evaluation, a reference value for deriving the soil remediation value is selected.

1.2.4. CALCULATIONS

The calculations of the proposals for the SRV for the solid phase (soil) have been made with S-Risk version 1.3. Application I was used to calculate the proposals, application II to interpret the results to exposure routes and exposure pathways.

The model concept for the calculation of human health based soil remediation values assumes a homogeneous soil profile, both with regard to soil properties as with regard to contamination. The default land use types with their corresponding scenarios are:

- agricultural land use (type II)
- residential land use (type III)
- recreational land use (day recreation type IVa and holiday resort type IVb)
- industrial land use (light industry type Va and heavy industry type Vb).

Calculations are made until the soil concentration corresponds to an exposure which results in a risk index equal to 1 for the non-carcinogenic endpoints and/or to an additional lifetime cancer risk equal to 1/10⁵ for the carcinogenic endpoints. The use of pseudo-threshold simulations does not apply to PFOS and PFOA. Calculations are also carried out until the soil concentration corresponds to a concentration in foodstuffs (Type II only), outdoor air, indoor air and drinking water, equal to the limit for these compartments. A legal limit, if available, is always used for foodstuffs. For air and drinking water, the starting point is that a legal limit is used if it exists for Flanders/Belgium. If there is no legal limit, a toxicological limit is used.

The calculation of the SRV proposals for groundwater has been made as described in Cornelis and Touchant (2016). If there is a legal value for drinking water quality, this was included in the proposal for a soil remediation value.

1.2.5. ECOTOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES

For the evaluation of ecotoxicological effects, no new primary sources and/or databases were consulted to derive possible new ecotoxicological values. However, it was examined whether substantiated ecotoxicological values have recently been derived by other bodies.

1.2.6. INTEGRATION AND EVALUATION OF THE PROPOSALS FOR VALUES

In deriving a soil remediation value, a number of elements are considered, as described in Cornelis and Touchant (2016). This includes a comparison between human health based and ecotoxicological underpinned soil remediation values, an evaluation of the analytical feasibility, a comparison with target values (are the values analytically distinguishable and higher than the target values), a calculation of guideline values and their feasibility, and finally the impact on current policy.

1.3. READER'S GUIDE

This report discusses the proposals for soil remediation values for PFOS (CHAPTER 2) and PFOA (CHAPTER 3). Each substance has a separate chapter in which the information needed to derive soil remediation values is collected and discussed (paragraph 2.1 to 2.9 for PFOS and paragraph 3.1 to 3.9 for PFOA). The proposals for SRV are derived in paragraphs 2.10 and 3.10 respectively and compared with foreign values in 2.12 and 3.12.

A section on the integration of the different values (human health based proposal, ecotoxicological proposal, target values, guideline values, impact in relation to the current framework) is also provided in paragraphs 2.11 and 3.11. The annexes contain a substance sheet for each substance, see substance sheet <u>PFOS</u> and substance sheet <u>PFOA</u>, which contains the import data into S-Risk for deriving the proposed SRV.

CHAPTER 2. PFOS

2.1. IDENTIFICATION

PFOS	
name English	Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid
name Dutch	Perfluoroctaansulfonzuur
CAS number:	1763-23-1 (potassium salt: 2795-39-3)
EINECS number:	217-179-8
EC index number:	607-624-00-8
formula:	$C_8HF_{17}O_3S$
molecular weight:	500,126 g/mole
conversion:	1 ppm = 20.79 mg/m³; 1 mg/m³ = 0,05 ppm
	(25°C, 1 atm) (ATSDR draft (2018))

2.2. SOURCES OF PFOS

PFOS does not occur naturally in the environment. Long-chain perfluorinated substances (such as PFOS) are (or have been) used as surfactants in various applications. Historical applications of PFOS include inks, varnishes, waxes, extinguishing foams, coatings, lubricants, water and oil repellents for leather, paper and textiles, detergents and carpet cleaners, shampoos and hand creams, hydraulic fluids for aircraft, insecticides, and surface treatment and cleaning of metals. Precursors (e.g. fluorinated telomeres) can be a source of PFOS, as well as side-chain fluorinated polymers (CONCAWE, 2016).

2.3. BEHAVIOUR IN SOIL AND PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

2.3.1. FATE OF PFOS IN SOIL

The information on behaviour in soil is primarily derived from CONCAWE (2016). PFOS belongs to the group of perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSA) within the large group of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS); from the viewpoint of behaviour and distribution, PFSA form a homogeneous group. The properties of the group therefore also apply to PFOS, although for certain properties there may be quantitative trends determined by chain length.

\rightarrow Chemical form

Under typical environmental conditions, most PFAS and their salts occur as solids. The relevant form of PFSA for the environment (soil, groundwater and surface water with a normal pH of 5-9) is the

anion. The formation of anions is accompanied by a decrease in adsorption to soil and sediment as they are usually net negatively charged. The speed of transport through soil or sediment decreases with a longer perfluorinated C chain and with an increasing content of organic carbon (OC) in the soil. PFSAs bind more strongly than perfluorinated carboxylic acids (PFCA, e.g. PFOA) with the same number of C atoms. PFAS (with the exception of telomere alcohols which have a hydroxyl function) are surfactants with a hydrophobic perfluorinated C chain and a hydrophilic functional group (e.g. sulphate or carboxyl). Unlike ordinary surfactants, the hydrophobic perfluorinated C chain of PFAS also has hydrophilic properties, making PFAS coatings resistant not only to water but also to oil and grease. The surface activity of PFAS is stronger than that of similar, ordinary surfactants. On the one hand, PFAS can settle at the interface of different phases, for example groundwater (hydrophilic) and soil air (hydrophobic), and on the other hand micelles can form in solution.

\rightarrow Distribution

PFSA are widely distributed in the environment due to their high solubility in water, low to moderate sorption to soil and sediment, and resistance to biological and chemical degradation. PFAS have a low vapour pressure, meaning that transport in the vapour phase only plays a minimal role. The Henry coefficients of PFAS are highly varied. The Henry coefficient of PFOS is negligible and shows that PFOS will distribute little from water to the air. The degree of transport of PFAS via water is influenced by the degree of adsorption to sediment or soil during that transport; the higher the adsorption, the more the transport of PFAS via the aqueous phase is retarded. There are two sorption mechanisms that control the degree of adsorption:

- hydrophobic sorption of solid organic particles, and
- sorption on the surface of charged mineral surfaces.

The parameters that measure the sorption of solid organic C particles are the organic carbon partition coefficient (K_{oc}) and the solid/liquid partition coefficient (Kd). The octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) is not a suitable parameter for adsorption because it is difficult to measure due to the cationic and anionic charge of PFAS (PFAS do not have normal lipophilic behaviour). These PFSA that are strong acids occur almost exclusively as anions; they can adsorb to the charged mineral surfaces present in the soil or sediment, thus influencing the transport of PFAS through water. To demonstrate this possible mechanism, several experiments have been described in the literature, but the degree of adsorption or the impact on transport has not yet been quantified.

\rightarrow Transformation

The C-F covalent bond is one of the strongest bonds in organic chemistry. PFAS therefore have a high thermal, chemical, photolytic and biological stability. There is no indication that PFSA would undergo biotransformation or photolysis under normal environmental conditions. The half-life for hydrolysis is \geq 41 years, the half-life for photolysis > 3.7 years (OECD, 2002). Under aerobic conditions with activated sludge, no removal or biotransformation has been measured for PFOS. Some removal of PFOS has been measured under anaerobic conditions, but without formation of metabolites or increase in fluoride. There are no tests demonstrating significant or complete degradation of PFOS under environmental conditions. Due to the strong C-F bond, PFOS is persistent in the environment. Under natural conditions, precursors (alcohol telomeres) can convert to PFSA.

2.3.2. PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

PFOS is an organic solid with a density of 0.52-0.57 g/cm³. PFOS is generally used as salt (K, Na, ammonium) or incorporated in polymers (EFSA, 2008b). The potassium salt of PFOS is also a solid. K-PFOS has a melting point of 54°C and is lighter than water (density \approx 0.6).

The physicochemical properties of PFOS and PFOS salts are listed in Table 1 and are discussed below.

PFOS is an acid and only occurs naturally in ionised form (Moermond *et al.*, 2010). For this reason, in the context of this report, a number of physicochemical properties of PFOS salts are relevant for PFOS. Some parameters have been estimated using the EpiSuite modelling platform of the US EPA for comparison with measured values (if available); it should be noted that the estimated values may not accurately reflect actual properties as there are no perfluor structures in the EpiSuite training set (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018).

\rightarrow Water solubility (S)

The solubility in pure water is approximately 550 mg/l at 24-25°C for PFOS (OECD, 2002) and 519 mg/l at 20°C (Beach *et al.*, 2006) and 570 mg/l at 24-25°C (OECD, 2002; Deng *et al.*, 2012) for K-PFOS. PFOS dissociates at neutral pH in ions; the complex formation of PFOS anions in non-pure water causes its solubility to decrease significantly with the salinity; e.g. K-PFOS has a solubility of 370 mg/l in fresh water, 25 mg/l in filtered seawater and 12.4 mg/l (22-23°C) in unfiltered seawater (OECD, 2002). For the calculations of the soil remediation values, a solubility of 370 mg/l is assumed, as this is measured in fresh water, which is more realistic than solubility in pure water within the normative framework. The value of 370 mg/l is given in OECD (2002) with reference to a 3M report from 1999, without mention of temperature. The OECD test protocol for solubility (OECD test guideline 105) states that the test should preferably be carried out at 20 \pm 0.5°C. For deriving soil remediation values, we assume that 3M has followed the test protocol, and 20°C is taken. Wintersen *et al.* (2019) states 276 mg/l, this is 370 mg/l converted to 10°C for use in CSOIL.

ightarrow Acid dissociation constant (pKa)

PFOS is a strong acid that dissociates in the environment. The pKa is -3.27 (EFSA, 2008b; Moermond *et al.*, 2010), which means that the substance occurs in the environment (pH 6-8) almost exclusively as the anion. The surfactant character of PFOS can inhibit dissociation in water (ATSDR draft, 2018). A pKa of -3.27 is assumed for the calculations of the soil remediation values.

\rightarrow Vapour pressure (Vp)

PFOS has a vapour pressure of 6.7 Pa (Pancras *et al.*, 2018); this is sufficiently high to allow some of the PFOS to evaporate (ITRC, 2018). According to Pancras *et al.* (2018) the quantity of PFOS that will volatilise from water to the gaseous phase is practically negligible and volatilisation from water is therefore not considered to be a relevant transport mechanism. (Pancras *et al.*, 2018). The anion of PFOS has a negligible vapour pressure (ITRC, 2018). The vapour pressure of the K-salt is indeed much lower (3.31.10⁻⁴ Pa at 20°C; OECD (2002)) than that of PFOS. PFOS occurs in the environment almost exclusively as an anion, whereby volatilisation of PFOS is minimal.

For the calculations of the soil remediation values, the vapour pressure of the anion, i.e. 3.31.10⁻⁴ Pa at 20°C is assumed because PFOS occurs in the environment almost exclusively as the anion.

\rightarrow Henry coefficient (H)

The Henry coefficient is the ratio between vapour pressure and solubility. The Henry coefficient of PFOS is very low and varies between $<2.10^{-6}$ and $3.09.10^{-4}$ Pa m³/mol (Pancras *et al.*, 2018). The value $3.09.10^{-4}$ Pa m³/mol is calculated for the K-salt in pure water and therefore actually for the anion. The Henry coefficient for K-salt in fresh water is $4.40.10^{-2}$ Pa m³/mol (OECD, 2002). The value calculated for PFOS with HenryWin (EpiSuite) is in-between and amounts to $1.11.10^{-3}$ Pa m³/mol. Since PFOS dissociates in water and primarily occurs as the anion, the Henry coefficient of the K-salt is relevant for PFOS. For the calculations of the soil remediation values, the Henry coefficient is therefore calculated by S-Risk, based on the solubility (in fresh water) and the vapour pressure of the anion.

\rightarrow Octanol water partition coefficient (log K_{ow})

The log K_{ow} of surfactants cannot be measured according to the OECD standard test guideline because the substance accumulates in a mixture of octanol and water at the interface instead of in the fluids (Pancras *et al.*, 2018). The hydrophilic side is in the water while the hydrophobic side faces the octanol. The log K_{ow} can be estimated from the solubility in octanol and water, the log K_{ow} of PFOS thus calculated is -1.08 (OECD (2002) in Beach *et al.* (2006)). The log K_{ow} calculated with the COSMOtherm model² is several orders of magnitude higher and amounts to 6.43 (Wang *et al.*, 2011). The log K_{ow} , estimated with EpiSuite (K_{ow} Win), is 4.49 and is calculated from the molecular weight, a water solubility of 0.1039 mg/l at 25°C and a correction factor.

For organic substances the log K_{ow} can be used to estimate the bioconcentration. In the case of PFOS, bioconcentration cannot be estimated using conventional algorithms because PFOS does not bioaccumulate in fats but binds to certain proteins (Jones *et al.* (2003) in Beach *et al.* (2006)). The use of water solubility or calculated log K_{ow} values may underestimate the accumulation of PFOS in organisms (Beach et al., 2006). The fact that the log K_{ow} is uncertain also means that it is better to determine the uptake in crops on the basis of empirical data (Lijzen et al., 2018).

In S-Risk the log K_{ow} is used to calculate Kp, K_{oc} , and transfer factors, unless an experimental value is entered. Experimental values are available for these three parameters. S-Risk will therefore not have to deal with log K_{ow} . S-Risk does however require the input of a value for log K_{ow} . The calculated value 4.49 of EpiSuite is entered in S-Risk, because the algorithm of this model is transparent while the algorithm of the commercial COSMOtherm is not freely available. S-Risk does not use this log K_{ow} anywhere in its calculations for PFOS.

\rightarrow Organic carbon-water partition coefficient (log K_{oc})

The K_{oc} is a measure for soil adsorption. For organic substances the log K_{oc} can be calculated from the log K_{ow} . However, for surfactants the log K_{ow} is not a good indicator for adsorption to the soil because the log K_{ow} cannot be measured (accurately). The use of water solubility or calculated log K_{ow} values may underestimate the accumulation of PFOS in the soil (Beach *et al.*, 2006).

² <u>http://www.cosmologic.de/products/cosmotherm.html</u>

PFOS slightly adsorbs to the soil and is moderately mobile to immobile, but due to its sufficient solubility in water, PFOS can still distribute fairly easily in the environment. The adsorption of PFOS to organic matter is higher than that of PFOA (Pancras *et al.*, 2018). The experimental log K_{oc} values for soil depend on the soil type and vary from 2.4 l/kg for kaolinite to 2.6 for clay loam, 2.8 for clay and 3.1 for sandy loam (Table 1). The log K_{oc}, determined by adsorption measured in six soils with different OC content, was 2.85 (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015). The adsorption of PFOS was measured in sediment at several locations in the Netherlands (Kwadijk *et al.*, 2010). The average log K_{oc} for 19 samples was quite high (3.16±0.28) compared to other published results. The log K_{oc}, calculated with concentrations in soil and water, is 3.7 (Zareitalabad *et al.*, 2013). The log K_{oc} values for freshwater sediment range from 2.4 to 3.8; the K_{oc} for saltwater sediment is higher (4.7).

When measuring the adsorption (log K_{oc}) in three different sediments (Japan), by Ahrens *et al.* (2011), the researchers found that the OC content had a significant influence on the distribution; for the sediment with the lowest OC content, the density of the sediment was the most important factor influencing the distribution. The log Kd also depends on the type of soil (

Table 1). 3M has measured values from 0.99 I/kg for clay loam to 1.26 for clay and 1.55 for sandy loam; the Freundlich coefficients are 14.0, 25.1 and 28.2 respectively (3M-Company, 2000). Log Kd values for the anion are in the same order of magnitude (0.87-1.55). The log Kd values for PFOS, which were measured by Johnson *et al.* (2007) are higher (2.81-8.90) than those of 3M (

Table 1). Johnson *et al.* (2007) calculated the adsorption for four different soils. The adsorption increased for the various materials in the following order (sorption normalised for surface): synthetic goethite (iron oxide mineral) < kaolinite (clay) < high iron sand < standard sand. This upward trend in adsorption was accompanied by a downward trend in surface reactivity (Zareitalabad *et al.*, 2013). Organic carbon appears to play an important role in adsorption while electrostatic attraction may play a role in low-carbon soils (Johnson *et al.*, 2007). The adsorption behaviour of PFOS was measured in six soils with different characteristics, mainly in terms of organic carbon content (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015). The log Kd rose from 1.28 to 2.47 (Kd 19 to 295) l/kg; the corresponding Freundlich coefficients rose from 17 to 349 l/kg. The adsorption was positively correlated with the organic carbon content. Li *et al.* (2018) who carefully analysed this correlation, claim that the correlation was strongly influenced by one sediment with a high OC content; they removed this value, resulting in a weaker correlation. The desorption measured by Milinovic (2015) was less than 13%. According to the authors, the sorption behaviour is primarily determined by the hydrophobia (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015).

The average log Kd of 19 sediments from different locations in the Netherlands is 2.353±0.35 (Kwadijk *et al.*, 2010). Other measured log Kd values for PFOS in river and lake sediment are 0.87 and 7.52 respectively. Log Kd values for adsorption of the anion in sediment range from 0.30 to 1.04.

On behalf of OVAM, Kd values were calculated for soils contaminated with PFAS. To this end, OVAM selected two industrial sites, each with an old and a new fire drill site, the top layer of which was sampled by OVAM (2018). Four samples were subjected to shaking tests and the Kd was calculated as the ratio between total concentration and eluate concentration. It was assumed that the concentrations in solution after the shake test were in balance with the solid phase. The calculated Kd values were respectively 14.8 and 7.0 l/kg for site 1 and 27.1 and 18.1 l/kg for site 2. The median Kd for both sites was 16.4 l/kg. These measurements should be regarded as indicative and cannot be generalised to a general value for Flanders.

In general, anions would not attach more weight to organic carbon than their neutral counterpart (HSDB)⁹.

For the calculations of the soil remediation values the log K_{oc} of 2.57 from Higgins and Luthy (2006) is used. This value is one of the lower experimental K_{oc} values in

Table 1 (median 2.85), and thus worst-case (the lower the K_{oc} , the more mobile the substance). EFSA (2008b) and Lijzen *et al.* (2011) also used the log K_{oc} value of Higgins and Luthy (2006) in their evaluations of PFOS.

The Kd is calculated by S-Risk from the K_{oc} with the formula Kd = OC(organic C content) x K_{oc}.

Note: The Dutch expertise centre for PFAS is of the opinion that the relationship between organic carbon and adsorption is less clear for PFAS than for other organic substances, due to the surfactant behaviour of PFAS. It is therefore not straightforward to correct, for PFAS, the intervention value for the soil organic matter content, as is common practice in the soil remediation values system for organic contaminants (Alphenaar *et al.*, 2018). Using published data, Li et al (2018) evaluated the role of organic carbon and other properties in the adsorption of PFAS in soil and sediment. The authors found weak correlations between Kd and only OC, for PFOS the correlation coefficient (R^2) was = 0.05 for 178 samples. For pH alone, the correlation with Kd was also weak, with a R^2 of 0.06 for PFOS over a pH interval of 2.5 to 8.5 (n = 27). Using multiple regression models, it was shown that at least the OC, pH and clay content have a significant effect on the sorption. For PFOS, the R^2 for these three parameters together rose to 0.77.

\rightarrow Octanol-air partition coefficient (K_{oa})

The log K_{oa} calculated with the COSMOtherm model is 8.07 g/g (Wang *et al.*, 2011); the log K_{oa} calculated with K_{oa} Win (EpiSuite) is almost 50% lower (4.84 g/g). The calculation formula of EpiSuite uses log K_{ow} . S-Risk also calculates log K_{oa} based on log K_{ow} . However, for the reasons discussed above, using log K_{ow} is avoided as much as possible for the soil remediation values derivation of PFOS, to reduce the uncertainty within the modelling of the soil remediation value. COSMOtherm is a commercial model and the underlying formula for calculating the K_{oa} is not freely available. In S-Risk, K_{oa} is used in the calculation of transfer to plants; as experimental data are available for this purpose, the import of a K_{oa} is not necessary. Entering a K_{oa} value is optional in S-Risk. For the calculations of the soil remediation values it is therefore not necessary to select a log K_{oa} .

\rightarrow Permeation through drinking water pipes (Dpe, Dpvc)

No values were found for permeation (diffusion) of PFOS through polyethylene (Dpe) or PVC (Dpvc) drinking water pipes. In the Netherlands, for the Dpe of PFOA, the default value of 1.10^{-7} m²/d is calculated in the CSOIL model, and this is accounted for as follows: *For the common contaminants, Dpe is in the range* $0.10-35.10^{-7}$ m²/day (Vonk, 1985). In the absence of data, it is recommended to use the permeation coefficient of a substance with a similar structure (van den Berg, 1997). Failing this, the calculation is made with a default value of 1.10^{-7} m²d, which is also used in other compounds (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018). This is the size of the diffusion coefficient for small compounds; the diffusion coefficient decreases with the size of the molecule (Vonk, 1985). Like PFOA, PFOS is a large and long molecule, so the value 1.10^{-7} m²/d will probably be sufficiently conservative for PFOS as well.

By default, the value of Dpvc = Dpe/1000, according to the technical guidance document of S-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2017).

For the calculations of the soil remediation values, it is assumed that the Dpe for PFOS is equal to that of PFOA. The value of 1.10^{-7} m²/d is used; this is the standard value used by Lijzen *et al.* (2018) for calculations for PFOA in CSOIL. For Dpvc, the value 1.10^{-10} m²/d (this is Dpe/1000) is assumed. In its most recent report on risk limits for PFOA, RIVM states a Dpe of 1.10^{-7} m²/d in Table 3.1 (referring to previous RIVM reports) and of $3.15.10^{-10}$ m²/d in Annex 3 (input data for CSOIL); no reference or

calculation method is given for the latter value (Wintersen, 2019). As such, we prefer to follow the Dpe with the justification of Lijzen (2018).

ightarrow Diffusion for organic substance in air (Da) and water (Dw)

These values are used to calculate the diffusion when evaporation to outdoor and indoor air occurs. Entry in S-Risk is optional. No values were found for diffusion of PFOS in air or water. Therefore, for the calculations of the soil remediation values, both values are calculated in S-Risk, starting from the molecular weight, as specified in the technical guidance document (Cornelis *et al.*, 2017).

Parameter	Unit	Value	Original reference	Reference
Chemical structure				PubChem ³
Туре		Organic		
Physical state		solid (powder) (K-salt)		EFSA (2008b)
Solubility in water	mg/l	PFOS 550 mg/l (24-25°C) K-PFOS: 519 mg/l (20 ± 0.5°C) in pure water; 370 mg/l in fresh water	OECD (2002)	EFSA (2008b); Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2011)
		570 mg/l		Deng et al. (2012)
		520 – 570 mg/l (20 – 25°C)		Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		12.4 mg/l in sea water (K-salt)	3M-Company (2001)	OECD (2002); Beach <i>et al.</i> (2006)
Melting point		54°C (K-salt)	OECD (2002)	EFSA (2008b)

Table 1: Physicochemical properties of PFOS, the values used for the calculations are indicated in bold.

³ <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>

CHAPTER 2 PFOS

Density		0.52-0.57		CONCAWE (2016)
		~0.6 (K-salt)		FSANZ (2016)
Vapour pressure	Ра	3.31.10 ⁻⁴ (K-salt) (20°C)	OECD (2002)	EFSA (2008b);
				Moermond <i>et al.</i>
				(2010)
		6.7 Pa		Pancras et al.
Henry coefficient ⁴ (Henry	Pa m³/mol	<2.10 ⁻⁶ - 3.10 ⁻⁴		Pancras et al.
constant)	- , -			(2018)
		3.09.10 ⁻⁴ Pa m ³ /mol (3,05.10 ⁻⁹ atm.m ³ /mol)	OECD (2002)	EFSA (2008b)
		in pure water (K-salt), calculated value		
		4.40.10 ⁻² Pa m ³ /mol in fresh water (K-salt),		OECD (2002)
		calculated value		
		1.11.10 ⁻³		EpiSuite⁵ Henrywin
		calculated value		
Log K _{ow} ⁶	g/g	Not measurable		EFSA (2008b)
		-1.08 (calculated from solubility in octanol	OECD (2002)	Beach <i>et al.</i> (2006)
		and water)		
		6.43 (estimated value)	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Pancras et al.
				(2018)
		4.49 (estimated value)		EpiSuite K _{ow} Win
Log K _{oc}	dm³/kg	2.6 (clay loam),	3M-Company (2000)	Johnson <i>et al.</i>
		2.8 (clay and river sediment)		(2007); Wang et al.
		3.1 (sandy loam)		(2011); Pancras <i>et</i>
				<i>al.</i> (2018);
				Zareitalabad et al.
				(2013)

⁴ Calculated in S-Risk

⁵ <u>https://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface</u>

⁶ Entered in S-Risk but not used in further calculations

		2.4 (kaolinite),	Johnson <i>et al.</i> (2007)	Zareitalabad <i>et al.</i>
		2.4-2.6 (lake sediment)		(2013)
		3.7 (calculated on the basis of measured	Zareitalabad <i>et al.</i> (2013)	
		concentrations in soil and water)		
		3.0 (river sediment, sandy, f_{oc} 0.03%)	Ahrens <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Zareitalabad <i>et al.</i>
		3.8 (river sediment, muddy, f _{oc} 1.6%)		(2013)
		4.7 (marine sediment, muddy, f_{oc} 1.1%)		
		(normalised for OC content)		
		2.57 ± 0.13 (anion) (sediment) (log normal	Higgins and Luthy (2006)	EFSA (2008b); Lijzen
		average log K _{oc}) (n=4)		et al. (2011)
		2.68 ± 0.09 (anion) (sediment) (regression	Higgins and Luthy (2006)	
		log K _{oc}) (n=4)		
		2.85 (K _{oc} 710) (OC 0.2-39%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	
		3.16 (field data, average of 19 sediment	Kwadijk <i>et al.</i> (2010)	
		samples)		
Log K _d ⁴	l/kg	0.87-1.55 (Kd 7.41-35.5)	Beach <i>et al.</i> (2006)	EFSA (2008b)
		(anion)		
		2.81 (standard sand Ottawa),	Johnson <i>et al.</i> (2007)	Zareitalabad et al.
		5.31 (kaolinite),		(2013)
		7.88 (synthetic goethite),		
		8.90 (sand with high iron content)		
		7.52 (lake sediment)		
		1.26 (Kd 18.3) (clay);	3M-Company (2000)	Zareitalabad <i>et al.</i>
		0.99 (Kd 9.72) (clay loam);		(2013)
		1.55 (Kd 35.3) (sandy loam);		
		0.87 (Kd 7.42) (river sediment)		
		Average values		
		-1 – 1.99 (Kd 0.1 – 97) (pH 7)		Pancras <i>et al.</i>
				(2018)
		0.30 – 1.04 (sediment)	de Voogt <i>et al.</i> (2006)	EFSA (2008b)
		(anion)		
		1.28 (Kd 19) (OC 0.2%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	

		1.51 (Kd 32) (OC 1.6%)		
		1.58 (Kd 38) (OC 3.9%)		
		1.88 (Kd 76) (OC 7.7%)		
		2.04 (Kd 110) (OC 9.4%)		
		2.47 (Kd 295) (OC 39%)		
		2.35 (1.70-3.04) (field data, sediment,	Kwadijk <i>et al.</i> (2010)	
		n=19)		
		1.21 (Kd 16.4) (median for 2 fire drill sites	This study	
		contaminated with PFAS)	Indicative value	
K _{ads} F (Freundlich coefficient)	l/kg ⁷	25.1 (clay); 14.0 (clay loam); 28.2 (sandy	3M-Company (2000)	Beach <i>et al.</i> (2006)
		loam); 8.70 (river sediment)		
		17 (OC 0.2%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	
		41 (OC 1.6%)		
		61 (OC 3.9%)		
		86 (OC 7.7%)		
		157 (OC 9.4%)		
		389 (OC 39%)		
Log K _{oa} ⁸	g/g	4.837 (calculated)		EpiSuite ⁵ K _{oa} Win
				v1.10
		8.07 (calculated)	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2011)	
Dissociative		Yes, PFOS is a strong acid and dissociates at		Beach <i>et al.</i> (2006)
		neutral pH.		
Acid constant (pKa)		<1.0 (anion PFOSA)	Cheng <i>et al.</i> (2009)	HSDB ⁹
		-3.27 (calculated value)	Brooke <i>et al.</i> (2004)	EFSA (2008b);
				Moermond et al.
				(2010)
		0.14 (estimated value)		ATSDR draft (2018)

 ⁷ This unit assumes that n=1; the exact unit is μg^{1-1/n}(l)^{1/n}kg⁻¹
 ⁸ Log Koa is optional in S-Risk, which uses Koa in the calculation of transfer to plants; as experimental data are available for this purpose, a Koa value is not necessary.
 ⁹ <u>https://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/search2/r?dbs+hsdb:@term+@rn+@rel+1763-23-1</u>

		-6.0 to -2.6		Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		-3.41 (calculated value)	Wang et al. (2011)	
Dpe	m²/d	No substance-specific data		
		1.10 ⁻⁷ (standard value)		Based on Vonk (1985) and Lijzen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2011)
Dpvc	m²/d	1.10 ⁻¹⁰ (Dpe/1000)		Cornelis <i>et al.</i> (2017)
Da	m²/d	No data		
Dw	m²/d	No data		

2.4. OCCURRENCE IN THE ENVIRONMENT

2.4.1. SOIL

PFOS does not occur naturally in the soil. PFOS is persistent (see Beach (2016) for tests of degradability in water and soil).

2.4.2. AIR

\rightarrow Outdoor air

There are no data on perfluorinated compounds in the air in Flanders.

In the project BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009) the outdoor air concentration was derived from a number of European studies (Barber *et al.*, 2007; Jahnke *et al.*, 2007a; Dreyer & Ebinghaus, 2009). For outdoor air, the authors used the available measurement data and processed it statistically. This resulted in a P50 of 1.4.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ and a P95 of 4.60.10⁻⁸ mg/m³ for PFOS. Based on European literature, EFSA (2008b) defined two scenarios for low and high exposure, with outdoor air concentrations of 1.00.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ and 1.00.10⁻⁸ mg/m³ respectively, which are of the same order of magnitude as those used in BF-Risk.

In the GAPS (Global Atmospheric Passive Sampling) network, POPs, including PFOS are measured at 21 different places on earth. Rauert *et al.* (2018) compared the concentrations for 2009, 2013 and 2015. Samples were taken in 3 types of areas: background, urban and polar. In Europe, samples were taken in the Czech Republic (background), Norway (polar), Ireland (background) and Paris (urban). In 2015, the background concentrations for PFOS (across all background measuring stations) were < $6.00.10^{-11} - 2.30.10^{-8} \text{ mg/m}^3$, in 2013 they were < $4.00.10^{-11} - 7.00.10^{-9} \text{ mg/m}^3$ and in 2009 they were < $4.00.10^{-11} - 3.50.10^{-8} \text{ mg/m}^3$. The authors also refer to a study in Switzerland where a background concentrations of $1.7.10^{-9} \text{ mg/m}^3$ was calculated (Muller *et al.*, 2012). In 2015, for urban areas the concentrations of PFOS were respectively $4.00.10^{-9} - 6.40.10^{-9} \text{ mg/m}^3$, in 2013 they were $1.70.10^{-9} \text{ mg/m}^3$, in 2013 they were $1.20.10^{-9} - 5.40.10^{-9} \text{ mg/m}^3$. Muller *et al.* (2012) calculated 2.30.10^{-9} mg/m^3 for the urban area.

For deriving the soil remediation value for PFOS, we use a concentration of 1.4.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ PFOS in outdoor air (P50 value from Cornelis *et al.* (2009)). This value falls within the ranges for background concentrations calculated in the GAPS network and is of the same order of magnitude as the lowest values for urban areas. In addition, it is similar to the background and urban concentrations calculated by Muller *et al.* (2012).

\rightarrow Indoor air

Higher concentrations can be found in indoor air than in outdoor air, due to indoor sources. In the BF-Risk project a concentration of $1.6.10^{-9}$ mg/m³ was assumed for indoor air based on data from
Jahnke *et al.* (2007b). For deriving soil remediation values, the 1.6.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ background concentration in indoor air was used.

2.4.3. DRINKING WATER

There are no VMM (Flanders Environment Agency) measurement data for PFOS in drinking water. In the BF-Risk project, 4 samples of tap water from 3 different drinking water companies were analysed. The measured concentrations of PFOS were $2.6.10^{-3} - 10.6.10^{-3} \mu g/l$ with a median of $3.4.10^{-3} \mu g/l$ and an average concentration of $5.22.10^{-3} \mu g/l$, the latter value was used for the intake estimation in the BF-Risk project (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009).

Costopoulou *et al.* (2015) investigated 11 PFAS in tap water samples from Greece and the Netherlands. For the Dutch samples, PFAS were detected in 49% of the samples.

PFOS above the limit of detection of 0.6 $.10^{-3} \,\mu$ g/l was only found in 2 samples (3 and 5.10⁻³ μ g/l). Taking both groundwater and surface water into account, an average concentration of 0.2 (lower bound¹⁰) and 0.8.10⁻³ μ g/l (upper bound) respectively was recorded for PFOS in Dutch tap water.

EFSA (2012) calculated an average concentration of $3.90.10^{-3} \,\mu$ g/l (upper bound results) based on 156 samples of tap water from different European countries over the period 2006-2012. For bottled water (255 samples) the concentration was slightly lower, $1.70.10^{-3} \,\mu$ g/l PFOS (upper bound results). The results obtained in BF-Risk for tap water are slightly higher than those obtained by EFSA or for the Netherlands. Due to the limited amount of data (4 samples), it was decided to use the concentration obtained by EFSA, i.e. $3.90.10^{-3} \,\mu$ g/l. Depending on the data used for intake via food, this value may or may not be used when calculating the soil remediation value. If drinking water is already included in the diet, it will be equated to zero here in order to avoid double counting.

2.4.4. CONCENTRATIONS IN FOODSTUFFS AND INTAKE VIA FOOD

Concentrations of PFOS in foodstuffs and intake estimates for Flanders/Belgium are discussed in BF-Risk and were calculated by EFSA in 2012 and 2018¹¹. In the literature, data are also available for Sweden and the Netherlands, and in the European project PERFOOD the exposure via food was quantified for 4 European countries including Belgium. For the calculation of the soil remediation value, data should ideally be used in which concentrations in food and intake estimates are linked.

BF-Risk – Flanders (2009)

In the project BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009) samples of foodstuffs of Flemish origin were analysed, with a distinction between samples originating from organic farming and conventional farming. The samples analysed were divided into a number of groups including "vegetables" (potato, carrot, tomato, chicory, onion, lettuce, leek and wheat), "fruit" (apple and strawberry), "meat" (chicken, pork and beef), "dairy" (chicken eggs and raw cow's milk), "fish" (eel,

 $^{^{10}}$ When values are below the reporting limit in a set of measurement data , it is possible to choose to set the data below the reporting limit to zero (= lower bound approach) or equal to the reporting limit (= upper bound approach) when calculating an average value. A third possibility is to equate it to half of the reporting limit (= medium bound approach). For the measurement data PFOS in drinking water below the LOQ, a 0 value was assumed as concentration in the lower bound approach and a concentration equal to the LOQ (0.6 $.10^{-3} \,\mu g/l$) was assumed in the upper bound approach.

¹¹ After finalising this report, EFSA published new data in 2020

cod, rocket, dab, whiting, herring, sprats and flounder) and "drink" (beer and tap water). For each item 6 growers were sought, 3 organic growers and 3 "classic" growers. Three pieces per selected food item were purchased from each grower. Table 2 gives an overview of the results of the analysis for a selection of vegetables, meat, cow's milk and eggs. In fish from the North Sea, $<1.0.10^{-4} - 6.0.10^{-4}$ mg/kg of PFOS was detected.

Foodstuff	Organically grown	Conventionally grown
	Min-max (median) mg/kg	Min-max (median) mg/kg
Potato	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ -1.90.10 ⁻² (5.00.10 ⁻⁵)	< 2.00.10 ⁻⁵ (< 2.00.10 ⁻⁵)
Carrot	3.00.10 ⁻⁴ - 5.00.10 ⁻⁴ (4.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ -2.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<2.00.10 ⁻⁵)
Onion	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ -2.4.10 ⁻³ (0.4.10 ⁻³)	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ (<2.00.10 ⁻⁵)
Tomato	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ -0.7.10 ⁻³ (0.04.10 ⁻³)	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ (<2.00.10 ⁻⁵)
Lettuce	<2.00.10 ⁻⁴ -1.00.10 ⁻²	<2.00.10 ⁻⁵ -4.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<2.00.10 ⁻⁵)
Beef	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Chicken	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -2.1.10 ⁻³ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ - 9.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Pork	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -5.0.10 ⁻⁴ (<5.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Eggs	<1.40.10 ⁻³ -2.10.10 ⁻² (2.60.10 ⁻³)	<1.20.10 ⁻³ -2.20.10 ⁻² (<1.20.10 ⁻³)
Cow's milk	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)

Table 2: Overview of the range (minimum-maximum) of PFOS concentrations and the median in organic and conventional food samples (D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009).

For the calculation of exposure, Cornelis *et al.* (2009) calculated with average concentrations. Figures reported below the limit of quantification have been replaced by the corresponding limit of quantification (= upper bound approach). No account was taken of the influence of preparation and packaging on the levels in foodstuffs consumed. Cornelis *et al.* (2009) included data from foreign studies as foodstuffs on the Belgian (Flemish) market do not only originate from Belgium and the dataset with concentration data measured in the BF-Risk project is too limited. To this end, literature data were looked up from measurements carried out from 2003 and published until mid-May 2009. For the various foodstuffs, with the exception of fish, the measurements are dominated by the data from the BF-Risk project.

For fruit and vegetables, the average levels from the BF-Risk project did not differ significantly from those from other European studies (Spain, UK). Cornelis *et al.* (2009) did however observe that there was significant variation in the data. For vegetables, the authors distinguished between vegetables and potatoes because the latter showed higher concentrations. For meat, the literature data are slightly higher than the Flemish measurements. No data were available for butter and therefore data for dairy were used.

Food group	PFOS
Potato	6.18.10 ⁻³
Vegetables	6.02.10 ⁻⁴
Butter	2.50.10-4
Egg	6.86.10 ⁻³

Table 3: Average concentrations of PFOS in a selection of foodstuffs, as used in the intake estimation (mg/kg fresh weight) (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; Cornelis *et al.*, 2012).

5.22. 10⁻⁶

tap water and bottled water

Liver	0.00.10 ⁰
Milk	2.50.10 ⁻⁴
Meat	5.54.10 ⁻⁵
Poultry meat	6.33.10 ⁻⁴
Pork meat	1.70.10 ⁻⁴
Seafish	1.2.10 ⁻²
Fresh water fish	1.74.10-1

For the intake via food and drinking water, the results of the Belgian Food Consumption Survey of 2004, carried out by WIV, were used (De Vriese *et al.*, 2006). This was the most recent study into food intake in the Belgian population over 15 years of age.

The average intake for the different age groups as calculated in BF-Risk is given in Table 4. The intake for adults is dominated by fish and shellfish, followed by potatoes. In children, the intake of PFOS is dominated by potatoes (48%), followed by similar fractions of fish and fishery products, dairy products, eggs and fruit (around 10% each). The contribution via water (and water-based drinks such as coffee and tea) and beer is insignificant.

Table 4: Intake of PFOS via food by the Flemish (Belgian) population (ng/kg.day). The exposure via food could not be calculated for children aged $0.5 - \leq 3$ years due to a lack of Flemish/Belgian consumption figures (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009).

Age (years)	1-<3	3-<6	6-<10	10-<15	15-<21	21-<31	31-<41
Intake							
(ng/kg.d)		57.2	38.9	27.8	24.0	24.1	20.2

Noorlander et al. (2010) - Netherlands

Noorlander *et al.* (2010) calculated the intake of PFOS via food and drinking water in the Netherlands using the 'total diet method', which is a combination of consumption data, concentration measurements in mixed samples of specific food categories and drinking water, and statistical modelling. Drinking water samples were not measured, the concentrations reported by EFSA (2008b) were used instead, namely $7.00.10^{-3} \mu g/l$. Table 5 shows a selection of concentrations measured in food samples in 2009 in the Netherlands.

Table 5: Concentration of PFOS in food groups collected in 2009 in the Netherlands (results > LOD are shown in bold).

Food group	PFOS in mg/kg
Oily fish	6.10.10 ⁻⁵
White fish	3.08.10 ⁻⁴
Butter	3.30.10 ⁻⁵
Milk	1.00.10 ⁻⁵
Eggs	2.90.10 ⁻⁵
Beef	8.20.10 ⁻⁵

Vegetables/fruit	< 4.70.10 ⁻⁵

The long-term intake was calculated for PFOS, taking into account concentration data from 2010 and data from the Dutch food consumption survey in 1998 (Table 6). The intake of drinking water contributed 33% of the total intake, followed by milk (25%), beef (21%), white fish (9%) and pork (4%). The calculated intakes for the Netherlands are slightly lower than those calculated by EFSA (2012) and Vestergren *et al.* (2012) and a factor of 10-100 lower than those calculated by Cornelis *et al.* (2009).

Table 6: Long-term intake via food for PFOS in the Netherlands (Noorlander *et al.*, 2010; Noorlander *et al.*, 2011) for the P50 percentile (in ng/kg.d). Values under the LOD were approached according to 3 different scenarios.

Age (years)	S1: male	S1: female	S2: male	S2: female	S3: male	S3: female
2	0.687	0.737	0.707	0.747	0.748	0.785
10	0.293	0.314	0.311	0.328	0.341	0.359
40	253	0.273	0.267	0.281	0.286	0.300
Lifelong	279	0.298	0.291	0.309	0.313	0.329
average						

When the analysis results are \geq LOD but < LOQ, 3 scenarios can be identified: S1: result = LOD; S2: result = measured concentration; S3: result = LOQ

The intake data from Noorlander *et al.* (2011) are used in Wintersen (2019) to calculate the contribution of the various foodstuffs to the background exposure when calculating risk limits for the application of PFOS-containing soil and sludge for arable and livestock farming. A background exposure of 0.159 ng/kg.d was assumed for livestock and 0.318 ng/kg.d for arable crops. This exposure is deducted from the health-related risk limits.

EFSA (2012 and 2018) - Belgium

EFSA (2012) collected analytical results of PFOS in foodstuffs in 13 European countries over the period 2006-2012 (54,195 analytical results distributed among all PFAS of which 7,523 for PFOS, 2% of these samples came from Belgium). The dataset was characterised by a high proportion of left-skewed data (results < LOD or LOQ), 74% for PFOS (10,889 samples of which 10,191 were eventually retained).

A selection of results is given in Table 7. In comparison with the data used for the intake estimate in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) the average upper bound concentration for potatoes is a factor of 10 lower, as is the case for vegetables and eggs. The concentration in meat with which Cornelis *et al.* (2009) made the intake estimate is in the same order of magnitude as the EFSA upper bound values, as is milk. For fish, the data from Cornelis *et al.* (2009) are approximately 10-100 times higher than those obtained by EFSA.

Food group	Number of	Proportion of	Average	Average
	samples	left-skewed	Lower bound	Upper bound
	(including mixed	distribution of	(mg/kg)**	(mg/kg)
	samples)	data*		
Root crops	135 (277)	97	9.50.10 ⁻⁶	2.10.10-4
Bulbous vegetables	8 (68)	88	2.20.10 ⁻⁶	3.95.10 ⁻⁵
Fruiting vegetables	37 (243)	95	2.10.10 ⁻⁶	6.50.10 ⁻⁵
Cabbages	23 (111)	96	1.20.10 ⁻⁶	9.90.10 ⁻⁵
Leafy vegetables	25 (210)	84	6.00.10 ⁻⁷	2.60.10 ⁻⁵
Leguminous	4 (13)	100	0	1.11.10 ⁻⁵
vegetables				
Stalk vegetables	23 (176)	100	0	4.66.10 ⁻⁵
Potatoes and potato	299 (335)	99.7	3.60.10 ⁻⁶	6.30.10 ⁻⁴
products				
Beef	232 (1418)	91	8.60.10 ⁻⁶	1.20.10-4
Poultry	150 (737)	97	9.70.10 ⁻⁶	1.40.10-4
Offal	1261 (1623)	91	4.20.10 ⁻⁴	1.90.10 ⁻³
Milk	152 (722)	94	9.00.10 ⁻⁷	1.20.10 ⁻⁴
Butter (animal fat)	13 (55)	92	8.2.10 ⁻⁴	9.5.10 ⁻⁴
Eggs	95 (581)	85	3.70.10 ⁻⁵	7.0.10 ⁻⁴
Fish and other	2534 (4395)	63	1.99.10 ⁻³	2.4.10 ⁻³
Tap water	114 (156)	91	9.00.10 ⁻⁷	3.90.10 ⁻⁶
Bottled water	255 (255)	87	4.00.10 ⁻⁷	1.70.10 ⁻⁶

Table 7: Selection of analysis data for PFOS in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2012).

*Left-skewed data = data < LOQ or LOD

**Lower bound: value 0 assigned to all left-skewed data, upper bound: value of LOQ or LOD assigned to left-skewed data

For the calculation of the intake, EFSA used the data in the Belgian Food Consumption Survey (De Vriese *et al.*, 2006) and for children, from the Flemish toddler study (Huybrechts, 2008). The intakes for Belgium calculated in EFSA (2012) are given in Table 8, drinking water is part of the calculated intakes. In these calculations, EFSA (2012) makes the reservation that a chronic intake estimate via food cannot be accurate when more than 80% of the analysis results are lower than the LOD or LOQ. Moreover, for many food groups, the proportion of left-skewed data is more than 90%. For this reason, the intake estimate below is a rough indication of exposure. If the lower bound method is used, the intake is likely to be underestimated; if the upper bound method is used, it may be significantly overestimated. When the calculated intakes from EFSA are compared with those in Cornelis *et al.* (2009), it can be seen that for most age groups the data calculated in BF-Risk are approximately one order of magnitude higher than those calculated by EFSA (upper bound).

Age (years)	1-3	3-10	10-18	18-65	65-75	≥75
Intake	1.20-9.10	1.20-7.40	0.540-	0.800-	0.910-	0.840-
LB - UB			2.50	2.60.	2.90	2.90
(ng/kg.d)						

Table 8: Average chronic PFOS intake via food, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (UB) approach (EFSA, 2012).

For adults (and children), EFSA (2012) mentions fish and seafood (50-80%), fruit and fruit products (8-27%) and meat and meat products (5-8%) as the main food groups contributing to the intake of PFOS (based on lower bound calculations, upper bound data were not published).

At the end of 2018, EFSA published a new intake estimate for chronic exposure to PFOS and PFOA (EFSA, 2018c), based on 21,411 samples for which data for PFOS and PFOA were available (end of 2016). 62% of the samples came from Germany, followed by Norway and France. The samples were reported between 2000 and 2016, but only samples collected after 2007 were included in the calculations. For PFOS, the calculation was made with 10,012 results, for PFOA with 9,828 results. As in 2012, the data were characterised by a large proportion of left-skewed data (results < LOD or LOQ). Overall, according to EFSA, the intake estimate for PFOS is approximately 30% lower in 2018 than in 2012; for Belgium this difference is even greater (see Table 9). The EFSA report is accompanied by annexes in Excel, which present average and P95 intakes for Belgium for different age groups using the lower and upper bound approach, these data are shown in Table 9.

Table 9: Average chronic PFOS intake via food, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (UB) approach for Belgium, obtained by EFSA in 2018 (EFSA, 2018c).

Age (years)	1-3	3-10	10-18	18-65	65-75	≥75
Intake LB - UB	0.59-3.48	0.64-3.03	0.30-1.41	0.51-1.42	0.53-1.41	0.62-1.53
(ng/kg.d)						

The concentrations used by EFSA for the intake estimation are shown in Table 10, these are also taken from the Excel tables annexed to the EFSA report. Although the intake estimates in 2018 are lower than those in 2017, the concentrations reported by EFSA are higher for most foodstuffs in 2018. No explanation could be found for this in the report.

Food group	Number of samples	Proportion of left-skewed distribution of data (%)*	Average Lower bound (mg/kg)**	Average Upper bound (mg/kg)
Root vegetables	168	93	8.0.10 ⁻⁶	2.19.10 ⁻⁴
Bulbous vegetables	77	97	2.0.10 ⁻⁶	2.37.10 ⁻⁴
Fruiting vegetables	140	95	2.10.10 ⁻⁶	1.38.10 ⁻⁴
Cabbages	45	95	2.10.10 ⁻⁶	1.13.10-4
Leafy vegetables	114	95	2.10.10 ⁻⁶	1.10.10-4
Leguminous vegetables	9	100	0	3.10.10 ⁻⁵
Stalk vegetables	92	100	0	1.88.10-4
Potatoes	52	100	0	3.89.10 ⁻⁴
Beef	150	87	5.60.10 ⁻⁵	1.85.10 ⁻⁴
Poultry	176	98	9.00.10 ⁻⁶	1.43.10 ⁻⁴
Offal	1417	88	6.58.10 ⁻⁴	2.117.10 ⁻³
Milk	249	94	1.00.10-6	2.1.10 ⁻⁴
Eggs	26	92	2.32.10 ⁻⁴	1.122.10 ⁻³
Fish and other	2878	67	2.244.10-3	2.765.10 ⁻³
Tap water	45	63	1.00.10 ⁻⁶	6.00.10 ⁻⁶
Bottled water	330	90	0	1.00.10 ⁻⁶

Table 10: Selection of analysis data for PFOS in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2018c).

*Left-skewed data = data < LOQ or LOD

**Lower bound: value 0 assigned to all left-skewed data, upper bound: value of LOQ or LOD assigned to left-skewed data

Vestergren et al. (2012) - Sweden

Vestergren *et al.* (2012) calculated the intakes of various PFAS for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. The authors used a highly sensitive analysis technique, the analysis results for a selection of food samples can be found in Table 11.

Food group	2010	2005	1999
Dairy products	5.60.10 ⁻⁶	4.00.10 ⁻⁶	< LOD
Meat products	2.5.10 ⁻⁵	8.6.10 ⁻⁵	1.9.10 ⁻⁴
Fats	1.3.10 ⁻⁵	< LOD	1.0.10 ⁻⁵
Pastry	2.10.10 ⁻⁵	1.70.10 ⁻⁵	1.10.10 ⁻⁵
Fish	1.29.10 ⁻³	7.80.10 ⁻⁴	1.09.10 ⁻³
Eggs	3.90.10 ⁻⁵	1.30.10-5	1.28.10 ⁻³
Cereal products	2.20.10 ⁻⁶	4.00.10 ⁻⁶	3.50.10 ⁻⁶
Vegetables	4.10.10 ⁻⁶	2.40.10 ⁻⁵	4.60.10 ⁻⁶
Potatoes	6.9.10 ⁻⁶	5.8.10 ⁻⁶	1.9.10 ⁻⁶

Table 11: Estimated (between LOD and LOQ) and measured (> LOQ, indicated in bold) concentrations in mg/kg PFOS in Swedish food samples from 1999, 2005 and 2010 (Vestergren *et al.*, 2012).

For PFOS, based on consumption data for the Swedish population, average intakes were calculated of 1.44, 0.861 and 1.01 ng/kg.d in 1999, 2005 and 2010, respectively (lower bound scenario, the difference with the upper bound scenario is less than 1%). These intakes were calculated without drinking water. Fish (84.9%) and meat products (7.3%) were the main contributors to the UB scenario in 2010. The contribution of potatoes was 1.2%, vegetables 1.1% and fruit 0.7%. In the lower bound scenario, approximately 80% of the intake comes from the consumption of fish. The intake estimates are similar to those obtained by EFSA (2012) and a factor of 10 lower than those calculated in BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009). The concentration in potatoes is 1000 times lower than that in BF-Risk and 100 times lower than the UB value determined by EFSA (but comparable to the LB value determined by EFSA). The fish concentrations are 10-100 times lower than the values in BF-Risk and comparable to the EFSA values; the meat concentrations are comparable to those in BF-Risk and a factor of 10 lower than those in EFSA (UB; comparable to LB data); the vegetable concentrations are comparable to the LB data in EFSA (and a factor of 10 lower than the UB data) and a factor of 100 lower than those used in BF-Risk.

PERFOOD- Belgium

In the European project PERFOOD (Klenow *et al.*, 2013) the exposure via food was quantified for 4 European countries including Belgium. For this, results from analytical analyses carried out during the project were used (Herzke *et al.*, 2013; Hlouskova *et al.*, 2013) as were consumption data for the individual countries as published by EFSA. The concentrations for meat were similar to those of Cornelis *et al.* (2009), EFSA (2012) and Noorlander *et al.* (2010). As regards vegetables, concentrations were approximately 200 times lower than those used in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) for the intake estimate (average 6.10⁻⁴ mg/kg versus 3.24.10⁻⁶ mg/kg for vegetables), see also Table 12. For fish, the data are almost a factor of 100 lower than those in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and a factor of 10 lower than EFSA (2012) UB data and data in Vestergren *et al.* (2012).

Table 12: Concentration data for PFOS in Belgian samples measured in PERFOOD (Herzke *et al.*, 2013; Hlouskova *et al.*, 2013).

Food group	PFOS in mg/kg
	fresh weight
Vegetables	3.24.10 ⁻⁶
Cabbages	2.58.10 ⁻⁵
Spinach	2.35.10 ⁻⁵
Asparagus	9.00.10 ⁻⁶
Broccoli, cauliflower, aubergine, courgette, cucumber, peppers, tomato, beans,	< LOQ
peas, chicory, lettuce, carrot, potato, celery, fennel	
Beef	5.7.10 ⁻⁵
Pork liver	2.69.10 ⁻³ *
Pork	2.70.10 ⁻⁵ *
Lamb	1.5.10 ⁻⁵
Butter	3.28.10 ⁻⁵
Eggs	8.09.10 ⁻⁵ *
Seafood	5.75.10 ⁻⁴ *
Fish	3.01.10 ⁻⁴ *

* : figures calculated by VITO in the framework of the current soil remediation value project by combining data from figure 2 (sum of PFAS in foodstuffs for Belgium) and figure 3 (PFAS profiles foodstuffs Belgium) published in Hlouskova *et al.* (2013)

Due to the sensitive analysis technique, the authors consider a further interpretation of the results for the lower bound data to be justified. The intake for adults in the lower bound scenario is dominated by fish and seafood (46%) and fruit (33%). For children, fruit (46%) is the most dominant category, followed by meat and offal (26%) and fish and seafood (13%). The authors note that the intake in Belgium is higher than in the other countries studied (the Czech Republic, Italy and Norway). The results from the PERFOOD project and the lower bound results from EFSA (2012) and EFSA (2018c) are of approximately the same order of magnitude, the upper bound results of EFSA are significantly higher. The intake estimate is similar to the one carried out by Noorlander *et al.* (2010) for the Netherlands, 4 times lower than the one for Sweden (Vestergren *et al.*, 2012) and 10-100 times lower than the one calculated in BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009). The authors mention that the results in PERFOOD should not be considered representative for Belgium, as the samples were taken in a short period of time and at a limited number of sampling sites.

Table 13: Average PFOS intake via diet for children and adults in Belgium, calculated according to the lower and upper bound scenario (Klenow *et al.*, 2013).

Age (years)	3-9 average	18-64 average
Intake: LB – UB (ng/kg.d)	0.960-1.11	0.336-0.405

FSANZ (2017) – review and comparison of European studies

A review by FSANZ (2017) discusses recent European studies in which the occurrence of PFOS in foods is examined, among other things. The authors note that, in general, for PFOS, the data from studies published over the period 2012-2016 are well in line with the data published by EFSA (2012), with the exception of the data used for intake estimate by Cornelis *et al.* (2012), which are significantly higher for a number of food groups such as dairy products, eggs, vegetables, potatoes and fish. The intake estimate for PFOS published in Cornelis *et al.* (2012) is also much higher than that in other studies, according to the authors of FSANZ (2017).

Discussion

Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and EFSA (2012) and Klenow *et al.* (2013) published data for the intake estimate of PFOS for the Belgian population (see Figure 1). The highest results were obtained in BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and then the UB data from EFSA. The lowest intakes were calculated with the LB data of EFSA and in PERFOOD (Klenow *et al.* (2013). The concentrations used for intake estimations are based on own measurements or literature in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and on own measurement results in Klenow *et al.* (2013). The number of samples analysed in both studies is limited or was collected during a limited period of time, and for this reason the results may not be representative. EFSA has a large amount of samples at its disposal, but it calculates intakes for Belgium with concentrations do not relate only to foodstuffs present on the Belgian market. Klenow *et al.* (2013) refer to higher concentrations of PFAS in foodstuffs originating from Belgium compared to other European countries, so it is possible that the EFSA underestimates the concentrations used as they do not originate from Belgium alone. EFSA itself considers its UB calculations to overestimate the intake, since 80% of the analysis results are lower than the LOQ or LOD.



Figure 1: Intake PFOS for Belgium in μ g/kg.day for different ages. Comparison of data published in BF-Risk, EFSA (upper bound and lower bound) and PERFOOD (upper bound and lower bound)

Taking into account the various aspects described above, it was decided to initially use the UB intake estimate made by EFSA for the Belgian population as intake estimate for PFOS. Both the data for 2012 and 2018 will be calculated through, and the LB scenario for 2012 will also be calculated. The consumption figures use specific data for Belgium and the concentrations are based on a large amount of samples. According to EFSA, the use of UB intake estimates is a highly conservative approach, whereas the use of LB, on the other hand, may be an underestimate, since undeterminable concentrations are set at zero. This is also shown by a comparison of the intake estimates for the LB and UB scenario of EFSA with recent scientific literature, the LB approach of EFSA approaches the intake estimates based on more sensitive analytical techniques such as in Vestergren *et al.* (2012) and Perfood better than the UB approach. Therefore, both the UB approach (conservative) and the LB approach will be calculated through and tested for feasibility. As long as drinking water is part of the diet used by EFSA to estimate intakes, the concentration in drinking water for deriving soil remediation values will be set at zero to avoid double counting.

Table 14 shows the EFSA 2012 and 2018 (UB and LB) data extrapolated to the age groups present in S-Risk.

Intake (ng/kg.d)	1-<3	3-<6	6-<10	10-<15	15-<21	21-<31	31 and above
2012 UB	9.10	8.10	6.70	2.85	2.47	2.50	2.77
2012 LB	1.2	1.2	1.08	0.513	0.562	0.634	0.875
2018 UB	3.48	3.25	2.90	1.90	1.47	1.50	1.48
2018 LB	0.590	0.617	0.572	0.368	0.330	0.391	0.514

Table 14 PFOS intake via food for the Belgian population calculated on the basis of extrapolation of UB approach of EFSA (2012) and EFSA (2018c).

2.5. TRANSFER TO PLANTS

Due to the amphiphilic nature of PFAS, the formulas of Trapp (2002), Trapp *et al.* (2007) and Trapp and Matthies (1995)) usually applied in S-Risk for non-ionising organic compounds cannot be used to calculate plant uptake of PFAS, and therefore empirical relationships based on bioconcentration factors (BCF) need to be applied. In the literature, BCF-values for PFOS are generally based on soil concentrations, while in S-Risk BCF based on soil pore water are required for organic compounds. For this reason, modifications were made to S-Risk, using a test environment, in order to be able to calculate soil remediation values with BCF_{soil} from the literature (see also 2.10 calculations of the soil remediation value).

For inventorising plant uptake of PFOS we rely, in the first instance, on a review paper of Ghisi *et al.* (2019) where we make sure we verify the numerical values each time against the original papers. Additional sources are searched for and, if available, integrated. Selected BCF are compared to BCF derived in the Netherlands (Wintersen, 2019).

Ghisi *et al.* (2019) bring together all known data related to plant uptake for different PFAS, differentiating between perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSAs). Most of the data in this literature review relating to plant uptake for PFAS refer to PFOA and PFOS, C8 representatives for PFCAs and PFSAs respectively. This subset of PFSA-data from Ghisi *et al.* (2019) is the starting point for final selection of BCF values in S-Risk for the derivation of soil remediation values of PFOS. Studies relying on aquacultures for the uptake of PFAS are not taken into consideration for this study. A further literature search/review on data relating to uptake of PFOS by crops did not provide additional data. Due to the water solubility of PFAS, the industrial and urban sludge from water treatment plants used for irrigation are considered important sources for plant uptake. In addition, sludge applications intended to improve soil structure and the use of PFAS as emulsifiers in plant protection products are also important sources of plant uptake.

The literature often distinguishes between the uptake of PFOS in cereal crops and vegetables (bulbous, tuber, fruiting and leaf vegetables). This distinction is based, on the one hand, on the difference between the parts of plants that are suitable for consumption, vegetative parts including fruit in the case of vegetables and seeds in the case of cereal crops. On the other hand, the vegetative parts of cereals are used in fodder crops (straw, chaff, etc.). Ghisi *et al.* (2019) identify 5 publications relating to cereal crops, including maize, oats, wheat and ryegrass (grasses). In S-Risk, BCF derived for cereals and grasses are the basis for the calculation of transfer PFOS via locally grown fodder crops to livestock (biomagnification). A distinction can be made between parts of the plant suitable for human consumption (cereals) and non-edible parts of cereals and grasses used in livestock feed

(straw, chaff). The results are summarised in Table 15. All numerical values in Table 15 are based on measurements taken on spiked soils, with the exception of Blaine *et al.* (2013) and Wen et al. (2014). In the latter studies, the plants were grown on soils to which a mixture of PFAS was added in the form of (organic) sludge. BCF for plant parts suitable for human consumption are often significantly lower than for non-edible parts. Differences in availability of PFOS for different crops are attributed to differences in protein content (Wen et al., 2016) or to morphological differences in e.g. leaf surface and/or root system (Müller et al., 2016).

Table 15: BCF (mg/kg pla	nt dm)/(mg/kg so	il dm) for PFOS	for cereals and	grasses (Selection from
Ghisi <i>et al.</i> (2019))				

Crop	compartment	concentration in	BCF	reference
		soil (mg/kg dm)	(mg/kg plant	
			dm)/(mg/kg soil dm)	
maize	straw	0.25	0.132	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.104	
	straw	0.25	0.320	Krippner <i>et al.</i> (2015)
		1	0.620	
	leaf	38.5	0.800	Navarro <i>et al.</i> (2017)
	cobs	0.25	LOD	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.003	
	cereal grains	0.25	LOD	Krippner <i>et al.</i> (2015)
		1	LOD	
	maize stalks	0.00282	LOD	Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013)
oats	straw	0.25	0.224	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.150	
	cereal grains	0.25	0.004	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.017	
ryegrass	4 consecutive samples	0.25	0.048	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.470	
wheat	straw	0.25	0.200	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.270	
	straw	0.0408	0.270	Wen et al., 2014
	cereal grains	0.25	LOD	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	LOD	
	cereal grains	0.0408	0.062	Wen et al., 2014
	Ear of corn	0.0408	0.054	

LOD = Limit Of Detection

The results show that the BCF for crop plants and grasses increase in most cases with higher soil concentrations (Figure 2). There is not enough data to derive a relationship.



Figure 2: BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for crop plants and grasses as a function of the concentration of PFOS in soil (mg/kg dm) (Selection from Ghisi *et al.* (2019))

S-Risk takes two BCF values into consideration for forage crops, namely grasses and maize. Preference is given to measurements on soils treated with sludge mixtures (as spiking may lead to overestimation). For Wen et al. (2014), there is a BCF for wheat of 0.06 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) available which meets this condition. For maize, no BCF could be derived in the field study of Blaine *et al.* (2013). Stahl *et al.* (2009) report a BCF_{maize} = 0.003 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) with an added concentration of 1 mg/kg PFOS in the soil. Both values are used for the calculations in S-Risk. The BCF value for ryegrass derived by Stahl *et al.* (2009) with the highest added value to soil deviates strongly from the other BCF values in Table 15 and it was consequently decided to only take the lowest BCF value into consideration for the calculations (see below).

When we extend the analysis for plant uptake of PFOS to vegetables, we find 4 additional studies in the overview publication of Ghisi *et al.* (2019). Additionally, we retrieved one extra publication, i.e., Navarro *et al.* (2017), based on which BCF_{PFOS} can be calculated for spinach and tomato. An overview of the available values is given in Table 16. The BCF derived by Lechner and Knapp (2011) are based on spiked soil. All other studies study soils enriched with PFAS-containing household or industrial sludge.

Сгор		Concentratio n in soil (mg/kg dm)	BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/k g soil dm)	reference
carrot	carrot (peeled)	0.01	0.53	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	carrot (peeled)	0.458	0.43	

Table 16: BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PFOS for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi *et al.* (2019) supplemented with Navarro *et al.* (2017))

	carrot (peeled) Chantenay variety	0.445	0.55	Bizkarguenaga <i>et al.</i> (2016)
	carrot (peeled) Nantesa variety	0.335	0.49	
Celery	Celery shoots	0.04966	1.39	Blaine et al., 2014a
	Celery shoots	0.31949	0.05	
Cucumber	pot 1	0.01	-	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	pot 2	0.556	0.067	
lettuce	leaf	0.04966	1.67	Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013)
	leaf	0.31949	0.32	
	leaf	0.01391	0.10	
lettuce	leaf	0.507	0.15	Bizkarguenaga et al. (2016)
peas	fruits	0.04966	0.03	Blaine et al., 2014a
	fruits	0.31949	LOD	
potatoes	peeled	0.015	LOD	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	peeled	0.317	0.01	
spinach		0.5	3.24	Navarro <i>et al.</i> (2017)
		0.23	4.30	
radish	carrot	0.04966	0.70	Blaine et al., 2014a
	carrot	0.31949	0.066	
tomato	fruits	0.04966	-	Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013) Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013) and Blaine <i>et al.</i> 2014a
	fruits	0.31949	-	Blaine et al. (2013) and Blaine et al., 2014a
	fruits	0.01391	-	Blaine <i>et al.</i> (2013)
		0.47	0.064	Navarro et al. (2017)

LOD = Limit Of Detection

A closer look at Table 16 and Table 15 shows that the calculated BCF for vegetables is overall one order of magnitude higher than that for cereals with the exception of potatoes (Figure 3). We can also make a distinction between experiments carried out on soil enriched with PFOS spiked sludge (Lechner and Knapp (2011); Bizkarguenaga *et al.* (2016)) and soil to which PFOS contaminated industrial or household sludge has been added (Blaine *et al.* (2013); 2014a; Navarro *et al.* (2017)). The highest concentrations of PFOS are found in spinach followed by lettuce. In carrots, we register higher concentrations than potatoes (tuber vegetables). No significant differences are found between peeled and unpeeled carrots (Lechner and Knapp (2011)).



Figure 3: BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) in vegetables (circled blue) and cereal crops (circled red) as a function of the concentration of PFOS in the soil (mg/kg dm).

Blaine *et al.* (2013), 2014 perform measurements on soils enriched with organic sludge, contaminated with a mixture of PFAS. The authors make a distinction between sludge of industrial and household origin. Based on the differences in concentrations of PFOS on the one hand and the different % OC between the two types of enriched soils, it appears that the calculated BCF for vegetables increases with the PFOS concentration in the soil and decreases the higher the % OC. The highest % OC are found in household enriched sludge ((Blaine *et al.*, 2013); 2014) resulting in a lower BCF. We see a comparable result with Navarro *et al.* (2017) where the highest concentrations in spinach are found in soils enriched with industrial sludge.



Figure 4: BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) as a function of concentration (mg/kg dm) in the soil and the % OC (based on data from Blaine *et al.* (2013), 2014). The trend lines are only indicative and do not describe a association between the variables in question.

The final selection BCF for cereals, grasses and vegetables is based on Table 16 and Table 15 where the average value was calculated each time more than one value was available (Table 17) for the same crop. For ryegrass, a BCF of 0.26 was originally chosen, which is the average value of Stahl *et al.* (2009). However, this value was subsequently revised because the highest added concentrations in the soil (1 mg/kg dm) applied by Stahl *et al.* (2009) were far above the background values of PFOS in soil (Pancras, 2018) which results in concentrations in the plant far above the values observed for the other grasses and cereals. Due to the large proportion of potatoes in the diet, an additional check was carried out. The concentrations listed by Cornelis et al. (2012) are consistent with the values underpinning the BCF derived by Lechner and Knapp (2011). However, the values published by EFSA are a factor of 10 lower.

Table 17: Selected BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value (SRV) for PFOS in this study

Сгор	PFOS	method of derivation
carrot	0.50	average value Lechner and Knapp (2011) and
		Bizkarguenaga <i>et al.</i> (2016)
Celery	0.72	average values

		Blaine et al., 2014
Cucumber	0.07	single value from Lechner and Knapp (2011)
lettuce	0.56	average value Blaine et al., 2013 and Bizkarguenaga et al. (2016)
peas	0.03	single value Blaine et al., 2014
potatoes	0.01	single value Lechner and Knapp (2011)
spinach	3.77	average values Navarro et al. (2017)
radish	0.38	average values Blaine et al. 2014
tomato	0.06	single value Navarro et al. (2017)
maize (cob)	0.003	single value Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
oats (cereal)	0.011	average value Stahl et al. (2009)
ryegrass	0.048	lowest value Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
wheat	0.06	single value Wen et al., 2014
(cereal)		

By way of comparison, the most recent RIVM report (Wintersen et al., 2019) refers to the same sources as used by Ghisi *et al.* (2019) with only additional values for potatoes from Schmallenberg, 2008. In order to allow for a comparison between the BCF collected in this study and the BCF values on a fresh weight basis from Wintersen et al. (2019), the latter were converted to a dry weight basis. For this, we used the dry matter contents from the formularium of S-Risk (Cornelis et al (2017)). These converted BCF are shown as a function of the concentration of PFOS in the soil in Figure 5.



Figure 5: BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019) converted on a dry matter basis as a function of the concentration of PFOS in soil.

A comparison of both datasets for vegetables is made in Figure 6 and Table 18. For peas, spinach and tomatoes no BCF values are derived in Wintersen. For string beans, a single value was derived by

Wintersen et al. (2019) based on Blaine et al. (2014). For crops where values are available in both studies, we find the greatest difference for celery (x1.75 in Wintersen et al. (2019)), tomato ((x2.69 in Wintersen et al. (2019)) and radishes ((x5.85 in Wintersen et al. (2019)).



Figure 6: Comparison between BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi *et al.* (2019) and the BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019) converted on a dry matter basis.

Table 18: Comparison between BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi et al. (2019) and the BCF_{PFOS} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Wintersen et al. (2019).

Сгор	Ghisi et al., 2019	Wintersen et al., 2019
carrot	0.50	0.39
Celery	0.72	1.26
Cucumber	0.07	0.06
lettuce	0.56	1.51
peas	0.03	
potatoes	0.010	0.009
pumpkin		
spinach	3.77	
radish	0.38	2.24
tomato	0.06	
string bean		0.03
maize	0.003	0.055
oats	0.011	0.008
ryegrass	0.048	0.59

wheat	0.06	0.091

For the calculations in S-Risk, a food basket consisting of commonly consumed vegetables is applied. If no BCF values are found in the literature for one or more vegetables from this basket, equivalence rules as defined in Bierkens et al. (2016) are applied to fill in these missing values. This means that for the crop with missing BCF values from a certain crop group (tuber vegetables, bulbous vegetables, leafy vegetables, etc.) a BCF is applied from a related crop for which a BCF is available from the same crop group. By way of comparison, RIVM uses 3 BCF for their final calculations in C-Soil: a BCF for cereals (BCF = 0.063 (μ g/kg plant **dm**)/(μ g/kg soil dm)), and further a BCF for "potatoes" (BCF = 0.001 (μ g/kg plant **fw**)/(μ g/kg soil dm) and "other vegetables" (BCF = 0.017 (μ g/kg plant **fw**)/(μ g/kg soil dm).

Table 19: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOS for the different crops in the S-Risk food basket, with indication of the equivalence rules used

Plant	BCF or BCF model
potatoes	
potatoes	0.01
root and tuber vegetables	
carrots	0.50
salsify	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
other root vegetables (such	0.38
as radish)	
bulbous vegetables	
bulbous vegetables (such as	0.44
onion)	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leek	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
fruiting vegetables	
tomato	0.06
cucumber	0.07
other fruiting vegetables	0.065 (average known fruiting vegetables)
(such as peppers)	
cabbages	
cabbage	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
cauliflower and broccoli	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
sprouts	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leafy vegetables	
lettuce	0.56
lamb's lettuce	0.56 (= lettuce)
endive	0.62 (average lettuce and celery)
spinach	3.77

	Plant	BCF or BCF model
chicory	(0.62 (average lettuce and celery)
celery		0.72
legumes		
beans		0.03 (= peas)
peas		0.03
grasses		
grass		0.048
cereals		
maize		0.003

2.6. TRANSFER TO ANIMAL PRODUCTS

Bioaccumulation of PFAS cannot be simulated on the basis of equilibrium partitioning as is the case for most neutral hydrophobic organic compounds that accumulate primarily in fat tissue. Due to their amphiphilic and anionic character, they are mainly distributed over the serum, liver and kidneys and their toxicokinetics are largely controlled by urinary excretion. The equations derived by Travis and Arms (1988) usied in S-Risk to estimate concentrations in meat and milk based on K_{ow} partition coefficients are not applicable, so we have to start from empirically derived biotransfer factors from case studies. A literature review provides 4 papers with paired measurement data for PFOS in feed and drinking water together with PFOS concentrations in dairy cow tissues/organs (n =3) and/or sheep (n=1) suitable for human consumption, from which biotransfer factors (BTF) can be derived.

Bovines

We find the most detailed study in Vestergren *et al.* (2013). Vestergren *et al.* (2013) derived BTF for dairy cows from agricultural areas without external influence from known PFCAs or PFSAs point sources. The feed consisted of a mixture of silage, maize and barley. Local well water was used as drinking water for the cattle. At the time of the measurements the adult (> 24 months old) dairy cows had had sufficient time to achieve equilibrium between intake and excretion of PFAS. The measurement results for PFOS in feed and drinking water, as well as in the different tissues and animal matrices relevant for the calculations, are summarised in Table 19. In bovines, the highest concentrations of PFOS are found in the liver and blood. The measured values in muscle and milk are 21 ± 19 ng/kg fw and 6.2 ± 1.1 ng/kg fw respectively. Based on a total daily intake of 294.6 ng/d PFOS, the authors calculate a BTF_{muscle} = 0.071 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ and BTF_{milk} = 0.021 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ (Vestergren, 2013 #8888). The BTF_{liver}, a measure of the accumulation of PFOS in offal, is 0.442 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ (own calculation; Table 21).

van Asselt *et al.* (2013) developed a PBPK model predicting concentrations of PFOS in milk based on PFOS intake from dairy cows (n=6) via naturally contaminated feed (hay and silage grass). Three bovines were slaughtered on day 28. The remaining animals were further monitored after the intake of contaminated feed was stopped. The daily intake of PFOS varied between 3.1 and 5.6 mg/d over the whole 28-day intake period. The model calculations show that the concentration in milk increases further after the intake of contaminated feed is stopped and, depending on the milk production, only reaches equilibrium after 4.5 (12.5 litres of milk/d); 3 (25 l/d) or 2 months (50 l/d). The corresponding concentrations in milk were respectively 240, 120 and 60 µg/l. Based on an intake of 3 mg/d and an

average milk production of 25I/d, we calculate a BTF_{milk} of 0.04 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ (30 days after intake of contaminated feed was stopped (Table 21)).

Table 20: Concentrations of PFOS (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows (Vestergren *et al.*, 2013)

	number of samples	PFOS concentration
intake media		
water	6	0.073 ± 0.014 (ng/l)
ensiled fodder	6	6.3 ± 2.1 (ng/kg)
barley	6	3.9 ± 1.7 (ng/kg)
tissue (bovine)		
liver	5	130 ± 32 (ng/kg)
blood	5	110 ± 19 (ng/kg)
muscle	5	110 ± 19 (ng/kg)
excretion media		
urine	10	3.6 ± 1.5 (ng/l)
faeces	10	<lod (ng="" kg)<="" td=""></lod>
milk	6	6.2 ± 1.1 (ng/l)

Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) carried out a controlled feeding study on 6 dairy cattle divided into two groups, the first group being slaughtered after 29 days of exposure to PFAA contaminated feed, while the second group was put on a non-contaminated control diet for an additional 21 days. The feed consisted of hay and silage from farmland enriched with PFAA by the use of fertilisers and herbicides. The daily intake of PFOS (hay and silage grass) is estimated at 1172.39 μ g/d. The concentrations after 29 days in milk, muscle, liver and kidney were respectively 9.06 μ g/l, 145 μ g/kg fw, 2952 μ g/kg fw and 1074 μ g/kg fw. After stopping the intake of contaminated feed, these values increased to respectively 33.09 μ g/l, 178 μ g/kg fw, 3964 μ g/kg fw and 1408 μ g/kg fw. The BTF for both periods which we calculate on the basis of these concentrations in feed and milk or tissues are shown in Figure 7. The figure shows that an equilibrium has not yet been reached after 29 days when the supply of PFOS-contaminated feed stops. The BTF value after 50 days and the average value that we calculate on the basis of both periods are summarised in Table 21.



Figure 7: BTF (mg/kg fw)/(mg/d) in milk, muscle, liver and kidney in dairy cattle after 29 and 50 days (feeding with contaminated feed stops after 29 days), based on data from Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013).

Table 21: BTF values (mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOS derived from available literature data.

	Vestergren et al., 2013 ⁽¹⁾	van Asselt et al., 2013 ⁽¹⁾	Kowalczyk et al 2013 ⁽¹⁾ (day 29 (average)	Kowalczyk et al 2012 ⁽²⁾
BTF _{milk}	0.021	0.040	0.028 (0.018)	0.076
BTF _{muscle}	0.071		0.152 (0.138)	0.387
BTF _{liver}	0.441		3.381 (2.950)	12.920
BTFkidney			1.201 (1.058)	3.153

(1) Bovines; (2) sheep

Sheep

The transfer of PFOS through feed to sheep was studied by Kowalczyk *et al.* (2012). The authors describe a 21-day controlled feed study on sheep (n = 3 including 1 control). The animals were fed PFAA (perfluoroalkylic acid)-contaminated silage (maize). The intake of PFOS was estimated at 58.3 and 90.7 μ g/d for sheep 1 and sheep 2. The average concentration in milk during the 21 days was 3.4 and 8.9 mg/l for sheep 1 and 2 respectively. On the basis of these data, we calculate an average BTF_{milk} for both sheep of 0.076 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹. This value, together with the BTF values for muscle, liver and kidney, was included in Table 21. It was shown in the study by Kowalczyk *et al.* (2012) that there is a significant correlation between PFOS concentrations in blood plasma and milk (r² = 0.63). The duration of this study is 21 days, which may underestimate the potential for PFOS as it has been shown in bovines that concentrations in milk continue to increase after the intake of contaminated feed has stopped, as milk is a major elimination route for PFOS.

Chickens

In connection with the transfer of PFOS from feed to chickens and more specifically to eggs, our search resulted in 3 studies, i.e. Yoo et al. (2009), Yeung et al. (2009) and Hanell (2015). Only the latter publication reports paired data in chicken feed and eggs but does not indicate a daily intake which makes it impossible to calculate BTF_{egg} .

Conclusions

Our literature review covered 3 publications that inventorise the transfer of PFOS in feed to bovines, namely Vestergren *et al.* (2013), van Asselt *et al.* (2013)) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013). Originally, the calculation was made with a BTF calculated as average log BTF values of Vestergren *et al.* (2013), van Asselt *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013), van Asselt *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013).

Table 22: Average BTF values (mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹) for bovines from Vestergren *et al.* (2013), van Asselt *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013)

	average
	value
BTF _{milk}	0.023
BTF_{muscle}	0.099
BTF _{liver}	1.135
BTFkidney	1.050

However, this decision was subsequently revised, see also Table 23. The BTF_{milk} derived in van Asselt et al. (2013) is not retained for the final calculation as it is based on PBPK modelling. Furthermore, it was also decided not to use the BTF values from Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) for the determination of the final BTF values of PFOS because, on the one hand, very high concentrations of PFOS are administered in feed and, on the other hand, no equilibrium concentration was established at the end of the study. Based on this, the BTF values from Vestergren *et al.* (2013) are proposed for the derivation of soil remediation values of PFOS. The missing value for kidney in Vestergren *et al.* (2013) is supplemented with the value for day 50 from Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013). The values for bovines are summarised in Table 23.

For comparison, the most recent RIVM report (Wintersen et al., 2019) also uses the BTF values from Vestergren et al. (2013). The study by Kowalczyk et al. (2013) was taken into consideration but was not retained, as the values derived from it are based on studies in which significantly higher concentrations of PFAS were administered.

Table 23: Average BTF values (mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹) for bovines from Vestergren *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013)

BTF value
0.021
0.071
0.441
1.201 ⁽¹⁾

(1) Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013)

For sheep we use, for milk and muscle, BTF values of respectively BTF_{milk} of 0.76 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ and BTF_{muscle} of 0.387 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ (Kowalczyk et al. , 2012). The values for liver and kidney are respectively BTF_{liver} of 12.92 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ and BTF_{kidney} of 3.15 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹.

2.7. TOXICOLOGY

2.7.1. INTRODUCTION

The overview of the toxicology of PFOS is mainly based on the review reports of CONCAWE (2016); OVAM (2018), EFSA (2008b), EFSA (2018c), ATSDR draft (2018), US-EPA (2016c), FSANZ (2016) and Pancras *et al.* (2018). The toxicokinetics and toxicology of PFOS are first discussed. A summary of the available toxicological reference values is given in section 2.7.4. A proposal for the toxicological reference values to be used for deriving soil remediation values is set out in section 2.7.5. Based on the physicochemical properties of PFAS, exposure via intake of food and drinking water is highly likely. PFAS is also measured in air and dust, meaning that inhaled air, dust ingestion or dermal contact with dust or aerosols may also be possible routes of exposure.

2.7.2. TOXICOKINETICS

ightarrow Absorption after oral intake

PFOS is easily absorbed after oral intake (PHE, 2009). In an oral rat study by 3M, ¹⁴C-PFOS was administered to male rats in an average dose of 4.3 mg/kg bw/d. Within 48 hours, 5% of the radioactivity was found in the faeces and gastrointestinal tract. The researchers concluded that 95% of the radioactivity was absorbed. In addition, 86% of the administered radioactivity was found in the carcasses (after 24 and 48 hours) and traces of radioactivity in the urine (1-2% per day); no radioactivity was measured in the spleen and erythrocytes (Johnson *et al.*, 1979). For deriving soil remediation values, the oral absorption factor is equated by default to 1 (Cornelis *et al.*, 2012)

\rightarrow Absorption after inhalation

In 2000, the average concentration of PFOS in serum of 215 workers from the production of fluorinated chemicals (including 3M in Antwerp) was 1400 ng/ml (Olsen *et al.*, 2007b), while the average concentration of 645 blood donors to the Red Cross in the USA in the same year was 34.9 ng/ml (Olsen *et al.*, 2003). A higher concentration among workers than among the population may indicate a significant contribution from inhaled PFOS. Occupational exposure is likely to include the inhalation of aerosols whereby PFOS forms complexes with the airborne particles (ATSDR draft, 2018). Inhalation of soil particles is insignificant (Xiao *et al.*, 2015).

In accordance with Cornelis *et al.* (2012) we assume that absorption by inhalation and by the oral route is the same for both routes, i.e. 95%.

\rightarrow Absorption after dermal contact

After administration of one-time low doses of K-PFOS (up to 0.30 mg/kg) and the diethanolamine salt of PFOS (up tp 20 μ g/kg) on the clipped, intact skin of rabbits, no elevated fluorine level was measured in the liver after 28 days (Johnson, 1995a; b). This indicates that dermal absorption of PFOS at low doses is not detectable.

Dermal absorption from soil particles is insignificant compared to exposure via oral intake of soil and dust (Cornelis *et al.*, 2012; Xiao *et al.*, 2015). For deriving soil remediation values **the dermal absorption factor from soil and dust is therefore set to 0**.

Dermal absorption from water is driven by the permeability coefficient (Kp, expressed in cm/h). There are no data for the Kp of PFOS. Washburn *et al.* (2005) mentioned a measured average Kp of $9.5.10^{-7}$ cm/h for the anion (ammonium perfluorooctanoate, AFPO) of PFOA; absorption through the skin may therefore be considered low. The calculated Kp of PFOS is 0.0362 cm/h (EpiSuite DermWin). The Kp for organic substances is calculated in Dermwin from the log K_{ow}; for PFOS a log K_{ow} of 6.28 was used for the calculation. The calculated Kp for PFOA is higher (0.144 cm/h). As such, using the measured Kp of APFO for PFOS is probably not an underestimation of the dermal absorption via water.

We propose using the measured **Kp of 9.5.10⁻⁷ cm/h** of APFO for deriving soil remediation values for **dermal absorption of PFOS from water**.

\rightarrow Distribution

Unlike most other persistent organic pollutants (POPs), PFOS has a low affinity for fats. PFOS binds to proteins located on the surface of cell membranes. In the liver of rats, PFOS binds to the fatty acidbinding protein (L-FABP) which would contribute to the high retention of PFOS in the liver (Luebker *et al.*, 2002). PFOS can accumulate in various organs, especially those with high blood flow (DEPA, 2015).

The highest concentrations are usually found in blood, liver, kidneys, lungs, spleen and bone marrow. Low concentrations occur in the heart, testes, fat, brain and muscles. Among the population, the PFOS concentrations in blood are between sub-ppb and 100 ppb levels (Loganathan & Kwan-Sing Lam, 2011). Median serum concentrations for Belgium, measured between 1998 and 2000, are 10.4 ng/ml for women and 17.6 ng/ml for men (Kannan & al., 2009). The median PFOS serum concentrations were also higher in men (43 ng/ml) than in women (24 ng/ml) in a study conducted on 56 coastal populations in northern Norway (Rylander *et al.*, 2009).

PFOS can migrate through the placenta in both humans and animals, and is found in breast milk (Stahl *et al.*, 2011).

\rightarrow Metabolisation

PFOS does not undergo any significant metabolisation and therefore accumulates in the body (Stahl *et al.,* 2011).

$\rightarrow \text{Clearance}$

PFOS is only eliminated very slowly from the human body; the half-life measured in serum in the general public in England is 9 years (PHE, 2009) and among retired workers from the fluorine chemical industry in the USA it is 5.4 years (Olsen *et al.*, 2007a). Half-lifes for animals are 132 and 110 days for male and female Java monkeys (Macaca fascicularis) respectively (Noker & Gorman, 2003), 200 days for Java monkeys (males and females) (Seacat *et al.*, 2002), 4 months for monkeys and 1 to 2 months for rodents (Chang *et al.*, 2012). Clearance seems to vary with the type of organism (e.g. shorter half-life for rodents than for monkeys) and with sex; the reason for this is not clear (CONCAWE, 2016). Clearance in rats is primarily via the kidneys and to a lesser extent via faecal

excretion, while in humans clearance via the kidneys appears to be negligible (EFSA, 2008b). Estimated half-life for humans is about 5 years (EFSA, 2018c).

2.7.3. EFFECTS ON TEST ANIMALS AND HUMANS

\rightarrow Acute toxicity

At the global level, criteria have been laid down for classifying substances as hazardous. Within the European Union (EU), these criteria are included in Regulation No 1272/2008 on classification, labelling and packaging (CLP) (EC, 2008). For a number of substances, the hazard classification is laid down in law at EU level, these are the so-called harmonised classifications; they are listed in Annex VI of CLP. PFOS has a harmonised classification; for acute toxicity the classification is: acutely harmful if inhaled or swallowed (Acute Tox. 4). PFOS is mildly irritating to the eyes but not to the skin (OECD, 2002).

The acute LC50, rat for PFOS in air is 5.2 mg/l, after 1 hour exposure (Rusch *et al.*, 1979); acute exposure of rats to 1.9 to 4.6 mg/l PFOS in air led to the following symptoms: signs of emaciation, snotting, discoloured urogenital area, respiratory disturbance and poor general condition (OECD, 2002).

The acute oral LD50, rat is 250 mg/kg bw, the symptoms are hypoactivity, discoloured urogenital zone, decreased tone in the limbs and ataxia (disorder between the motor nervous system and the muscles), swelling of the stomach, and lung congestion (3M-Company, 1999). According to PHE (2009) PFOS appears to cause moderate eye and skin irritation.

There is no known data on acute toxicity in humans following exposure via inhalation, oral ingestion, or dermal or ocular contact (PHE, 2009).

ightarrow Subacute and sub-chronic toxicity

An overview of No (Lowest)-Effect-Concentrations (N(L)OEC) from a number of subacute and (sub)chronic animal studies is given in Table 24.

In a 90 d sub-chronic study, rats were given 0, 30, 100, 300, 1000, or 3000 mg PFOS/kg feed (0, 2, 6, 18, 60, or 200 mg/kg bw/d). In the 100 mg/kg group and above, body weight was lower than that of the control group, and all animals died before the end of the study. In the 300 mg/kg dosed group, all rats showed centrolobular to midzonal hypertrophy of liver cells and focal necrosis of the liver. A whole range of biochemical parameters (including glucose, urea nitrogen, creatinine phosphokinase and other enzymes, haematocrit and haemoglobin) were disrupted in all groups. The lowest dose (2 mg/kg bw/d) is therefore considered to be the LOAEL (Goldenthal *et al.*, 1978). In a 28-day oral study with rats, the LOAEL of 5 mg/kg bw/d was based on a reduction in body weight (Cui *et al.*, 2009).

Seacat *et al.* (2003) fed PFOS to rats at doses of 0, 0.5, 2.0, 5.0, and 20 mg/kg feed (0.0.05, 0.2, 0.4, and 1.5 mg/kg bw/d). The highest dose of 1.5 mg/kg bw/d was considered to be the LOAEL. After 14 weeks, male rats in this dose group showed increased absolute and relative liver weight, lowered cholesterol and increased urea nitrogen in the blood; female rats of the group receiving the highest dose showed increased relative liver weight and increased urea nitrogen in the blood. The dose of 0.4 mg/kg bw/d was considered to be the NOAEL.

In a study with Java monkeys, the animals received 0, 0.03, 0.15 and 0.75 mg K-PFOS/kg bw/d via oral intubation for 183 days (Seacat *et al.*, 2002). In the group with the highest dose, 2 out of 6 male monkeys died as a result of the administration, and the other animals had lower body weight and total cholesterol, increased liver weight and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels, among other

things, and lowered estradiol levels in the male monkeys. Changes in thyroid hormones and in highdensity lipids were measured in the 0.15 mg/bw/d dose group. Contrary to the authors, the EFSA scientific panel is of the opinion that these changes are dose-related; EFSA therefore considers 0.03 mg/kg bw/d to be the NOAEL (EFSA, 2008b).

ightarrow Chronic studies and carcinogenicity

Epidemiological studies with workers with work-related exposure to PFOS have not provided convincing evidence of an increased risk of cancer (EFSA, 2008b). Studies on the general public (with no work-related exposure to PFAS) have also not shown a direct correlation between PFOS exposure and cancer (US-EPA (2014) in CONCAWE (2016)).

Thomford (2002) conducted a study in which rats were given 0.5, 2, 5 or 20 mg PFOS/kg feed (0.04, 0.14, 0.36 and 1.42 mg/kg bw/d) over a 104-week period. Liver toxicity, characterised by significant increases in centrolobular hypertrophy, centrolobular eosinophilic granules, pigment and vacuolisation in liver cells, was observed in male and female rats of the groups with the two highest doses (0.36 and 1.42 mg/kg bw/d). Male rats administered 0.14 mg/kg bw/d also showed a significant increase in hepatocellular, centrolobular hypertrophy. Based partly on electron microscopic examination of the liver, the NOAEL for liver effects (not neoplastic) was set at 0.14 mg/kg bw/d. (EFSA, 2008b). Several studies show that PFOS interferes with fatty acid metabolism and lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, but the mechanism leading to liver toxicity in rodents and monkeys is not yet fully understood; one of the possible mechanisms is that PFOS competes with fatty acids, inter alia, to bind to the important fatty acid transport protein of the liver (Luebker *et al.*, 2002) and thus contributes to liver toxicity; this mechanism could also explain the lower levels of cholesterol.

A positive correlation was determined between the exposure and the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma in both males and females of the group with the highest dose (1.42 mg/kg bw/d) (Thomford (2002) in US-EPA (2014)). According to the EFSA panel, the evidence for the induction of thyroid and breast tumours is limited (EFSA, 2008b). In a similar study, hepatocellular adenomas were also observed in male and female animals. A hepatocellular carcinoma was observed only in the group of female rats given a dose of 20 ppm. There were no significant effects on the kidneys or bladder (Butenhoff *et al.*, 2012).

PFOS has a harmonised CLP classification as 'Suspected of causing cancer' (Carc. Category 2) (EC, 2008). US-EPA (2014) concludes that the evidence of carcinogenicity is 'suggestive' but not 'definitive', as the tumour incidence does not indicate a dose-response relationship. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has not classified PFOS for carcinogenicity. Stahl *et al.* (2011) conclude that a genotoxic mechanism cannot be presumed, and that it is a question of whether it is not actually a secondary effect promoting tumour formation or an epigenetic¹² effect.

ightarrow Genotoxic effects

K-PFOS was negative in the reverse mutation test with *Salmonella typhimurium* (Ames test) and in a mitotic-recombination test with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Litton Bionetics, 1978). PFOS was negative in the *Salmonella-Escherichia coli* reverse mutation test with and without metabolic activation (S9) up to 5000 μ g/plate (Mecchi, 1999). It did not induce any chromosome aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes, nor any unscheduled DNA synthesis (UDS) in primary cultured liver

¹² reversible hereditary changes in gene function without changes in the sequence (of base pairs) of DNA (Wikipedia)

cells of the rat up to 4000 μ g/ml (Cifone, 1999). PFOS was also negative in the *in vivo* micronucleus test in bone marrow of mice after a single dose of 237.5, 450 and 950 mg/kg bw (Corning Hazleton, 1993).

Precursors including N-ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamido ethanol (N-EtFOSE), N-ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamide N-EtFOSA), N-ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamido ethanol (NMeFOSE), N-methyl perfluorooctane sulfonamide (N-MeFOSA) and potassium N-ethyl-N((hepatodecafluoroctyl)-sulfonyl) glycinate (PFOSAA) were also tested and found negative in various *in vitro* and *in vivo* tests (EFSA, 2008b).

Based on the negative result in a whole range of *in vitro* and *in vivo* short-term studies, genotoxicity does not appear to be a property of PFOS or its salts (EFSA, 2008b).

ightarrow Development and reproduction toxicity

Apelberg *et al.* (2007) investigated the association between PFOS concentrations in umbilical cord blood and gestational age, birth weight and height in 293 individual births from November 2004 to March 2005 in Baltimore (USA). PFOS was found in >99% of umbilical cord blood samples, with a median concentration of 5 ng/ml (<0.2-34.8 ng/ml). PFOS was significantly associated with small decreases in body weight and size, but not with birth length or gestational age. The concentrations of PFOS in umbilical cord blood were strongly correlated with those of PFOA. A Danish cohort study suggests that the association may be linked to PFOA rather than PFOS. In a cohort of 1400 women who gave birth between March 1996 and November 2002, the mean PFOS concentration in maternal plasma was 35.3 ng/ml (6.4-106.7 ng/ml) and in umbilical cord blood was 11±4.7 ng/ml (n=50). The plasma concentrations of the mothers showed no consistent association with birth weight at gestational age (Fei *et al.*, 2007).

Rat and mouse studies in which the animals were fed PFOS via a tube during pregnancy indicate that PFOS severely disrupts the postnatal survival of newborn rats and mice, and causes retardation in growth and development, which are associated with hypothyroxinemia (an abnormally low level of thyroxin, a thyroid hormone that regulates cell metabolism and growth, in the blood) in the surviving newborn animals. Rats were given PFOS doses of 1, 2, 3, 5 and 10 mg/kg bw/d during gestation days 2 to 21. Weight gain in the mothers was significant and reduced in a dose-related manner at 2 mg/kg bw and above. The T4 and T3 content in the maternal serum was reduced in all groups. At 3 mg/kg bw/d, 50% of the offspring died; at 5 mg/kg bw/d, 95% died 24 hours after birth. The maternal dose corresponding to the BMDL5¹³ for the survival of the offspring on the eighth day after birth is 0.58 mg/kg, the NOAEL for development is 1 mg/kg (Lau *et al.*, 2003).

Luebker *et al.* (2005b) gave K-PFOS to female rats via tube feeding for 6 weeks before mating, during pregnancy and up to day 4 of lactation (total 62-67 days), in doses of 0, 0.4, 0.8, 1.0, 1.2, 1.6 and 2.0 mg/kg bw/d. Significant decreases in the length of pregnancy and in the viability of the offspring were observed from 0.8 mg/kg bw/d. An interval of BMDL5 values of 0.27 to 0.89 mg/kg bw/d was calculated for these effects. Luebker *et al.* (2005a) gave PFOS to male and female rats for 84 days (6 weeks before mating and during pregnancy) at doses of 0, 0.1, 0.4, 1.6 and 3.2 mg/kg bw/d. A late opening of the eyes in F1 young and a transient decrease in body weight of F2 young during lactation was observed at 0.4 mg/kg bw/d (LOAEL). The NOAEL for the late opening of the eyes was 0.1 mg/kg bw/d (Luebker *et al.*, 2005a).

Case *et al.* (2001) administered PFOS to pregnant New Zealand white rabbits via tube feeding at concentrations of 0.1, 1.0, 2.5 and 3.75 mg/kg bw per day from day 6 to day 20 of pregnancy. At the

¹³ lower limit of the 95% confidence interval on the benchmark dose for a 5% increase in response above background incidence

two highest doses the birth weight was reduced and the ossification of the offspring was retarded. The NOAEL and LOAEL were 0.1 and 1.0 mg/kg bw/d for maternal toxicity (reduced weight gain) and 1.0 and 2.5 mg/kg bw/d for foetal toxicity, respectively.

A reproduction toxicity study over two generations in rats showed high susceptibility to PFOS (Christian *et al.*, 1999). PFOS was administered by tube at doses of 0, 0.1, 0.4, 1.6, and 3.2 mg/kg bw/d for 42 days before mating, and also in females during pregnancy and lactation. The length of pregnancy was significantly shorter at the highest dose. Lower birth weight and reduced survival was observed in the F1 generation at the highest doses of 1.6 and 3.2 mg/kg bw/d with respective mortality rates of 26% after 4 days and 45% after 1 day (and 100% thereafter). In the F2 generation of the group that had received a dose of 0.4 mg/kg bw/d, the birth weight was reduced (LOAEL). No other signs of toxicity were reported. The NOAEL was 0.1 mg/kg bw/d.

Grasty *et al.* (2003) investigated what the critical period is for prenatal exposure to PFOS by administering K-PFOS salt to pregnant rats at a dose of 25 or 50 mg/kg bw on the following gestation days: 2-5, 6-9, 10-13, 14-17 or 17-20, and at a dose of 25 mg/kg bw on gestation days 19-20. Neonatal mortality occurred in all groups, but the incidence increased as exposure occurred at a later point in the pregnancy, reaching 100% from the 17th to the 20th day. The late period in the pregnancy appears to be a highly vulnerable period.

PFOS has a harmonised CLP classification for reproduction with hazard statements: 'May damage the unborn child' (Rep. 1B) and 'May cause harm to breast-fed children' (EC, 2008).

\rightarrow Neurotoxicity

Changes in levels of thyroid hormones can affect the development of the brain and consequently affect the behaviour of the offspring. Prenatal exposure to PFOS did not affect learning behaviour and memory, but significant shortcomings were observed in the development patterns of choline acetyltransferase activity (an enzyme sensitive to thyroid hormone status) in rats with a LOAEL of 1 mg/kg bw/d (Lau *et al.*, 2003).

Administration of PFOS to 10 days old mice via gastric intubation at a dose of 0.75 or 11.3 mg/kg bw resulted in poorer performance in behavioural tests when the mice were 2 to 4 months old. There were no visible signs of clinical toxicity. According to the authors, the response was mediated through the cholinergic system (which stimulates the neurotransmitter acetylcholine) (Johansson *et al.*, 2008). In the reproduction toxicity study over two generations by Christian *et al.* (1999) temporary retardations in reflex development were observed in the F1 generation, which may indicate possible neurotoxicity of PFOS (Christian *et al.*, 1999).

Butenhoff *et al.* (2002) investigated functional and morphological changes in the nervous system of rats administered PFOS during pregnancy and lactation. Female rats were given an oral dose of 0, 0.1, 0.3 or 1.0 mg K-PFOS/kg/d on a daily basis throughout pregnancy until the 20th day after giving birth. The offspring were examined for growth, development, motor activity, learning and memory, acoustic shock reflex, various manifestations of behaviour, and brain weight until day 72 after birth. Male offspring of mothers who were given 1.0 mg K-PFOS/kg bw/d showed increased motor activity and reduced habituation on the 17th (but not on the 13th, 21st and 61st) day after delivery. As such, the NOAEL for neurotoxicity is 0.3 mg/kg/d.

\rightarrow Immunotoxicity

Adult mice were exposed to 0, 0.166, 1.66, 3.3, 16.6, 33 and 166 μ g PFOS/kg bw/d daily via oral probe feeding for 28 days. Five days before euthanasia, they were immunised with a suspension of 25% sheep red blood cell (SRBC) via intraperitoneal injection. At the end of the study, lysosome activity

and PFOS concentrations were measured. There were no clinical symptoms of toxicity. Production of SRBC-specific immunoglobulin M was significantly suppressed in both sexes, whereby the males were more sensitive than the females, at doses \geq 1.66 µg/kg bw/d (male mice) and \geq 16.6 µg/kg bw/d (female mice). The NOAEL was 0.166 µg/kg bw/d, which is equivalent to a measured serum concentration of 17.8 ng/ml (Peden-Adams *et al.*, 2008).

Animal	Administration	Duration of exposure	Parameter	Value	Effects	Reference	
Rat	Inhalation	1 hour	LC50	5.2 mg/l	lethality	Rusch <i>et al.</i> (1979)	
Rat	Inhalation	Acute	-	1.9 tot 4.6 mg/l	emaciation, snotting, discoloured urogenital area, disrupted breathing, poor general condition	OECD (2002)	
Rat	Oral	Acute	LD50	250 mg/kg	hypoactivity, discoloured urogenital area, reduced muscle tone, ataxia, swelling of the stomach, lung congestion	3M-Company (1999)	
Rat	Tube feeding	28 days	LOAEL	5 mg/kg bw/d	Decrease in body weight	Cui <i>et al.</i> (2009)	
Rat	Feed	90 days	LOAEL	2 mg/kg bw/d	Liver, biochemical blood parameters, lower body weight, lethality	Goldenthal <i>et al.</i> (1978)	
Rat	Feed	eed 14 weeks	NOAEL	0.4 mg/kg bw/d	Liver weight, lower cholesterol, increased urea-N	Seacat <i>et al.</i> (2003)	
			LOAEL	1.5 mg/kg bw/d			
Java monkey	Oral intubation	6 months	NOAEL	0.03 mg/kg bw/d	Contents of thyroid hormones, estradiol and lipids, lower body	Seacat <i>et al.</i> (2002)	
			LOAEL	0.15 mg/kg bw/d	weight and cholesterol, lethality		
Rat	Feed	104 weeks	NOAEL	0.14 mg/kg bw/d	Liver (e.g. hypertrophy, vacuolisation)	Thomford (2002)	
			LOAEL	0.36 mg/kg bw/d			
			-	1.42 mg/kg bw/d	hepatocellular adenoma	1	

Table 24: (Sub)acute and (sub)chronic animal studies with PFOS (sources: CONCAWE (2016), EFSA (2008b))

Rat	Feed	104 weeks	-	20 ppm in feed	hepatocellular carcinoma	Butenhoff <i>et al.</i> (2012)	
Rat	Tube feeding	Day 2 to 21 of the	BMDL5	0.58 mg/kg bw/d	Viability of the young	Lau <i>et al.</i> (2003)	
		pregnancy	NOAEL	1 mg/kg bw/d	Development	Lau <i>et al.</i> (2003)	
	LOAEL 1 mg/kg bw/d D dr		Developmental neurotoxicity due to reduced levels of thyroid hormone in maternal serum				
		LOAEL 2 mg/kg bw/d Maternal body weight		Maternal body weight			
Rat, female	Tube feeding	6 weeks before, during and 4 days after pregnancy	BMDL5	0.27 to 0.89 mg/kg bw/d	decrease in the length of pregnancy and the viability of the offspring	Luebker <i>et al.</i> (2005b)	
Rat	Tube feeding	7 weeks before mating; for females: also during	NOAEL -	0.1 mg/kg bw/d 1.6 and 3.2 mg/kg bw/d	No signs of toxicity F1 generation: lower birth weight and reduced survival	Christian <i>et al.</i> (1999)	
		pregnancy and lactation	LOAEL	0.4 mg/kg bw/d	F2 generation: reduced birth weight		
Mice, 10 days old	Stomach intubation			0.75 and 11.3 mg/kg bw	poorer performance in behavioural tests (mice 2 to 4 months old)	Johansson <i>et al.</i> (2008).	
Rat	Tube feeding,	Pregnancy and 20 days thereafter	NOAEL	0.3 mg/kg bw/d	Male offspring: motor activity and habituation	Butenhoff <i>et al.</i> (2002)	
			LOAEL	1.0 mg/kg bw/d			
Rabbit	Tube feeding	Day 6 to 20 of the pregnancy	NOAEL:	0.1 mg/kg/d (maternal) 1 mg/kg/d (foetal)	Maternal and foetal developmental toxicity	Case <i>et al.</i> (2001)	
			LOAEL:	1 mg/kg bw/d (maternal) 2.5 mg/kg bw/d (foetal)			

2.7.4. SUMMARY OF THE AVAILABLE TOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES

A summary of the toxicological assessment values derived for PFOS by various bodies is given in Table 26.

\rightarrow Oral - non-carcinogenic

EFSA

In 2008, the CONTAM (Contaminants in the food chain) panel of EFSA derived a TDI for PFOS of **150 ng/kg bw/d** (EFSA, 2008b). This TDI is based on the NOAEL of 0.03 mg/kg bw/d from a sub-chronic study with Java monkeys, in which a decrease in total cholesterol in serum and high-density lipoproteins, an increased content of thyroid stimulant hormone (TSH) and a reduced concentration of triiodothyronine (T3) were all observed, at the next higher dose of 0.15 mg/kg bw/d (Seacat *et al.*, 2002). The NOEAL was associated in females with a plasma concentration of 13.2 μ g/ml at the end of the exposure period (day 183). Since the estimated half-life for PFOS in monkeys is 200 days, this internal dose cannot be considered steady-state.

An uncertainty factor of 200 was applied to the NOAEL of 0.03 mg/kg bw/d, composed of 100 for inter- and intraspecies variability, and 2 for uncertainties related to the relatively short duration of the test and the elimination kinetics of the internal dose.

In a scientific opinion from 2018, EFSA published a preliminary¹⁴ oral guideline value for PFOS (EFSA, 2018c). The derivation of the Health Based Guideline Value (HBGV) is based on epidemiological studies which were not yet available in 2008; EFSA identified increases in total cholesterol levels in adults and decreases in response with antibodies in childhood vaccination as critical effects. With regard to the latter effect, following a systematic review of the immunotoxicity associated with exposure to PFOS and PFOA, the NTP (National Toxicology Program) concluded that these substances indeed pose a risk to the human immune system, in particular by suppressing the response with antibodies (NTP, 2016).

For adult serum cholesterol, EFSA used benchmark dose (BMD) modelling for a 5% increase in total cholesterol, for three studies with more than 400 subjects and with results published as quantiles (Steenland *et al.*, 2009; Nelson *et al.*, 2010; Eriksen *et al.*, 2013). An overview of the BMD analysis is given in Table 25.

The three studies give very similar BMDL5 values, i.e. 21-25 ng/ml plasma, which corresponds to an estimated chronic daily intake of 1.7-2.0 (median 1.8) ng/kg bw/day according to a human PBPK model (EFSA, 2018c). For children, the lowest BMDL5 for response with antibodies after vaccination is 10.5 ng/ml. This value is calculated on the basis of an intake by the mother of 1.8 ng/kg bw/day and a period of 6 months with only breastfeeding. For a third critical endpoint, i.e. lower birth weight, the BMDL5 (21 ng/ml) was about the same as for elevated cholesterol. The CONTAM panel considered the three endpoints as critical endpoints and considered that these human studies provided sufficient evidence to derive a health-based guideline value; the reference values for the

¹⁴ Due to the nature of the scientific uncertainties described in this opinion and in the minutes of the expert meeting of 24 September 2018 (EFSA/CONTAM/3503) (https://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/news/efsa-contam-3503.pdf), and the possible application of the forthcoming Scientific Committee guidance on combined exposure to multiple chemicals, the conclusions of this assessment will be reviewed in parallel with the finalisation of the EFSA scientific opinion on The risks to human health related to the presence in food of perfluoroalkylated substances other than PFOS and PFOA (EFSA-Q-2017-00549). The indicative timeline for this is December 2019. Until such time, the conclusions and derived tolerable weekly intakes shall be considered provisional.

different endpoints in the studies range from 1.7 to 2.0 ng/kg bw/day; the mean value is 1.84. EFSA rounds off this value to **1.8 ng/kg bw/day** (Table 25); this value is therefore proposed by EFSA as a possible new TDI for PFOS. No additional safety factor was applied, as the BMD modelling is based on large epidemiological studies of the general population, including potentially sensitive groups.

Human endpoint	BMD5 (ng/ml)	BMDL5 (ng/ml)	Intake via food* (ng/kg bw/d)	Number of persons (cohort)	Type data	Model	Reference
Total cholesterol	27	25	2.0	46,294**	deciles	Log normally cumulative	Steenland et al. (2009)
	31	22	1.8	753 (Danish cohort 1996-2002)	octiles	Linear square root	Eriksen <i>et al.</i> (2013)
	31	21	1.7	860 (NHANES) ¹⁵	quartiles	Exponential	Nelson <i>et al.</i> (2010)
Response to vaccination (children)	11.6	10.5	1.8	413 (Faroese, birth cohort 1997-2002)	deciles	Logarithmic	Grandjean (2012)
Birth weight	36	21	1.9	901 (Norwegian birth cohort)	quartiles	Logarithmic	Whitworth <i>et al.</i> (2012)

Table 25: Overview of the BMD analysis (EFSA, 2018c)

* estimated value, corresponding to the BMDL5 of a PBPK model (rounded numbers)

** local residents (age \geq 18 years) who drank water contaminated with PFOS from a perfluoropolymer producing chemical plant in West Virginia for at least 1 year.

Taking into account the long half-life of PFOS, a Tolerable Weekly Intake (TWI) of 13 ng/kg bw per week (7*1.8 = 12.6 and rounded off to 13) was determined.

A new EFSA risk assessment, which was published after the finalisation of this report, includes a tolerable weekly intake (TWI) based on epidemiological data to specifically protect infants. The TWI calculated as the sum of PFOA+PFNA+PFHxS+PFOS (which contribute most to human exposure) is 4.4 ng/kg bw/week. Effects on the immune system were considered the most critical endpoint for the risk assessment. Equal potencies were assumed for the four PFASs (EFSA CONTAM Panel *et al.*, 2020).

The Netherlands

RIVM used the TDI of 150 ng/kg bw/day derived by EFSA in 2008 to derive, for instance, a drinking water limit.

In March 2019, RIVM published a memorandum advising on the new risk limits for a.o. PFOS for soil and groundwater 'for purpose of a temporary framework for the application of soil and dredged material on or in the soil' (RIVM, 2019). The human reference value used to cover the human risk is a toxicological maximum tolerable risk level of 0.00625 μ g/kg bw/d; this value was calculated from a health-based guidance value for PFOA of 12.5 ng/kg bw/d (Zeilmaker & Janssen, 2016) and a relative potency factor of 2 (Zeilmaker *et al.*, 2018). RIVM did not use the provisional TDI of EFSA (2018) as RIVM (and several other European scientific institutes) raised substantive objections to the evaluation by EFSA. RIVM recognises that the current evaluation by EFSA may lead to a possible tightening of the human risk limit.

¹⁵ National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (USA)

Great Britain

In 2006, UKCOT¹⁶ derived a provisional TDI of **300 ng/kg bw/d**. This was based on the NOAEL of 0.03 mg/kg bw/d for reduced serum concentrations of triiodothyronine in Java monkeys after 6 months exposure (Seacat *et al.*, 2002). The uncertainty factor was 100 (for inter- and intraspecies variability). In 2009, UKCOT confirmed the TDI of 300 ng/kg bw/d for PFOS (FSANZ, 2016).

Denmark

In 2015, Denmark derived a TDI of **30 ng/kg bw/d**, based on developmental toxicity and increased liver weight in rats as the most critical endpoints (DEPA, 2015). The basis for the TDI is the BMDL₁₀ of 0.033 mg/kg bw/d which US-EPA (2014) (see below) derived from the chronic rat study by Thomford (2002). The uncertainty factor for interspecies differences consists of a substance specific factor of 41 for pharmacokinetic differences based on clearance rate for serum (CL)¹⁷, and a general uncertainty factor of 3 for pharmacodynamic differences. The uncertainty for intraspecies variability is 10.

Germany

In 2016, the German Human Biomonitoring Commission (HBM) set a HBM I value of **5 ng/ml blood plasma** for the general population (Umweltbundesamt, 2016). The HBM I value is a concentration in a body matrix at or below which no adverse health effects are to be expected. For PFOS, the HBM I value is based on epidemiological studies and critical endpoints such as elevated cholesterol levels and disturbed immune response after vaccination. Analogy with results from animal tests increases confidence in the HBM I value of PFOS, according to the authors (Apel *et al.*, 2017).

Sweden

In a study commissioned by the Swedish government, no TDI was derived, but a safe serum concentration was (Derived no effect level (DNEL) (Borg & Håkansson, 2012). The lowest DNEL calculated was that for immunotoxicity, which is **0.12 ng/ml serum**. This value is based on a NOAEL of 17.8 ng/ml serum from the subacute study with mice by Peden-Adams *et al.* (2008) and an uncertainty factor of 150 (6 for extrapolation from subacute to chronic exposure, 2.5 for toxicodynamic differences (no factor for toxicokinetics because serum concentrations of humans and animals are compared), and 10 for intraspecies variability). The DNELs for liver and reproductive toxicity (endpoints relevant for multiple PFAS) were higher (162 and 196 ng/ml serum, respectively).

US-EPA

In 2014, US-EPA derived an RfD of 0.03 μ g/kg bw/d; this RfD, like the Danish TDI, is based on developmental toxicity and increased liver weight in rats as the most critical endpoints identified in the study by Thomford (2002) (US-EPA, 2014).

In 2016, US-EPA derived an RfD of **20 ng/kg bw/d** based on reduced birth weight in rats in the twogeneration study by Luebker *et al.* (2005b). Using a PBPK model, a human equivalent dose (HED NOAEL) was calculated of 0.00051 mg/kg/d corresponding to a NOAEL of about 30% of a steady-state concentration. An uncertainty factor of 30 was applied to this, consisting of 10 for interspecies variability and 3 for toxicodynamic differences between rat and human (US-EPA, 2016c).

ATSDR

ATSDR published a draft toxicological profile of 13 PFAS (ATSDR draft, 2018). For PFOS, an intermediate oral MRL (minimum risk level) of **2 ng/kg bw/d** is derived. The critical effect for ATSDR was late eye opening and temporary lower body weight of the F2 generation during lactation (Luebker *et al.*, 2005a). An uncertainty factor of 30 was applied to the HED (Human Equivalent Dose)

¹⁶ United Kingdom Committee on Toxicity of Chemicals in Food, Consumer Products and the Environment

¹⁷ CLrat/CLhuman = 0.0033 I/kg/d divided by 0.000081 I/kg/d
NOAEL of 0.000515 mg/kg/d, which is composed as follows: 3 for extrapolation from rat to human with adjustments for dosimetry, and 10 for intraspecies variability. In addition, a modifying factor of 10 was used because immunotoxicity might be a more sensitive endpoint than developmental toxicity (ATSDR draft, 2018).

Australia and New Zealand

In 2017, Food Standards Australia New Zeeland (FSANZ) determined a TDI for PFOS of **20 ng/kg bw/d** (FSANZ, 2017). FSANZ believes that there is insufficient epidemiological data available and therefore bases the TDI on experimental animal studies. This TDI is based on a multi-generation reproductive toxicity study in rats in which a reduced increase in body weight of mothers and offspring was observed (Luebker *et al.*, 2005b). The purity of the product used was 86.9%, prompting the CONTAM panel to question whether the effects observed and their extent are due solely to PFOS (EFSA, 2018c).

The starting point of FSANZ (2017) for the derivation of the TDI was the serum concentrations from which an HED was calculated by a PBPK model. An uncertainty factor of 30 was applied to this, consisting of 10 for interspecies variability and 3 for toxicodynamic differences between species. FSANZ (2017) also calculated HEDs and TDIs from other animal studies; these TDIs remained within one order of magnitude of the selected TDI of 20 ng/kg bw/d and were 100 and 20 ng/kg bw/d respectively for female and male rats (Thomford, 2002; Butenhoff *et al.*, 2012), 40 ng/kg bw/d for female rats (Lau *et al.*, 2003; Thibodeaux *et al.*, 2003), and 100 ng/kg bw/d for female monkeys (Seacat *et al.*, 2002).

\rightarrow Inhalation – non-carcinogenic

Compared to oral intake data, there is little data available on exposure via inhalation. The importance of this route of exposure is therefore unclear (CONCAWE, 2016).

The only inhalation study available is an acute lethality study in rats (Rusch *et al.*, 1979); no quantitative human data on inhalation are available. Consequently, there are not enough data to derive a reference concentration (RfC) (US-EPA, 2016c). ATSDR also concludes that there is insufficient data to derive a minimum risk level (MRL) for inhalation for acute, intermediate or chronic exposure (ATSDR draft, 2018).

\rightarrow Reference values for carcinogenic effects

PFOS has a harmonised CLP classification as 'Suspected of causing cancer' (Carc. Category 2) (EC, 2008). US-EPA (2014) concludes that the evidence of carcinogenicity is 'suggestive' but not 'definitive', as the tumour incidence does not indicate a dose-response relationship. In 2016, US-EPA decided that the burden of proof for cancer potential was too limited to carry out a quantitative cancer assessment (US-EPA, 2016c). IARC has not classified PFOS for carcinogenicity. The consulted sources do not provide reference values for carcinogenic effects.

Table 26: Toxicological criteria for PFOS

Body	Type value	Value	Basis	Critical effect	Study	Factors	Reference
			Oral	intake (mg/kg.d)			
EFSA	TDI	1.5.10-4	NOAEL	Decrease in total cholesterol and T3 and increase in TSH levels	Java monkeys Seacat et al. (2002)	200 (100 intra- and interspecies; 2 relatively short test duration and clearance kinetics)	EFSA (2008b)
EFSA	HBGV - draft	1.8.10-6	BMDL5	Increase in total cholesterol and decrease in response with antibodies in vaccination	Epidemiological studies: Steenland et al. (2009); Nelson et al. (2010); Eriksen et al. (2013)		EFSA (2018c)
The Netherlands	TDI	1.5.10-4	TDI taken from EFSA (2008b)				Value expected to be revised Pancras et al. (2018)
	Maximum tolerable human risk level	6.10 ⁻⁶	Health-based guideline value PFOA			2 (relative potency factor)	RIVM (2019)
United Kingdom	TDI	3.10-4	NOAEL	Decrease of the T3 content	Java monkeys	100 (intra- and interspecies)	FSANZ (2016)
Denmark	TDI	3.10 ⁻⁵	BMDL10	Developmental toxicity and increased liver weight	Rat - Thomford (2002)	1230 (interspecies: 41 pharmacokinetic	DEPA (2015)

						and 3; intraspecies	
						10)	
USA	RfD	2.10-5	HED NOAEL	Developmental toxicity	Rat -	30 (3	US-EPA
				and increased liver	Luebker et al.	toxicodynamic	(2016c)
				weight	(2005b)	and 10	
						intraspecies;)	
ATSDR	MRL - proposal	2.10-6	HED NOAEL	Young: late opening of	Rat -	300 (3 interspecies	ATSDR draft
				eyes and lower body	Luebker et al.	and dosimetry; 10	(2018)
				weight	(2005a)	intraspecies; 10	
						immunotoxicity	
						potentially more	
						sensitive	
						endpoint)	
Australia	TDI	2.10-5	HED	Reproductive toxicity -	Rat -	30 (10	FSANZ (2016)
and New				reduced increase in	Luebker et al.	interspecies; 3	
Zealand				body weight of	(2005b)	toxicodynamic)	
				mothers and young			
			Serum c	oncentration ng/ml			
Germany	HBM I	5	-	Increased cholesterol	Epidemiological	-	Apel et al.
				and disrupted immune	studies		(2017)
				response after			
				vaccination			
Sweden	DNEL	0.12	NOAEL	Immunotoxicity	Mouse -	150 (6 subacute to	Borg and
					Peden-Adams et	chronic; 2.5	Håkansson
					al. (2008)	toxicodynamic; 10	(2012)
						intraspecies)	

2.7.5. PROPOSAL FOR TOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES TO BE USED

The current TDI of EFSA is based on a study with monkeys. The new, still provisional, TDI is based on epidemiological studies, due to differences in toxicokinetics between animals and humans, the relevance to humans of observed effects in animals and the underlying mechanisms of action. In making this choice, the Netherlands and Denmark posed a number of questions (EFSA, 2018a). Denmark bases its TDI on the same rat study as the one on which US-EPA based its 2014 RfD, i.e. the study by Thomford (2002). Denmark also looked at human studies for its derivation of the TDI in 2015, but these were found to be unsuitable. At an expert meeting with EFSA in September 2018, Denmark stated that the difference between EFSA and Denmark in the selection of the basis for the TDI was due to different expert opinions on the robustness of the human data, and that Denmark was in the process of carrying out a scientific assessment of the draft Scientific Opinion of EFSA to see whether that difference still exists (EFSA, 2018a). In 2016, US-EPA derived a new RfD, which was based on a different study than that of 2014, meaning that the Danish TDI cannot be selected as a reference value.

At the same expert meeting with EFSA, Germany stated that it could accept the use of total cholesterol as a biomarker for PFOS exposure, albeit with a number of suggestions for clarification in the final Scientific Opinion of EFSA. However, the study by Grandjean (2012) on the reduced formation of antibodies after vaccination would not be used by Germany to derive the TDI, as the inhabitants of the Faroe Islands have a relatively high exposure to a large number of persistent contaminants due to the high consumption of fish and whale meat/blubber, which accumulates in the food chain. As such, other environmental contaminants with high persistence must be considered as disruptive elements. In the Faroese study, only PCBs in children were taken into consideration, and not other contaminants (e.g. heavy metals) or combined exposure as such. Furthermore, it is not clear why a large proportion of children did not see a strong decrease in antibody levels in the follow-up study at the age of 13, and why at this age the trends for tetanus antibodies and PFAS were mostly positive (Grandjean et al. (2017); (EFSA stated that this study was published after the deadline for inclusion in the literature list). Germany presents the evidence for reduced formation of antibodies after vaccination caused by PFOS/PFOA as limited to moderate and believes that more (preferably prospective) studies with more statistical strength are needed, with a long lactation period (age 0,(up to 1.5 years) and also the measurement of functional parameters of the immune system and metabolic parameters. Research is also needed to clarify the mechanism of action. Germany also has questions about translating the serum concentration into an external dose, as food concentrations often originate from 'hot spots' and may therefore lead to a significant overestimation of the exposure of people not exposed to food and drinking water from hot spots. The Netherlands is in favour of making optimal use of epidemiological data in a risk assessment, but believes that the available epidemiological information is not suitable for deriving the HBGV; for example, on the basis of the data from Steenland et al. (2009) it is not possible to determine the contribution of each individual PFAS to increased cholesterol levels. EFSA admitted that there may indeed still be some uncertainty as to which substance in the PFAS family causes which effects and that this has been addressed in the 'uncertainties' section of the EFSA opinion. According to EFSA (2018c) the total increase is attributed to both PFOS and PFOA, but if one of the PFAS is fully responsible for the effect on cholesterol (which is the assumption when calculating an individual BMD), then the other PFAS cannot have any impact, according to the Netherlands. A second objection of the Netherlands is that the BMD approach used is not in line with the BMD guideline of EFSA: for example, the confidence interval is not correctly calculated because only the 'best fit' model is taken into account and not the average of all models applied. EFSA agrees that the guideline for BMD from epidemiological studies is less developed and harmonised than for experimental studies.

In a third objection, the Netherlands argues that the lowest quantile is taken as a proxy for background, whereby the background is strongly determined by the number of quantiles. Suppose that the number of quantiles in the study by Steenland *et al.* (2009) was not ten but five, then the total cholesterol content in the lowest quantile would have been higher and, consequently, the estimated BMD too (EFSA, 2018a). To be continued.

In the Netherlands, a maximum tolerable human risk level (MTR) was derived (RIVM, 2019), which is lower than the current TDI of EFSA EFSA (2008a). RIVM advises using this MTR within the temporary framework for the reuse of soil and dredging, but recognises that the opinion may change when EFSA publishes a new and final TDI.

The TDI of the United Kingdom is relatively high and does not correct for the duration of the study on which it is based. As such, this TDI is not selected as a reference value for PFOS.

Germany and Sweden have a reference value for PFOS as a biomarker in serum derived from 5 and 0.12 ng PFOS/I respectively, based on epidemiological data (Germany) or animal tests (Sweden). Both values are significantly lower than the BMDL5 of EFSA (21-25 ng/ml). Neither Germany nor Sweden translate the internal standard into an external standard, which is necessary for soil modelling.

US-EPA and the draft ASTDR base their derivation on a different long-term rat study by Luebker *et al.* for developmental toxicity. The HED NOAEL of both bodies is comparable. The major difference between the two lies in the application of the additional safety factor of 10 by ATSDR for the fact that immunotoxicity may be a more sensitive endpoint than developmental toxicity. Immunotoxicity is recognised as an effect but has not yet been quantified (NTP, 2016). The MRL of ATSDR (2 ng/kg bw/d) is very close to the provisional TDI of EFSA (1.8 ng/kg bw/d). The MRL is still a proposal and therefore cannot be selected as a reference value. The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) is 20 ng/kg bw/d.

In a joint derivation of the TDI, Australia and New Zealand derive a TDI of 20 ng/kg bw/d. They started from the same rat study as US-EPA (2016c) and used the same uncertainty factors to arrive at the same reference value.

Australia and New Zealand believe that the available epidemiological data are not suitable to derive an HBGV for PFOS (FSANZ, 2016). FSANZ evaluated available epidemiological studies on the relationship between PFOS exposure and cholesterol in serum, birth weight and immunotoxicity. The report noted that, overall, the cross-sectional studies come to a fairly consistent conclusion of a positive association between total and LDL cholesterol at low PFOS concentrations in serum, with plateau formation at higher PFOS concentrations. However, a number of limitations were observed, for example that some studies note a correlation between PFOS and PFOA concentrations but do not adjust the results for each individual substance. Similarly, populations with high exposure to PFAS may also have been exposed to other contaminants, but these were not taken into consideration in the studies, and most studies are not adapted for diet or consider the impact of glomular filtration rate (GFR) of the kidneys. As regards birth weight, PFOS concentrations in human studies appear to be lower than those in animal studies, suggesting an effect on birth weight. In general, the studies with numerical data report an association, but in the absence of quantitative data from studies that do not report an effect, there is a risk of selective bias in publications that affect the burden of proof. FSANZ has decided that it is currently not possible to determine whether the association reflects a causal relationship or is the result of a third factor that alters both the PFAS concentration and the birth weight. For example, changes in GFR that occur during pregnancy are likely to affect both birth weight and the clearance rate of PFAS. As regards immunotoxicity, NTP (2016) concluded that PFOS is probably hazardous to the human immune system. This decision was based on a 'high level of evidence' that PFOS suppresses antibody response in animal tests and a 'moderate level of evidence' based on epidemiological studies that higher serum concentrations are associated with suppression of the antibody response. The aim of the NTP report was to identify the hazard, and it does not say at what level of exposure the immune function in humans is affected. FSANZ has also reviewed a number of studies and concludes that there are still too many uncertainties to derive a reliable NOAEL or LOAEL for adverse effects on the immune system. For these reasons, FSANZ based its TDI

on results from animal tests, whereby the study by Luebker *et al.* (2005b) was ultimately selected, because this gave the lowest TDI (FSANZ, 2016).

The MRL of ATSDR (2018) is a proposal and therefore cannot be selected as a reference value.

The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) of **20 ng/kg bw/d** is proposed as a toxicological reference value for the calculation of the soil remediation value based on the following arguments:

- the relevant parties recognise that the current standard of EFSA is too high
- the more stringent EFSA standard is still provisional
- the Dutch MTR is more protective than the current TDI of EFSA, but is likely to be reviewed when EFSA publishes its final (more stringent) TDI
- the MRL of ATSDR is still provisional
- the RfD is based on a long-term study
- the value of the RfD is the same as that of Australia and New Zealand
- the derivations of US-EPA and Australia/New Zealand are recent

Because there is no toxicological reference value for exposure via inhalation, this is calculated from the TDI (20 ng/kg bw/d) with the following parameters: 70 kg body weight, 20 m³/day of breathing volume and 95% inhalation absorption (equivalent to oral absorption). The calculation results in a **tolerable concentration in air (TCA) of 70 ng/m³**.

In order to have an idea of the impact on the soil remediation value, scenarios are also calculated with the MTR of the Netherlands (6.25 ng/kg bw/d) and the TDI proposal of EFSA (1.8 ng/kg bw/d).

2.8. ECOTOXICOLOGY

For the evaluation of ecotoxicological effects, no new primary sources and/or databases were consulted to derive possible new ecotoxicological values. However, it was examined whether substantiated ecotoxicological values have recently been derived by other regulatory bodies. Based on the guidelines for drawing up soil remediation values (Cornelis and Touchant, 2016), the following sources were consulted:

- US EPA: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ecotox/ecossl/index.html</u>
- CCME Canada: <u>http://www.ccme.ca/en/resources/canadian_environmental_quality_guidelines/index.html</u>
- RIVM Netherlands (intervention values, national reference values: <u>http://www.rivm.nl/rvs/Normen/Milieu/Bodeminterventiewaarden,</u> <u>http://www.rwsleefomgeving.nl/onderwerpen/bodem-ondergrond/bbk/instrumenten/nobo</u>
- ECHA database: <u>http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals</u>

The results of this inventory are summarised in section 2.10.3. Ecotoxicological reference values

2.9. LEGAL LIMITS

2.9.1. OUTDOOR AIR AND INDOOR AIR

PFOS is a low-volatile substance. PFOS does not occur in the WHO Air quality guidelines for Europe (WHO, 2000) or those of other bodies (ANSES, RIVM, Germany, US-Clean air Act, LCI (lowest concentration of interest) for indoor air).

PFOS is not included in the Flemish Indoor Environment Decree (BS, 2018) and also does not appear in the WHO guidelines for indoor air quality (WHO, 2010) or in the list of LCI (lowest concentration or interest) substances for indoor air (EU-LCI, 2016).

The TCA is 70 ng/m³.

2.9.2. DIET AND FOOD

No European legal restrictions (EC, 1998; 2002; 2011).

2.9.3. DRINKING WATER

The drinking water standards of various countries/bodies are set out in Table 27. On 1 February 2018, the European Commission adopted a proposal to revise the Drinking Water Directive 98/83/EC (EC, 1998). This sets the drinking water standard at 0.1 μ g/l for individual PFAS (including PFOS) and 0.5 μ g/l for PFAS total (EC, 2018).

The Netherlands applies a risk limit value for PFOS in drinking water of 0.53 μ g/l; this value has been calculated on the basis of the TDI of EFSA (2008) (1.5.10⁻⁴ mg/kg/d), the allocation of 10% of the TDI to drinking water, a body weight of 70 kg and a drinking water intake of 2l/day (Moermond *et al.*, 2010). It is expected that the TDI of PFOS for the Netherlands will still be revised as the value is based on the current TDI of EFSA, which is generally considered to be too high.

In Germany, the guideline value (Leitwerte) for drinking water is 0.1 μ g/l (UBA, 2017). This value is based on an average of the results of epidemiological studies (UBA, 2016b). The sum parameter for 12 PFAS in drinking water in Denmark is also 0.1 μ g/l (DEPA, 2015). In the United Kingdom the drinking water limit is 0.3 μ g/l, in Sweden it is 0.09 μ g/l (CONCAWE, 2016).

The United States of America has a lower health-based advisory value of 0.07 μ g/l for drinking water, which is a sum parameter for PFOS and PFOA (US-EPA, 2016). Australia uses the same value (0.07 μ g/l) as the sum parameter for PFOS and PFHxS (Australia, 2016).

In the context of derivation of soil remediation values, the value of $0.1~\mu g/l$ of the European Commission has been selected.

Substance	Concentration	Reference value	Country/region	Reference
PFOS/PFHxS	0.07 μg/l	Drinking water quality value	Australia	Australia (2016)
PFOS	0.53 μg/l	Drinking water reference value	The Netherlands	Moermond <i>et al.</i> (2010)
PFAS separately and total	0.1 μg/l for individual PFAS and 0.5 μg/l for PFAS total	Proposal in the framework of the revision of Annex 1 of the drinking water Directive 98/93/EC	EU	EC (2018)
PFOA + PFOA	0.07 μg/l	Health Advisory for lifetime exposure	USA	US-EPA (2016a)
PFOS	0.1 μg/l	QCdw with 10% allocation of total oral intake to drinking water		DEPA (2015)
PFOS	0.1 μg/l	Guideline value	Germany	UBA (2017)

Table 27: Drinking water standards of various countries/bodies

2.10. CALCULATION OF THE SOIL REMEDIATION VALUE

The calculations of the soil remediation values were made with a modified S-Risk version 1.3 Application I for the calculations, Application II with modified buffer space (0.75 m) for interpretation of exposure routes and exposure pathways. To avoid the use of the K_{ow}, S-Risk version 1.3 was specifically adapted for PFAS on the VITO test server. Transfer to plants can therefore be calculated with BCF factors based on dry matter concentration in the soil, whereas normally BCF factors for organic substances are expressed on pore water concentrations. Moreover, PFOS was considered a non-dissociative substance in S-Risk in the calculations (PFOS is a dissociative substance), which means that Kd can be calculated directly from the organic carbon content in the soil and K_{oc} without the use of K_{ow}. The user manual of S-Risk states "If a K_{oc}-value is available for a dissociative substance at the correct soil pH, it is also possible to leave the dissociative option button unchecked while filling out the required K_{oc} value. However, the calculations must only be carried out for the applicable pH range".

2.10.1. GROUNDWATER

The soil remediation value for groundwater has a human health based underpinning, and corresponds to the drinking water standard if this has a toxicological basis (Cornelis & Touchant, 2016). The drinking water limit of $0.1 \mu g/l$ included in the revision of the European Drinking Water Directive is a general limit primarily based on feasibility and does not have a direct substance-specific toxicological link, and moreover it is also a proposal. Therefore, the soil remediation value for groundwater is calculated using the following formula (Cornelis and Touchant, 2016):

$$SRV = \frac{TDIoral \ x \ 1000 \ x \ RF \ x \ BW}{(Q + Qeq)}$$

Whereby

SRV soil remediation value (µg/l)

TDI tolerable daily intake (mg/kg/d)

RF reduction factor (standard 0.2)

BW body weight (60 kg)

Q drinking water consumption (2I)

Qeq drinking water equivalent for inhalatory and dermal exposure (I)

EFSA carried out a comprehensive study of chronic exposure to PFOS via food, setting upper and lower limits for minimum, average and maximum intakes (EFSA, 2018b). In the lower limits of average exposure, the highest contribution for drinking water (up to 10%) was found in infants and young children; in adults the contribution was up to 3%. In a Swedish study measuring the relative contribution of different pathways to total exposure, the contribution of PFOS via drinking water ranged from 0.57 to 0.68% (Haug *et al.*, 2011). A reduction factor of 10% for the derivation of a drinking water standard would therefore be sufficient. Germany, for example, allocates 10% of the TDI to drinking water upon derivation of a drinking water guideline value (UBA,2016). However, since a soil remediation value is not a drinking water standard, at the request of OVAM, we retain the standard value of 20% of WHO for the SRV.

US-EPA applies a Relative Source Contribution (RSC) of 20% for PFOS in its derivation of a healthbased drinking water advisory value (US-EPA, 2016a). The derivation of a drinking water standard for the Netherlands has been made in accordance with the WHO guideline of 1993 (WHO, 1993) whereby a maximum of 10% of the TDI of PFOS may consist of a contribution via drinking water (Moermond *et al.*, 2010; Wintersen *et al.*, 2016). In 2011, WHO increased its default value from 10% to 20% (WHO, 2011)(Cornelis & Geerts, 2016), and 20% is currently used as the standard.

Dermal absorption coefficient of PFOS: a measured value is not available and a calculated value is not very reliable because the calculation uses the log K_{ow} . Dermal absorption of PFOS at low doses is very low (Johnson, 1995a; b). As such, the dermal drinking water equivalent is set to 0.

The air-water partition coefficient is $<2.10^{-6}$ (3M Company 3M-Company (2003) in EFSA (2008a)), which is lower than the minimum value of 5.9×10^{-4} . Consequently, inhalatory exposure via drinking water should not be included in the derivation of the guideline value.

The SRV values for groundwater for the three sets of toxicological reference values are set out in Table 28. The reduction factor used is 20%.

Toxicological	Value	Unit	SRV groundwater
Set 1 (preference)US- EPA (2016a)			
TDI oral	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	120 ng/l
TCA inhalation	7.10 ⁻⁵	mg/m ³	
TDI dermal	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	
Set 2 Zeilmaker <i>et al.</i>			
(2018)			
TDI oral	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	38 ng/l

Table 28: Reference values for groundwater

CHAPTER 2 PFOS

TCA inhalation	21.9.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m³	
TDI dermal	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	
Set 3 EFSA (2018b)			
TDI oral	1.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	11 ng/l
TCA inhalation	6.3.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m³	
TDI dermal	1.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	

The quality criterion for groundwater in Denmark is 0.1 μ g/l; this is a sum parameter for 12 PFAS. In the German Länder of Bavaria and Baden Würtenberg, the guideline value for PFOS in groundwater is 0.23 μ g/l (CONCAWE, 2016; UBA, 2016a).

2.10.2. SOIL

The calculations were made for 3 different sets of toxicological reference values, as described in the substance sheets at the end of this report. The first scenario makes use of the RfD in US-EPA (2016c) (= preferred scenario), the second scenario is based on the MTR of the Netherlands as described in Zeilmaker et al. (2018) and the third scenario is calculated with the proposed TDI-value of EFSA (2018c). First a BCF for grass of 0.26 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) (average value Stahl *et al.* (2009)) and BTF values as shown in Table 22 were used, these values were subsequently revised as described in Table 21 and Table 23.

In the first instance, calculations were carried out using the UB food consumption and concentration data of EFSA (2018c). However, initial calculations gave negative background exposure for the landuse type agriculture through food consumption. This indicates that the exposure via locally grown foods in an agricultural setting exceeds the general background exposure via dietary intake of consumtion foods, possibly because the estimated intake via locally grown vegetables is overestimated by the available BCF. This may also be due to what was mentioned in section 2.4.4, that in EFSA (2018c) the exposure data were lower than in the earlier analysis from 2012, where the concentration data were higher for many foods. Also for the calculations based on the UB data of EFSA (2012) it appeared that for tox scenario 2 (Zeilmaker et al. (2018)) and 3 (EFSA (2018c)) the oral toxicological reference value (TDI oral = 6.25 and 1.8 ng/kg/d) for a number of landuse types is already fully filled in by the background intake via food 2.77-9.10 ng/kg/d). On the basis of previous observations, the final calculations for deriving the SRV were carried out on the basis of the lower bound (LB) intake figures from EFSA (2012). The calculations were made for the three different scenarios or three different sets of toxicological limit values.

\rightarrow Proposal calculated with LB data from EFSA (2012), BCF for grass of 0.26 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) and BTF values as shown in Table 22

The calculations were made with LB intakes and concentrations from EFSA (2012), see Table 29. This is not a conservative assumption, but probably gives a much more realistic picture. The results (Table 29) suggest that the impact on landuse type II (most critical standard proposal) for tox scenario 1 is only limited, the proposed soil remediation value increases by about 15% to 2.4 μ g/kg dm. Contrary to the UB approach, proposals can now also be calculated for scenarios tox 2 and tox 3.

Table 29: Proposed human health based soil remediation values for PFOS (μ g/kg dry matter) with LB data from EFSA (2012).

CHAPTER 2 PFOS

	П	III	IV	V
S-Risk tox 1 US-EPA (2016c)				
	2.399 (threshold)	204.6 (threshold)	IVa 14,030 (threshold)	Va 36,080 (threshold)
			IVb 15,520 (threshold)	Vb 27,770 (threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	IVb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)	Va and Vb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)
S-Risk tox 2 Zeilmaker et al. (2018)	0.6349 (threshold)	55.05 (threshold)	IVa 3,768 (threshold)	Va 10,240 (threshold)
			IVb 4,168 (threshold)	Vb 7,885 (threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	IVb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)	Va and Vb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)
S-Risk tox 3 EFSA (2018c)	0,0833 (threshold)	6.628 (threshold)	IVa 447.2 (threshold)	Va 1,880 (threshold)
			IVb 494.6 (threshold)	Vb 1,448 (threshold)

bold: values proposed as soil remediation values based on tox values

bold underlined: values proposed as soil remediation values based on adjustment based on binding legal reference values

-: the concentration indices are not critical, no adjustment is needed

Threshold: the non-carcinogenic endpoint is the most critical, the proposed soil remediation value corresponds to the value at which there is no longer a risk for children 1 - 6 years (with the exception of industry where no children are present)

Expertisecentrum PFAS (2018) indicates for soil an upper limit (intervention value level) of 6,600 μ g/kg dm (not protective for groundwater when used as drinking water, in this case a safe upper limit is 100 μ g/kg dm) and lower limit of 0.1 μ g/kg dm, for residence with garden 11 μ g/kg dm (leaching from soil to drinking water) and residence with vegetable garden was not determined.

Lijzen *et al.* (2011) indicate a reporting limit of 0,1 μ g/kg dm in soil. On the basis of a literature study, the authors indicate 6.5 μ g/kg dm as the highest reported value for a sample originating from an area in Germany with increased exposure to PFOS. Other reported concentrations in this area were

mostly below the limit of detection of 3 μ g/kg. The authors assert that in a relatively unaffected area, the concentration of PFOS will be below the current limit of detection.

The expertise centre PFAS (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018) also collected data on the presence of PFOS and PFOA in the topsoil (up to about 0.5 m minus ground level) in the Netherlands. By using data from Southern Holland, Utrecht and Northern Brabant for PFOS, the aim was to rule out the influence of potential risk locations or known PFOS sources. The report states the percentile values for PFOS as shown in Table 30.

Table 30: Calculated percentile values for diffuse load of PFOS in the topsoil (μ g/kg dm) (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018).

Percentiles	PFOS
25 percentile	0.25
Median; 50 percentile	0.46
75 percentile	0.93
90 percentile	1.6
95 percentile	1.9

The proposals for soil remediation values set out in tox1 are all higher than the reporting limit of 0.1 μ g/kg dm indicated by Lijzen *et al.* (2011). The value for agriculture is just above the P95 background value of 1.9 μ g/kg dm as determined for the Netherlands (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018), the background value for Flanders will presumably be similar.

For tox2 the proposals are also above the reporting limit, but the calculated value for agriculture is between the P50 (0.46 μ g/kg dm) and P75 (0.93 μ g/kg dm) background value for the Netherlands (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018). For the most strict tox scenario 3 based on EFSA (2018c) the same conclusion can be drawn, here, the calculated value for agriculture is below the P25 percentile value (0.25 μ g/kg dm) background value for the Netherlands for diffuse loading of PFOS in topsoil.

\rightarrow Proposal calculated with LB data from EFSA (2012), BCF for grass of 0.048 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) and BTF values as shown in Table 23

In a subsequent scenario, calculations were made for the LB EFSA (2012) intake data and concentrations in combination with a BCF for grass adjusted to 0.048 (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) and BTF values as shown in Table 23. These calculations only have an impact on the landuse type agriculture, as only animal products from own cultivation are consumed here. Compared to previous calculations, this results in an increase of the proposals for human health based soil remediation values of about 30% for the agricultural scenario.

Table 31: Proposed human health based soil remediation values for PFOS (μ g/kg dry matter) with LB data from EFSA (2012).

CHAPTER 2 PFOS

	П	III	IV	V
S-Risk tox 1 US-EPA (2016c)				
	3.109 (threshold)	204.6 (threshold)	IVa 14,030 (threshold)	Va 36,080 (threshold)
			IVb 15,520 (threshold)	Vb 27,770 (threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	IVb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)	Va and Vb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)
S-Risk tox 2 Zeilmaker et al. (2018)	0,8439 (threshold)	55.05 (threshold)	IVa 3,768 (threshold)	Va 10,240 (threshold)
			IVb 4,168 (threshold)	Vb 7,885 (threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	IVb <u>1,949</u> (drinking water)	Va and Vb <u>1,949</u>
S-Risk tox 3 EFSA (2018c)	0,1107 (threshold)	6.628 (threshold)	IVa 447.2 (threshold)	Va 1,880 (threshold)
			IVb 494.6 (threshold)	Vb 1,448 (threshold)

bold: values for the proposed as soil remediation values based on tox values

bold underlined: values proposed as soil remediation values based on adjustment adjustment based on binding legal reference values

-: the concentration indices are not critical, no adjustment is needed

Threshold: the non-carcinogenic endpoint is the most critical, the proposed soil remediation value corresponds to the value at which there is no longer a risk for children 1 - 6 years (with the exception of industry where no children are present)

The proposed human health based soil remediation values for PFOS (μ g/kg dry matter) with LB data from EFSA (2012) are shown in Figure 8. Only tox scenario 1 results in a proposal for landuse type II (agriculture) above the 95th percentile value of 1.9 μ g/kg dm for diffuse load of PFOS in the topsoil in the Netherlands (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018). The other landuse types are all for the 3 tox scenarios above the 95th percentile value.



Figure 8: Comparison of the SRV (μ g/kg dm) calculated on the basis of three sets of toxicity reference values dmusing LB intake and concentrations in food (EFSA 2012) for the different landuse types.



Figure 9: Comparison of the SRV on the basis of 3 tox scenarios with respect to the median, 95th percentile and 25th percentile value of the diffuse loading of PFOS in topsoils in the Netherlands (Pancras, 2018). dm

In Figure 9 the calculated SRV for the landuse types II and III are compared for each of the three sets of tox values, with the median, the 95th and 25th percentile values of the concentrations of PFOS in topsoils of Southern Holland. The SRV for agricultural soils derived for tox2 and tox3 are below the 95 percentile value of background PFOS from Pancras & van Bentum (2018). Current scientific knowledge and available calculation methodologies do not allow the derivation of feasible SRV for

agricultural areas in combination with toxicity data according to Zeilmaker et al (2018) and EFSA (2018c).

Based on the three toxicity scenarios, for residence with vegetable gardens, a SRV with a sufficiently large margin above the 95 percentile value of the PFOS background values in the Netherlands can be derived.



Figure 10: Contribution of exposure pathways to overall risk for PFOS in tox scenario 1 (US-EPA (2016c)) and with background dietary exposure based on the LB approach of EFSA (2012) (blue: oral, green: dermal, orange: inhalation). The contribution has been calculated for a soil concentration equal to proposed soil remediation values and - with the exception of landuse type Vb - for children (1-6 years).

The contribution of the exposure pathways to the risk for the different landuse types is shown in Figure 10. This figure has been calculated on the basis of the toxicologically based soil remediation value as calculated for each landuse type, and as such it does not take into account adjustments . We see that for all landuse types the oral exposure route (blue) is dominant. In type II, the determining factor is consumption of local meat and animal products (96%) with only a limited contribution from vegetables. Local meat and animal products consist of 91% milk for children, 49% for adults, followed by beef (31%) and butter (19%). Offal contributes less than 3% for adults. The concentration calculated in milk at a concentration in soil equal to the proposed soil remediation value for tox1 (3.11 μ g/kg dm) is 0.62 μ g/kg fw, more or less a factor of 5 higher than the UB concentration of 0.46 μ g/kg dm (median value for diffuse loading of PFOS in the topsoil in the Netherlands. (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018)), this results in a milk concentration of 0.09 μ g/kg fw – higher than the average lower bound value of 9.10⁻⁴ μ g/kg fw reported by EFSA (2012), but slightly

lower than the upper bound value reported by EFSA (2012), 0.12 μ g/kg fw. The concentration of milk is presumably still overestimated. By way of illustration, when this last calculation is repeated with the lowest BTF value found in the literature (0.018 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ Kowalczyk et al 2013), this results in a milk concentration of 0.08 μ g/kg fw which is still higher than the LB value of EFSA (2012). For landuse type III, the consumption of vegetables weighs the most (92%), with a limited contribution from ingestion of soil and dust. Type IVa is dominated by soil and dust ingestion and type Vb is determined by soil and dust ingestion (38%) and drinking water (61%).

\rightarrow Comparison with risk limits calculated in the Netherlands for the application of PFOS-containing soil and dredging for arable and livestock farming.

Wintersen *et al.* (2019) calculated risk limits for the application of PFOS-containing soil and sludge for arable and livestock farming in the Netherlands, using the tox values used in scenario 2 (tox2) of the current report. For PFOS this results in risk limits of 109 μ g/kg for arable crops farming, 7.6 μ g/kg for livestock farming and 92 μ g/kg for residences with vegetable gardens. For residences with vegetable garden this value is about 1.7 times higher than the value calculated in the current report with the EFSA 2012 LB data (55 μ g/kg dm). The Dutch risk limits for arable and livestock farming are more than 100 times higher than the propsed soil remediation value in this report (0.844 μ g/kg) based on the tox2 scenario.

Table 32 provides an overview of a number of parameters that differ in the calculation method used by Wintersen et al. (2019) and this report. For the arable and livestock farming scenario, Wintersen et al. take into account the background exposure via food, by subtracting the background exposure from the MTR¹⁸ human (6.25. $10^{-3} \mu g/kg \text{ bw/ day})^{19}$:

- in the case of livestock farming: baseline background exposure (fish, eggs, drinking water, etc.) + background exposure to arable products, 0.159.10⁻³ μg/kg bw/day;
- in the case of arable farming: baseline background exposure (fish, eggs, drinking water, etc.) + background exposure to livestock products, 0.318.10⁻³ µg/kg bw/day.

For the derivation of soil remediation values with S-Risk, an age-related background exposure through food is taken into account, ranging from 1.2 ng/kg bw/day (1-3 years) to 0.875 ng/kg bw/day (31 years and older). The S-Risk model subtracts from this background exposure via food - depending on the landuse type (described in annex IV of the S-Risk Technical Guidance) - a part that is replaced by food from own cultivation. For the most sensitive group (children), the background exposure applied in the Netherlands is a factor of 10 lower than that applied in Flanders; moreover, it is 20-30 times lower than the MTRhuman. The transfer to milk is based on Vestergren (2013), and is the same for Flanders and the Netherlands. In the Netherlands, an intake of 330 g of milk and dairy products per day is assumed, in Flanders it ranges from 395 g/d (1-3 years) to 181 g/d (34-41 years). Since milk is the most important exposure route in the agricultural scenario for Flanders (see above), and both transfer to milk and consumption quantities differ only slightly between the Netherlands and Flanders, the reason for the difference in proposed soil remediation values / risk limits for agriculture and livestock farming may lie more in the background exposure via food that is higher for Flanders.

For vegetable gardens, the background exposure is not used in the Netherlands for the risk limit calculations, but it is in Flanders. The order of magnitude of the calculated risk limits for the Netherlands is 1.7 times higher than the soil remediation values proposed for Flanders, probably mainly due to the different approaches in the inclusion or exclusion of background exposure via food.

¹⁸ Maximum tolerable risk

¹⁹ Personal communication Frank Swartjes, October 2019

Table 32: Differences in approach for calculating risk limits for PFOS in the Netherlands and soil remediation values (for tox scenario 2) in Flanders.

Parameter	Wintersen <i>et al.</i> (2019)	Current study
Calculated soil remediation value / risk limit	Arable farming: 109 μg/kg dm Livestock farming: 7.6 μg/kg dm Vegetable gardens: 92 μg/kg dm	Agriculture: 0.844 μg/kg Residence with vegetable garden: 55 μg/kg dm
Toxicological reference values (oral)	6.25.10-	³ μg/kg.d
Background exposure food	Taken into account and deducted from the health- related limit value Arable farming: 0.318 ng/kg bw/day Livestock farming: 0.159 ng/kg bw/day Vegetable gardens: none Based on data from Noorlander <i>et al.</i> (2010); Noorlander <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Taken into account for all landuse types. For agriculture and vegetable gardens a part is being replaced by own cultivation. EFSA 2012 LB: 1.2 ng/kg bw/day (1-3 years) to 0.875 ng/kg bw/day (31 years and above)
Consumption of vegetables from vegetable garden	100% vegetable garden vegetables from own cultivation (standard data CSOIL)	Fraction of age-related vegetable consumption (tables 11 and 13 annex IV of the S- Risk Technical guidance) ²⁰

2.10.3. ECOTOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES

Based on the guidelines for drafting soil remediation values (Cornelis and Touchant, 2016), the database data of the following 4 international bodies were consulted: US-EPA, ECHA, CCME and RIVM²¹. For PFOS, ecotoxicological limit values were only derived by RIVM (2019). These are summarised in Table 33. In contrast to Flanders, in the Netherlands, biomagnification (accumulation to higher trophic levels) is taken into account for the determination of the ecotoxicological limit value and therefore a distinction is made in the table between direct ecotoxicity through soil contact and biomagnification.

²⁰ <u>https://www.s-risk.be/sites/s-risk.be/files/SRisk%20model%20equations%20-%20Annex%20IV.pdf</u> consulted September 2019

²¹ US EPA: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ecotox/ecossl/index.html</u>

CCME Canada: <u>http://www.ccme.ca/en/resources/canadian_environmental_quality_guidelines/index.html</u> RIVM Netherlands: <u>http://www.rivm.nl/rvs/Normen/Milieu/Bodeminterventiewaarden</u>,

http://www.rwsleefomgeving.nl/onderwerpen/bodem-ondergrond/bbk/instrumenten/nobo ECHA database: http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals

Reference value	Agriculture	areas	Residence vegetable garde	with en	Industrial	areas	Reference
Ecological Risk direct (biomagnification)	16 °) (3)	380 ª) (18)		9,100 ^{b)} (1	10)	RIVM, 2019

Table 33: Overview of ecotoxicologically based reference values (direct soil contact and biomagnification in brackets) derived for PFOS by RIVM (explanation in the text) in μ g/kg dm.

a) medium protection level (Geometric mean of HC5 and HC50); b) moderate protection level (SR_{eco} Serious-Risk soil corresponding to the HC₅₀ level); c) high protection level (MTR_{eco} Maximum Permissible Risk soil corresponding to the HC₅ level).

The direct ecological risks are tested against two risk limits in the Netherlands: the Serious Risk to the soil ecosystem. ($SR_{eco\ soil}$) is the concentration at which harmful effects of the substance on the soil ecosystem are likely to occur and corresponds to the HC₅₀ protection level²² and the Maximum Permissible Risk for the ecosystem (MTR_{eco}) which corresponds to the HC₅ protection level²³. Below this level, no negative effects on the soil ecosystem are expected. Where the $SR_{eco\ soil}$ applies to industrial areas, the MTR_{eco} is applied to agricultural and nature reserve areas. For the soil function class 'Residence with vegetable garden', a middle level is defined as the geometric mean of both.

To derive the limit values for PFOS we use Verbruggen et al. (2020; in prep.) (Verbruggen & al., 2020). In this RIVM letter report the previously published data from Bodar et al. (2011) are supplemented with recent literature data on PFOS soil toxicity, biomagnification and bioaccumulation data. To derive the direct ecological risks SR_{eco,direct} and MTR_{eco,direct} the methodology described in Vlaardingen and Verbruggen (2007) was used (van Vlaardingen & Verbruggen, 2007). To derive the ecotoxicological risk limits for indirect toxicity, the renewed methodology as described by Verbruggen (2014) was applied, taking into account the energy requirement and food intake of worm-eating birds and mammals, as well as their predators (Verbruggen & al., 2014). The evaluation of the supplemented dataset for direct ecotoxicity of PFOS provides a SR_{eco,direct} of 9.100 µg/kg dm and a MTR_{eco,direct} of 16 µg/kg dm. The middle level for direct toxicity used in the Netherlands for deriving maximum values in soil management is 380 µg/kg dm. If biomagnification is taken into account, Verbruggen et al. (2020; in prep.) derive the following ecotoxicological risk limits: SR_{eco.indirect} = 110 μ g/kg dm, MTR_{eco.indirect} = 3 μ g/kg dm and a middle level = 18 μ g/kg dm. These values are adopted as a preliminary proposal for ecotoxicological standards for PFOS in Flanders (Table 34). Due to the persistent nature of PFAS as a substance group as a whole, it is proposed that, exceptionally and in contrast to normal practice in Flanders, biomagnification should be taken into consideration for the PFOS proposals for the SRV_{eco} for the landuse types 'Agriculture' and 'Residence with vegetable garden' and 'Recreational areas'. The proposal for the SRVeco for these landuse types is then respectively 3, 18 and 110 μ g/kg dm (in bold in Table 34).

Table 34: Proposal for ecotoxicological values for PFOS in Flanders (μ g/kg dm); values based on direct toxicity are shown in brackets.

Reference value	Agriculture areas (type II)	Residence with vegetable garden (type III)	Recreational areas (type IV)	Industrial areas (type V)
SRV _{eco}	3 (16)	18 (380)	110 (9,100)	9,100

 $^{\rm 22}$ The Hazardous Concentration for 50% of the soil organisms (HC_{50})

 $^{\rm 23}$ The Hazardous Concentration for 5% of the soil organisms (HC_5)

2.10.4. TARGET VALUES

No target values for Flemish soils were available at the time this study was carried out. On behalf of OVAM, background values were measured in 2020, for which, for PFOS, a background value of 1.5 μ g/kg dm in soil was derived, more information can be found in Touchant *et al.* (2020). The Netherlands applies a temporary background value of 0.9 μ g/kg dm in soil. (Wintersen *et al.*, 2019)²⁴.

2.11. INTEGRATION AND EVALUATION

2.11.1. SOIL

The calculations for deriving the soil remediation values for PFOS were carried out in an adapted version of the S-Risk model version 1.3 (for the time being only available on an internal VITO test server) taking into account the amphiphilic character of PFOS, substances for which the log K_{ow} cannot be measured according to the OECD standard test guideline. In order to avoid the use of the log K_{ow} , the transfer to plants was initially calculated on the basis of BCF factors relative to the solid phase of the soil, in contrast to the usual method where BCF factors for organic substances in S-Risk are expressed on the basis of pore water concentrations. In addition, PFOS was considered as a non-dissociative in S-Risk during the derivation of the soil remediation values (PFOS is a dissociative substance) so that the sorption of soil particles (K_d) can be calculated directly from the organic carbon content in the soil and the K_{oc} without the intervention of K_{ow} .

Various scenarios with combinations of parameter values were calculated and tested for feasibility. The following parametric values were used to derive the proposed soil remediation values for PFOS:

- Toxicology:
 - The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) of **20 ng/kg bw/d** and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of **70 ng/m³** (preferred scenario);
 - The RfD of Zeilmaker et al. (2016) of 6.25 ng/kg bw/d and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of 21.9 ng/m³;
 - The RfD of EFSA (2018c) of 1.8 ng/kg bw/d and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of 6.3 ng/m³;
- Background exposure: The lower bound intake and concentration data of EFSA (2012);
- Plant uptake: The BCF_{PFOS} values derived by Ghisi et al. (2019) after comparing the original data with the approach followed by Wintersen et al. (2019) applying a complete diet;
- Animal transfer: average BTF values derived from Vestergren et al. (2013) and Kowalczyk et al. (2013);

All parameter values used for the final human health based soil remediation values are summarised in the substance sheet at the back.

^{24 &}lt;u>https://www.rivm.nl/sites/default/files/2019-</u> 11/254%202019%20MV%20Bijlage%201%20Notitie%20TAW%20PFAS%20in%20grond.pdf

For the evaluation of ecotoxicological effects, no new primary sources and/or databases were consulted to derive possible new ecotoxicological values, but it was examined whether ecotoxicological values have recently been derived from other bodies. For PFOS the values derived by RIVM (2019) were used, whereby biomagnification was taken into account.

During this study, insufficient measurement data were available to derive reliable target values. On behalf of OVAM, background values were measured in 2020, for which, for PFOS, a background value of 1.5 μ g/kg dm in soil was derived (Touchant *et al.*, 2020).

A comparison of the proposed human health based and ecotoxicological soil remediation values is given in Table 35 with in green the preferred value based on the preferred toxicology scenario. At present there are no soil remediation values for PFOS in the Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO) meaning that a comparison is not possible. If the US EPA scenario is used for the human health based SRV, the values in green are used as reference value (provisional SRV).

A first comparison with Dutch background values (Pancras, 2018) shows that, with current scientific knowledge and available calculation methods, no feasible SRV for agricultural areas can be derived (landuse type II). The decision concerning the SRV for landuse type II (agriculture) (and thus also for landuse type I - nature) is awaiting the study 'Derivation of target values for perfluorinated compounds' commissioned by OVAM. The soil remediation values for landuse type I (nature) and landuse type II (agriculture) can be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.

Table 35: The proposed SRV for soil (μ g/kg dm) for PFOS with the preferred value in green. The soil remediation values for landuse type II may be further adjusted to a feasible value on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.

	11 ²⁵	III	IV	V
Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO)	-	-	-	-
Proposal human health based tox US-EPA (2016c)	3.1	204.6	1,949 (drinking water) (IVb)	1,949 (drinking water (Va and b)
Proposal human health based tox Zeilmaker et al. (2018)	0.84	55.05	1,949 (drinking water) (IVb)	1,949 (drinking water (Va and b)
Proposal human health based tox EFSA (2018c)	0.11	6.63	447.2 (IVa)	1,488 (Vb)
Proposal ecotox	3	18	110	9,100
Background value	1.5			

2.11.2. GROUNDWATER

The soil remediation value for groundwater has a human health based underpinning, and corresponds to the drinking water standard if this has a toxicological basis (Cornelis & Touchant, 2016). The drinking water standard of 100 ng/l proposed by the EU is a general limit (not specific for PFOS) which is mainly based on feasibility and not only on toxicology.

As such, the soil remediation value for groundwater was also calculated, with the standard formula (paragraph 2.10.1) for the three toxicological reference values with which the soil remediation value was calculated. The corresponding calculated values for groundwater are:

- 120 ng/l, based on the RfC of US-EPA (2016)
- 38 ng/l, based on the maximum tolerable human health based risk level (Zeilmaker *et al.*,2018)
- 11 ng/l, based on the TDI proposal of EFSA (2018).

120 ng/l, based on the RfC of US-EPA (2016) is the preferred value based on the preferred toxicology scenario. This is also the most closely related to the groundwater criterion put forward at EU level, i.e. 100 ng/l.

2.11.3. GUIDELINE VALUES

Guideline values are not yet available at the time of publication of this report and will be published in a separate document.

²⁵ Not final, will be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil

2.12. COMPARISON WITH FOREIGN SOIL REMEDIATION VALUES

In 2016, RIVM derived generic risk limits for non-agricultural soil functions that allow local authorities to develop a site-specific approach to PFOS contamination (Wintersen et al., 2016). The derived generic intervention and target values for soil and groundwater are set out in Table 36. The values are derived according to the applicable method, but they are not national soil remediation values as such. The lower limit for soil (0.1 μ g/kg dm) is the reporting limit, and is based on background concentrations in relatively unaffected areas. The upper limit (6600 μ g/kg dm) is the lowest value of the human maximum tolerable risk (MTR) and the Serious Risk level (SR) for the environment. The lower limit for groundwater is the generic target value, derived from the Negligible Risk to the environment (NR_{eco}); the upper limit for groundwater is the lower of the following values: MTR_{human}, groundwater, MTR_{DW} (safe value for drinking water for consumption) and SR_{eco, groundwater} (Wintersen et al., 2016). The generic value for residence with garden (11 μ g/kg dm) takes into account the leaching of PFOS to groundwater used as drinking water. The generic value for 'other green spaces, buildings, infrastructure and industry' (8 μ g/kg dm) is a SR_{eco, BM} that takes into account biomagnification (BM); this calculation is based on the assumption that areas with this function are large enough to serve as habitats for birds and mammals, whereby biomagnification to higher organisms can play a role. This is not assumed in the case of 'residence with a garden (Wintersen et al., 2016).

In 2019, RIVM derived the following national risk limits for PFOS for a temporary framework for the application of soil and dredge spoil on or in soils: 3 μ g/kg dm for agriculture, 18 μ g/kg dm for residential and 110 μ g/kg dm for industry (RIVM, 2019). These are not real soil remediation values, but values that are used within the PFAS temporary action framework. For these three soil function classes it appears that biomagnification (ecology) determines the lowest risk limit value; this is because PFOS is mobile and accumulates in higher organisms (RIVM, 2019). The risk limit values based on the human health based maximum tolerable risk level (6.25 ng/kg bw/d) of Zeilmaker (2018) are higher (Table 36).

The proposed ecological SRV for agriculture (3 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) is the same as the Dutch risk limit value for agriculture and comparable to the human health based SRV for tox scenario 1 (3.1 μ g/kg dm). The human health based SRV proposals for agriculture for tox scenario 2 and 3 (0.84 and 0.11 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) are respectively 3.5 and 27 times lower than the Dutch risk limit for agriculture (3 μ g/kg dm).

The proposed ecological SRV for residences (18 μ g/kg dm) is the same as the Dutch risk limit value for residences. The human health based SRV proposals for residences for tox scenario 1, 2 and 3 (204.6, 55.05 and 6.63 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) are respectively 11 and 3 times higher, and 3 times lower than the Dutch risk limit for residences (18 μ g/kg dm).

The proposed ecological SRV for recreation (110 μ g/kg dm) is the same as the Dutch risk limit value for industry. The human health based SRV proposals for recreation for tox scenario 1, 2 and 3 (1949, 1949 and 447.2 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) are respectively 17, 17 and 4 times higher than the Dutch risk limit for industry (110 μ g/kg dm).

The proposed human health based SRV for industry (1949 μ g/kg dm, adjusted for drinking water) is 10 times lower than the Dutch human health based risk limit (18800 μ g/kg dm), 18 times higher than the Dutch risk limit taking into account biomagnification (110 μ g/kg dm) and 5 times lower than the Dutch ecological risk limit taking into account direct toxicity only (9100 μ g/kg dm).

The Netherlands based the choice of an ecotoxicologically-underpinned intervention value over a health-related underpinned intervention value on an evaluation with the reference value of Zeilmaker (2016) and not with the proposed TDI from EFSA (2018). It is therefore only useful to compare the human health based SRV for scenario 2 with the Dutch human health based risk limit. The human health based SRV is lower than the Dutch risk limit _{human} for all landuse types (with recreation and industry adjusted for drinking water).

The proposal for a guideline value in Norway is 0.1 μ g/kg dm; this value is based on a study with earthworms (Stubberud, 2006) and also applies as a sum parameter for PFAS. Denmark has a quality criterion of 390 μ g/kg soil as sum parameter (DEPA, 2015), but this value is based on the old RfD of US-EPA (0.03 μ g/kg/d) and therefore in fact obsolete.

The human health based screening value is 1260 μ g/kg dm in the USA and 2100 μ g/kg dm in Canada; the screening value which takes groundwater protection into account is much lower (0.378 μ g/kg dm in the USA). Australia has derived the following health-based screening values as a sum parameter for PFOS and PFHxS: 9 μ g/kg dm for residence with garden, 2000 μ g/kg dm for residence with minimum risk of soil contact, 1000 μ g/kg dm for public areas and 20000 μ g/kg dm for industry and trade.

Soil				
Agriculture/nature	Risk limit value _{eco} for	3.0 μg/kg	The	RIVM (2019) and
	the temporary	dm	Netherlands	update (RIVM-
	framework for action			actualisatie,
Residence	Risk limit value _{eco} for	18 µg/kg		2019)
	the temporary	dm		
	framework for action			
Industry	Risk limit value _{eco} for	110 μg/kg		
	the temporary	dm		
	framework for action			
Agriculture/nature	Risk limit value _{human}	19000		
		µg/kg dm		
Residence with	Risk limit value _{human}	92 μg/kg		
vegetable garden		dm		
Residence with	Risk limit value _{human}	1200 µg/kg		
garden		dm		
Industry/recreation ^d	Risk limit value _{human}	18800		
		µg/kg dm		
Upper limit	MTR _{human-soil}	6600 μg/kg	The	Wintersen <i>et al.</i>
(intervention value)		dm	Netherlands	(2016)
Lower limit (target	Reporting limit	0.1 µg/kg		
value)		dm	-	
Residence with	MTR _{residence-garden}	11 μg/kg		
garden		dm		
Residence with	Health based	9 μg/kg dm	Australia	Australië (2018)
garden	screening value			
	(PFOS+PFHxS) (HHSV)		-	
Residence with	Health based	2000 µg/kg		
minimal risk of soil	screening value	dm		
contact	(PFOS+PFHxS) (HHSV)		-	
Public area	Health based	1000 µg/kg		
	screening value	dm		
	(PFOS+PFHxS) (HHSV)			

Table 36 Foreign reference values for soil and groundwater^a.

	Other green spaces, buildings, infrastructure, industry	SR_{eco} , biomagnification	8°µg/kg dm	Location- specific Netherlands	Wintersen <i>et al.</i> (2016)
ſ	Industry -	Health based	20000	Australia	Australië (2018)
	commerce	screening value (PFOS+PFHxS) (HHSV)	μg/kg dm	(2018)	
ſ	Quality criterion	QC _{soil}	390 μg/kg dm	Denmark	DEPA (2015)
	Proposal of guideline value		0.1 μg/kg dm	Norway	DEPA (2015)
ſ	Protection of	RSL (Regional	0.378 µg/kg	United States	Australië (2018)
L	groundwater	Screening Level)	dm	of America	
l	Screening value	RSL	1260 µg/kg	(2017)	
	human		dm		
l	Screening value	SSV (Soil Screening	2100 µg/kg	Canada (2017)	
	human	Value)	dm		
	Groundwater			1	
l	Upper limit	MTR _{DW}	4.7 μg/l	The	Wintersen 2016
ļ	(intervention value)			Netherlands	
l	Lower limit	$NR_{eco} = 1/10 MTR_{eco}$	0.23.10 ⁻³		
ŀ	(target value)		µg/l		
l	Human risk limit		310 μg/l	The	Alphenaar <i>et al.</i>
l	residence with			Netherlands	(2018)
ŀ	garden (Csoil)				
l	Human risk limit		Not	The	
l	residence with		determined	Netherlands	
	vegetable garden				
L	(USOII)				

^a The values for the Netherlands are generic risk limits, not national soil remediation values; ^b Application of correction to standard soil is recommended; ^c RIVM has concluded that the data on which this value has been determined may not be complete. A new inventory of the available data is necessary to determine whether this value of 8 μ g/kg is correct (Alphenaar et al., 2018). ^d No crop consumption, limited soil contact

CHAPTER 3. PFOA

3.1. IDENTIFICATION

PFOA	
name English	Perfluorooctanoic acid
name Dutch	Perfluoroctaanzuur
CAS number:	335-67-1
EINECS number:	206-397-9
EC index number:	607-704-00-2
formula: C8HF15O2	C8HF15O2
molecular weight:	414.07 g/mole
conversion:	1 ppm=17.21 mg/m³; 1 mg/m³=0.06 ppm
	(calculated based on molecular weight) (ATSDR
	draft (2018))

3.2. SOURCES OF PFOA

PFOA does not occur naturally in the environment. Perfluorinated substances with a long C chain are (or have been) used in various applications, such as textiles, making carpets and leather water- and dirt-resistant, surfactants, extinguishing foams and grease-freeing paper (EFSA, 2008c). Specific applications of PFOA are as an adjuvant in Teflon (non-stick coating) for frying pans, and in herbicides and insecticides. Precursors (e.g. fluorinated telomeres) can be a source of PFOA, as well as side-chain fluorinated polymers. (CONCAWE, 2016).

3.3. BEHAVIOUR IN SOIL AND PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

3.3.1. FATE OF PFOA IN SOIL

The information on behaviour in soil is primarily derived from CONCAWE (2016). PFOA belongs to the group of perfluoroalkyl carboxyl acids (PFCA) within the large group of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS); from the viewpoint of behaviour and distribution, PFCA form a homogeneous group. The properties of the group therefore also apply to PFOA, although for certain properties there may be quantitative trends determined by chain length.

\rightarrow Chemical form

Under typical environmental conditions, most PFAS and their salts occur as solids. The relevant form of PFCA for the environment (soil, groundwater and surface water with a normal pH of 5-9) is the anion. The formation of anions is accompanied by a decrease in adsorption to soil and sediment as

they are usually net negatively charged. The speed of transport through soil or sediment decreases with a longer perfluorinated C chain and with an increasing content of organic carbon (OC) in the soil. PFSA (such as PFOA) bind more strongly than PFCA with the same number of C-atoms. PFAS (with the exception of telomere alcohols which have a hydroxyl function) are surfactants with a hydrophobic perfluorinated C chain and a hydrophilic functional group (e.g. sulphate or carboxyl). Unlike ordinary surfactants, the hydrophobic perfluorinated C chain of PFAS also has hydrophilic properties, making PFAS coatings resistant not only to water but also to oil and grease. The surface activity of PFAS is stronger than that of similar, ordinary surfactants. On the one hand, PFAS can settle at the interface of different phases, for example groundwater (hydrophilic) and soil air (hydrophobic), and on the other hand micelles can form in solution.

ightarrow Distribution

PFCA are widely distributed in the environment due to their high solubility in water, low to moderate sorption to soil and sediment, and resistance to biological and chemical degradation. PFAS have a low vapour pressure, meaning that transport in the vapour phase only plays a minimal role. The Henry coefficients of PFAS are highly varied. The Henry coefficient of PFOA is comparable to that of benzene and xylenes. Evaporation from water is therefore not considered to be a significant process. The degree of transport of PFAS via water is influenced by the degree of adsorption to sediment or soil during that transport; the higher the sorption, the more the transport of PFAS via the aqueous phase is retarded. There are two sorption mechanisms that control the degree of adsorption:

- hydrophobic sorption of solid organic particles, and
- sorption on the surface of charged mineral surfaces.

The parameters that measure the sorption of solid organic C particles are the organic carbon partition coefficient (K_{oc}) and the solid/liquid partition coefficient (Kd). The octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) is not a suitable parameter for adsorption because it is difficult to measure due to the cationic and anionic charge of PFAS (PFAS do not have normal lipophilic behaviour). These PFCA that are strong acids occur almost exclusively as anions; they can adsorb to the charged mineral surfaces present in the soil or sediment, thus influencing the transport of PFAS through water. To demonstrate this possible mechanism, several experiments have been described in the literature, but the degree of adsorption or the impact on transport has not yet been quantified.

\rightarrow Transformation

The C-F covalent bond is one of the strongest bonds in organic chemistry. PFAS therefore have a high thermal, chemical, photolytic and biological stability. There is no indication that PFCA would undergo biotransformation or photolysis under normal environmental conditions. Under aerobic conditions with activated sludge, no removal or biotransformation was measured for PFOA. Some removal of PFOA has been measured under anaerobic conditions, but without formation of metabolites or increase in fluoride. There are no tests demonstrating significant or complete degradation of PFOA under environmental conditions. Due to the strong C-F bond, PFOA is persistent in the environment. Under natural conditions, precursors (alcohol telomeres) can convert to PFCA. For example, biotransformation of the 8:2 telomere alcohol (8:2 FTOH²⁶) to PFOA would proceed via an oxidation of the alcohol to an acid, and then a complete biodegradation (oxidation) of the non-fluorinated part.

²⁶ Consists of 8 fully fluorinated C atoms, an ethyl group and an alcohol function

3.3.2. PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

PFOA is a powder with a melting point, depending on the source, ranging from 37 to 60°C and a density of 1.8 g/cm³. The physicochemical properties of PFOA are listed in Table 37. Some parameters have been estimated using the EpiSuite modelling platform of the US EPA for comparison with measured values (if available); it should be noted that the estimated values may not accurately reflect actual properties as there are no perfluor structures in the EpiSuite training set (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018).

\rightarrow Water solubility (S)

PFOA has good solubility in water. The measured solubility ranges from 2.3 to 9.5 g/l. Due to its good solubility in water, PFOA can distribute fairly easily through the water into the environment. PFOS and PFOA have the same number of C-atoms, but PFOS has more C-F units than PFOA which has a carboxylic group; consequently, PFOA is less hydrophobic than PFOS (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015). The anion also has a high solubility (Prevedouros *et al.*, 2006).

A solubility of 9.5.10³ mg/l (25°C) is assumed for the calculations of the soil remediation values. This is the value stated in the REACH Annex XV Restriction report (ECHA, 2014), and which is also used in the derivation of risk limits by the Netherlands (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018; Wintersen *et al.*, 2019) and standards by Australia and New-Zealand (FSANZ, 2016). Wintersen *et al.* (2019) states 7.09.10³ mg/l, this is 9.5.10³ mg/l (25°C) converted to 10°C for use in CSOIL.

\rightarrow Acid dissociation constant

PFOA dissociates and is available as an anion in environmentally relevant pH (3-8) (EFSA (2008b); ATSDR draft (2018)). PFOA has a pKa of -0.2 to 3.8. This means that in a neutral soil, PFOA is mainly present as an anion. At pH 7, only 3 to 6 in 10^5 molecules are PFOA, the rest is the anion; at pH 1, approximately 6% is PFOA (Prevedouros *et al.*, 2006). For the calculations of the soil remediation values a pKa of 2.8 is assumed, given that several authorities use this value in their recent evaluation documents (US-EPA, 2016d; Lijzen *et al.*, 2018).

\rightarrow Vapour pressure (Vp)

The measured vapour pressure of PFOA ranges from 4 to 1300 Pa (CONCAWE, 2016). In its most recent evaluation of PFOA, US-EPA indicates an experimental vapour pressure of 70 Pa at 25°C (US-EPA, 2016d). ECHA mentions a vapour pressure of only 4.2 Pa at 25°C, this value is calculated by extrapolation from a vapour pressure at 59.3°C. (ECHA, 2014). The volatilisation of PFOA is negligible under environmentally relevant conditions (pH > 2.5) (Johansson *et al.*, 2017). The anion presumably has a negligible vapour pressure (Prevedouros *et al.*, 2006). The measured vapour pressure of the ammonium salt (0.0081 Pa) is indeed lower than that of the acid.

For the calculations of the soil remediation values, a vapour pressure of 70 Pa (25°C) is assumed, as it is a measured value, at a realistic ambient temperature which, moreover, was selected by the Netherlands and US-EPA in their recent evaluations of PFOA. In S-Risk the vapour pressure is converted to a vapour pressure at 10°C. Furthermore, especially for PFOA, in S-Risk the vapour pressure is corrected for pKa (Vp_z), using the following formula used by Lijzen *et al.* (2018) in CSOIL: $Vp_z = VP_{10^\circ C}/10^{(pH-pKa)}$. Lijzen 2018 obtains a vapour pressure of 1.7×10^{-2} Pa.

\rightarrow Henry coefficient (H)

The Henry coefficient is the ratio between vapour pressure and solubility. The Henry coefficient of PFOA ranges from 0.04 to 0.09 Pa m³/mol (CONCAWE, 2016). The Henry coefficient of the protonated form (at very low pH) is 0.362 Pa m³/mol). PFOA dissociates in water and the anions have a strong tendency towards the aqueous phase, which makes the substances less volatile than calculated on the basis of their physical and chemical properties (Pancras *et al.*, 2018). For the calculations of the soil remediation values, the Henry coefficient is calculated by S-Risk, based on the solubility and the corrected vapour pressure (Vp_z).

\rightarrow Octanol water partition coefficient (log K_{ow})

The log K_{ow} cannot be measured because the substance forms several layers in a mixture of octanol and water. FSANZ (2016) indicates an estimated value of 6.3. The log K_{ow} calculated with the COSMOtherm model is one order of magnitude lower and amounts to 5.3 (Wang *et al.*, 2011). The log K_{ow} estimated with EpiSuite is even lower and is 4.81. The log K_{ow} of the ammonium salt is much lower (0.7).

In S-Risk the log K_{ow} is used to calculate Kp, K_{oc} , and transfer factors, unless an experimental value is entered. Experimental values are available for these three parameters. S-Risk will therefore not have to deal with log K_{ow} . S-Risk does however require the input of a value for log K_{ow} . The calculated value 4,81 of EpiSuite is entered in S-Risk, because the algorithm of this model is transparent while the algorithm of the commercial COSMOtherm is not freely available. S-Risk does not use this log K_{ow} anywhere in its calculations for PFOA.

\rightarrow Organic carbon-water partition coefficient (log K_{oc})

Monitoring studies suggest that PFOA is mobile in soil and can seep into groundwater (Prevedouros et al., 2006)(Davis *et al.*, 2007).

For organic substances the log K_{oc} can be calculated from the log K_{ow} . However, for surfactants the log K_{ow} is not a good indicator for sorption to the soil because the log K_{ow} cannot be measured (accurately).

PFOA slightly adsorbs to the soil with log K_{oc} values of 1.15 to 2.96 (K_{oc} 14 to 912) (Prevedouros *et al.*, 2006; ECHA, 2014; CONCAWE, 2016), but less strong than PFOS; PFOA leaches significantly better than PFOS (Alphenaar *et al.*, 2018).

The adsorption of PFOA was measured in sediment at several locations in the Netherlands (Kwadijk *et al.*, 2010). The average log K_{oc} for 19 samples was 2.63±0.34 (Table 37). The average value for the anion in 2 samples, measured by Higgins and Luthy (2006), is slightly lower (2.06). At lower pH and with increasing Ca in the soil, the absorption of PFOA is stronger (Higgins & Luthy, 2006). The log K_{oc} , determined by adsorption measured in six soils with different OC content, was 2 (K_{oc} 96) (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015). Desorption was 24 to 58%, which is higher than the desorption of PFOS (<13%) (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015).

The log K_{oc} measured by Ahrens *et al.* (2010) in sediment from the bay of Tokyo is 1.9±0.1. Log K_{oc} values for sandy and oily river sediment from Japan are higher, with values of 4.5 and 2.5 respectively. The OC content had a significant impact on adsorption. (Ahrens *et al.*, 2011). de Voogt *et al.* (2006) have measured Kd values in sediments from the Rhine, in laboratory experiments and in the field. The log Kd intervals were -0.22 to 0.53 and -0.40 to 0.30 respectively.

The average log Kd of 19 sediments from different locations in the Netherlands is 1.83 ± 0.40 (Kwadijk *et al.*, 2010). The adsorption behaviour of PFOA was measured in six soils with different characteristics, mainly in terms of organic carbon content (0.2 to 39%) (Milinovic *et al.*, 2015). The

log Kd rose from 0.34 to 1.58 (Kd 2.2 to 38) I/kg; the corresponding Freundlich coefficients rose from 4 to 40 I/kg. There was a positive correlation between adsorption and organic carbon content. Li *et al.* (2018) who carefully analysed this correlation, claim that the correlation was strongly influenced by one sediment with a high OC content; they removed this value, resulting in a weaker correlation. According to the authors, the sorption behaviour is primarily determined by the hydrophobia Milinovic *et al.* (2015) The lower limit of the log Kd interval for the ammonium salt is significantly lower (log Kd from -0.39 to 0.94) (Dupont, 2003).

On behalf of OVAM, Kd values were calculated for soils contaminated with PFAS. To this end, OVAM selected two industrial sites, each with an old and a new fire drill site, the top layer of which was sampled by (OVAM, 2018). Four samples were subjected to shaking tests and the Kd was calculated as the ratio between total concentration and eluate concentration. It was assumed that the concentrations in solution after the shake test were in balance with the solid phase. The Kd values were respectively 12.5 and 1.7 I/kg for site 1 and 9.5 and 10.6 I/kg for site 2. The median Kd for both sites was 10.0 I/kg.

The adsorption of PFOA is moderate and lower than that of PFOS. Stronger adsorption takes place at lower pH; an increase in calcium in the soil also reinforces the adsorption (Higgins & Luthy, 2006). For the calculations of the soil remediation values the log K_{oc} of 2.06 from Higgins and Luthy (2006) is used. This value is one of the lower experimental K_{oc} values in Table 37 (median 2.28), and thus worst-case (the lower the K_{oc} , the more mobile the substance). EFSA (2008b), the Netherlands (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018) and US-EPA (2016d) also selected the log K_{oc} value of Higgins and Luthy (2006) in their evaluations of PFOA.

The Kd is calculated by S-Risk from the K_{oc} with the formula Kd = OC(organic C content) x K_{oc} .

Note: The Dutch expertise centre for PFAS is of the opinion that the relationship between organic carbon and adsorption is less clear for PFAS than for other organic substances, due to the surfactant behaviour of PFAS. It is therefore not straightforward to correct, for PFAS, the intervention value for the soil organic matter content, as is common practice in the soil remediation values system for organic contaminants (Alphenaar et al., 2018). Using published data, Li *et al.* (2018) evaluated the role of organic carbon and other soil properties in the adsorption of PFAS in soil and sediment. The authors found weak correlations between Kd and only OC ($R^2 = 0.05-0.07$). For pH alone, the correlation with Kd was also weak, with a R^2 of 0.07 for PFOA over a pH interval of 4.5 to 10 (n = 36). Using multiple regression models, it was shown that at least the OC, pH and clay content have a significant effect on the sorption. For PFOA, the R^2 for these three parameters together rose to 0.45.

\rightarrow Octanol-air partition coefficient (K_{oa})

The log K_{oa} calculated with the COSMOtherm model is 7.23 (Wang *et al.*, 2011); the log K_{oa} calculated with K_{oa}Win (EpiSuite) is 3 orders of magnitude lower (4.24). The formula used by K_{oa}Win is K_{oa} = K_{ow}/Kaw. S-Risk also calculates log K_{oa} based on log K_{ow}. However, for the reasons discussed above, using log K_{ow} is avoided as much as possible for deriving the SRV, to reduce the uncertainty within the modelling of the soil remediation value. COSMOtherm is a commercial model and the underlying formula for calculating the K_{oa} is not freely available. In S-Risk, K_{oa} is used in the calculation of transfer to plants; as experimental data are available for this purpose, the import of a K_{oa} is not necessary. Entering a K_{oa} value is optional in S-Risk. For the calculations of the soil remediation values it is therefore not necessary to select a log K_{oa}.

ightarrow Permeation coefficient through drinking water pipes (Dpe, Dpvc)

No values were found for diffusion of PFOA through polyethylene or PVC drinking water pipes. In the Netherlands, for Dpe, the default value of 1.10^{-7} m²/d is calculated in CSOIL, and this choice is accounted for as follows: *For the common contaminants, Dpe is in the range 0.10-35* * 10^{-7} m²/day (*Vonk, 1985*). In the absence of data, it is recommended to use the permeation coefficient of a substance with a similar structure (van den Berg, 1997). Failing this, the calculation is made with a default value of $1*10^{-7}$ m²d, which is also used in other compounds (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018). According to the authors, diffusion is likely to be low compared to that of the most common contaminants (Vonk, 1985) because PFOA is a large and elongated molecule and therefore takes a lot of energy to move through the polymer structures. However, PFOA has moderate solubility and it cannot be ruled out that PFOA has a considerable affinity with the apolar environment of the polyethylene. This effect is probably smaller than the high resistance to movement (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018). In its most recent report on risk limits for PFOA, RIVM states a Dpe of 1.10^{-7} m²/d in Table 3.1 (referring to previous RIVM reports) and of $3.15.10^{-10}$ m²/d in Annex 3 (input data for CSOIL); no reference or calculation method is given for the latter value (Wintersen *et al.*, 2019). As such, we prefer to follow the Dpe with the justification of Lijzen *et al.* (2018).

By default, the value of Dpvc = Dpe/1000, according to the technical guidance document of S-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2017).

For the calculations of the soil remediation values, the value for Dpe is assumed to be 1.10^{-7} m²/d.; this is the standard value used by Lijzen *et al.* (2018) for calculations in CSOIL. For Dpvc, the value 1.10^{-10} m²/d (this is Dpe/1000) is used.

ightarrow Diffusion for organic substance in air (Da) and water (Dw)

These values are used to calculate the diffusion when evaporation to outdoor and indoor air takes place. Entry in S-Risk is optional. No values were found for diffusion of PFOA in air or water. Therefore, for the calculations of the soil remediation values, both values are calculated in S-Risk, starting from the molecular weight, as specified in the technical guidance document (Cornelis *et al.*, 2017).

Parameter	Unit	Value	Original reference	Reference
Chemical structure				PubChem ³
Туре		Organic		
Physical state		solid (powder)		EFSA (2008b)
Solubility in water	mg/l	3400 mg/l; 4100 mg/l at 22°C	US-EPA (2005)	EFSA (2008b)
		9.5.10³ mg/l (25°C)	ECHA (2014)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018); FSANZ (2016)
		9.5.10 ³ mg/l (25°C) 4.14.10 ³ mg/l (22°C)	ECHA (2014)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
рКа		3400 mg/l;		Deng <i>et al.</i> (2012)
		3400 – 9500 mg/l at 20-25°C		CONCAWE (2016);
		2290 (at 24°C)		HSDB
		3300		1500
		4340 (at 24.1°C)		
Melting point		54.3°C		FSANZ (2016)

Table 37: Physicochemical properties of PFOA, the values used for the calculations in S-Risk are indicated in bold.

		45-50°C	US-EPA (2005)	EFSA (2008b)
		37-60°C		CONCAWE (2016)
Density	g/cm ³	1.8 at 20°C	Kroschwitz and Howe-	CONCAWE (2016);
			Grant (1994)	ATSDR draft (2018)
				draft
Vapour pressure (Vp)	Ра	100 Pa (20°C)	US-EPA (2005)	EFSA (2008b)
		4.2 Pa (25°C)		
		(0.0081 Pa at 25°C ammonium salt)		
		4-1300 Pa		CONCAWE (2016);
				Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		70 (at 25°C)	EpiSuite (exp); US-EPA	HSDB; Lijzen <i>et al.</i>
			(2016d; 2016b)	(2018)
		128 (at 59.3°C)	ECHA (2014); US-EPA	ATSDR draft (2018);
		4.2 (extrapolated to 25°C)	(2016d; 2016b)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		2.3 (extrapolated to 20°C)		
Henry coefficient (Henry constant) ²⁷	Pa m³/mol	0.04-0.09		Pancras et al. (2018)
		Cannot be estimated ²⁸		EFSA (2008b)
		0.362 (protonated form) (very low pH)	Kwan (2001)	ATSDR draft (2018)
Log K _{ow} ²⁹	g/g	0.7 (ammonium salt)	3M-Company (1979)	EFSA (2008b)
		Not measurable	US-EPA (2016d; 2016b)	EFSA (2008b); ATSDR
				draft (2018); Lijzen <i>et</i>
				al. (2018)

²⁹ Entered in S-Risk but not used in further calculations

²⁷ Calculated in S-Risk

²⁸ The vapour pressure of the pure solid is sufficient to sustain mg/kg concentrations of vapour in the atmosphere, but in practice this is unlikely as PFOA will dissociate in aqueous media thereby reducing its vapour pressure above aqueous solutions. For this reason the Henry's Law constant cannot be estimated from the vapour pressure and solubility.

		6.30 (estimate) in octanol-water		FSANZ (2016); ILO-
		5.30 (calculated)	Wang et al. (2011)	CONCAWE (2016); Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		4.81(calculated)	EpiSuite	
Log K _{oc}	l/kg	2.06 (anion) (sediment) (log normal average log K_{oc}) (n=2)	Higgins and Luthy (2006); US-EPA (2016d; 2016b)	EFSA (2008b); Lijzen et al. (2018)
		2.11 (anion) (sediment) (regression log K _{oc}) (n=4)	Higgins and Luthy (2006)	
		1.15 – 2.96	ECHA (2014)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		1.31 – 2.35		CONCAWE (2016); Pancras <i>et gl.</i> (2018)
		2.63 (field data, sediment, n=19)	Kwadiik <i>et al.</i> (2010)	
		1.9 (field data, sediment)	Ahrens <i>et al.</i> (2010)	Ahrens <i>et al.</i> (2011)
		4.5 (river sediment, sandy, foc 0.03%)	Ahrens et al. (2011)	Zareitalabad <i>et al.</i>
		2.5 (river sediment, muddy, f _{oc} 1.6%)		(2013)
		2 (K _{oc} 96) (OC 0.2-39%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	
		1.2-2.4 (K _{oc} 17-230)	Prevedouros et al. (2006)	ATSDR draft (2018)
Log K _d	dm³/kg	-0.2-0.53 (sediment)	de Voogt <i>et al.</i> (2006)	EFSA (2008b) ³¹
		-0.4-0.30 (field data, sediment)	de Voogt <i>et al.</i> (2006)	
		1.83 (1.19-2.85) (field data, sediment, n=19)	Kwadijk <i>et al.</i> (2010)	
		-0.39-0.94 (ammonium salt) (OECD protocol 106)	Dupont (2003)	EFSA (2008b)
		≤ 0.53 (Kd 0 – 3.4 (pH 7)		CONCAWE (2016); Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		0.34 (Kd 2.2) (OC 0.2%) 0.41 (Kd 2.6) (OC 1.6%) 0.43 (Kd 2.7) (OC 3.9%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	

 ³⁰ http://www.ilo.org/dyn/icsc/showcard.display?p version=2&p card id=1613
³¹ EFSA (2018) indicates 0,55 as the highest value of the interval

		0.59 (Kd 3.9) (OC 7.7%)		
		0.85 (Kd 7.1) (OC 9.4%)		
		1.58 (Kd 38) (OC 39%)		
K _{ads} F (Freundlich coefficient)	l/kg ³²	4 (OC 0.2%)	Milinovic <i>et al.</i> (2015)	
		2 (OC 1.6%)		
		2 (OC 3.9%)		
		2 (OC 7.7%)		
		7 (OC 9.4%)		
		40 (OC 39%)		
Log K _{oa} ³³	g/g	4.24 (calculated)		EpiSuite K _{oa} Win
				v1.10 ⁵
		7.23 (calculated)	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2011)	
Dissociative		Yes		EFSA (2008b)
Acid dissociation constant (pKa)		2.80	Moody and Field (2000)	FSANZ (2016); HSDB;
				Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		3.80	Burns <i>et al.</i> (2008)	FSANZ (2016)
		2-3	Prevedouros et al. (2006)	EFSA (2008b)
		1.30	Kutsuna and Hori (2008)	HSDB
		-0.16 to 3.8		CONCAWE (2016);
				Pancras <i>et al.</i> (2018);
		-0.2 to 3.8	ECHA (2014)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
		0.5 (estimated)		FSANZ (2016)
Dpe	m²/d	1.10 ⁻⁷	Vonk (1985); van den Berg	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
			(1997)	
Dpvc	m²/d	1.10⁻¹⁰ (Dpe/1000)		Cornelis et al. (2017)
Da	m²/d	No data		
Dw	m²/d	No data		

 ³² This unit assumes that n=1; the exact unit is μg^{1-1/n}(I)^{1/n}kg⁻¹
³³ Log Koa is optional in S-Risk, which uses Koa in the calculation of transfer to plants; as experimental data are available for this purpose, a Koa value is not necessary.

3.4. OCCURRENCE IN THE ENVIRONMENT

3.4.1. SOIL

PFOA does not occur naturally in the soil.

3.4.2. AIR

ightarrow Outdoor air

There are no data on perfluorinated compounds in the air in Flanders.

In the project BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009) the outdoor air concentration was derived from a number of European studies (Barber *et al.*, 2007; Jahnke *et al.*, 2007a; Dreyer & Ebinghaus, 2009). For outdoor air, the authors used the available measurement data and processed it statistically. This resulted in a P50 of 8.9.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ and a P95 of 5.52.10⁻⁷ mg/m³ for PFOA. Based on European literature, EFSA (2008b) defined two scenarios for low and high exposure, with outdoor air concentrations of 3.00.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ and 3.00.10⁻⁷ mg/m³ respectively, which are of the same order of magnitude as those used in BF-Risk.

In the GAPS (Global Atmospheric Passive Sampling) network, POPs, including PFOA are measured at 21 different places on earth. Rauert *et al.* (2018) compared the concentrations for 2009, 2013 and 2015. Samples were taken in 3 types of areas: background, urban and polar. In Europe, samples were taken in the Czech Republic (background), Norway (polar), Ireland (background) and Paris (urban). In 2015, the background concentrations for PFOA (across all background measuring stations) were < $6.00.10^{-10} - 7.20.10^{-9}$ mg/m³, in 2013 they were < $9.00.10^{-10} - 6.20.10^{-9}$ mg/m³ and in 2009 they were < $9.00.10^{-10} - 1.20.10^{-8}$ mg/m³. The authors also refer to a study in Switzerland where a background concentrations of 1.7.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ was calculated (Muller *et al.*, 2012). In 2015, for urban areas the concentrations of PFOA were respectively < $9.00.10^{-10} - 3.20.10^{-9}$ mg/m³. Muller *et al.* (2012) calculated 7.70.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ for the urban area.

For deriving the soil remediation value for PFOA, we use a concentration of 8.9.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ PFOA in outdoor air (P50 value from Cornelis *et al.* (2009)). This value is of the same order of magnitude as the background concentrations and concentrations in urban areas determined in the GAPS network. In addition, it is similar to the urban concentrations calculated by Muller *et al.* (2012).

\rightarrow Indoor air

Higher concentrations can be found in indoor air than in outdoor air, due to indoor sources. In the BF-Risk project a concentration of 2.6.10⁻⁹ mg/m³ was assumed for indoor air based on data from Jahnke *et al.* (2007b). For deriving soil remediation values, the background concentration in indoor air is equal to that in outdoor air.

3.4.3. DRINKING WATER

There are no VMM (Flanders Environment Agency) measurement data for PFOA in drinking water. In the BF-Risk project, 4 samples of tap water from 3 different drinking water companies were

analysed. The measured concentrations of PFOA were $1.1.10^{-3} - 4.7.10^{-3} \mu g/l$ with a median of $1.1.10^{-3} \mu g/l$ and an average concentration of $2.04.10^{-3} \mu g/l$, the latter value was used for the intake estimation in the BF-Risk project (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009). Costopoulou *et al.* (2015) investigated 11 PFAS in tap water samples from Greece and the Netherlands. For the Dutch samples, PFAS were detected in 49% of the samples. When the tap water came from groundwater, the results were smaller than the LOQ. The measured concentrations of PFOA in Dutch drinking water were $1.9 - 11.1.10^{-3} \mu g/l$. Taking both groundwater and surface water into account, an average concentration of 1.7 (lower bound^{34, 10})) and $1.9.10^{-3} \mu g/l$ (upper bound³⁵) respectively was recorded in Dutch tap water.

EFSA (2012) calculated an average concentration of respectively $2.30.10^{-3} \,\mu\text{g/l}$ and $5,30.10^{-3} \,\mu\text{g/l}$ (upper bound results) based on 152 samples of tap water from different European countries over the period 2006-2012. For bottled water (254 samples) the concentration was slightly lower, $0.30.10^{-3} \,\mu\text{g/l}$ (lower bound) and $1,60.10^{-3} \,\mu\text{g/l}$ PFOA (upper bound results) respectively.

Although the results determined in BF-Risk come from a limited amount of samples, the results are similar to those determined by EFSA and Costopoulou *et al.* (2015). For this reason, a concentration of $2.04.10^{-3}$ µg/l PFOA is assumed for tap water (average value 4 Flemish tap water samples determined in BF-Risk). Depending on the data used for intake via food, this value may or may not be used when calculating the soil remediation value. If drinking water is already included in the diet, it will be equated to zero here in order to avoid double counting.

3.4.4. CONCENTRATIONS IN FOODSTUFFS AND INTAKE VIA FOOD

Concentrations of PFOA in foodstuffs and intake estimates for Flanders/Belgium are discussed in BF-Risk and were calculated by EFSA in 2012 and 2018³⁶. In the literature, data are also available for Sweden and the Netherlands, and in the European project PERFOOD the exposure via food was quantified for 4 European countries including Belgium. For the calculation of the soil remediation value, data should ideally be used in which concentrations in food and intake estimates are linked.

BF-Risk – Flanders

In the project BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009; D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009) samples of foodstuffs of Flemish origin were analysed, with a distinction between samples originating from organic farming and conventional farming. The samples analysed were divided into a number of groups including "vegetables" (potato, carrot, tomato, chicory, onion, lettuce, leek and wheat), "fruit" (apple and strawberry), "meat" (chicken, pork and beef), "dairy" (chicken eggs and raw cow's milk), "fish" (eel, cod, rocket, dab, whiting, herring, sprats and flounder) and "drink" (beer and tap water). For each item 6 growers were sought, 3 organic growers and 3 "classic" growers. Three pieces per selected food item were purchased from each grower. Table 2 gives an overview of the results of the analysis for a number of vegetables, meat, cow's milk and eggs. In fish from the North Sea, 6.0.10⁻⁴ mg/kg of PFOA was detected.

Table 38: Overview of the range (minimum-maximum) of PFOA concentrations and the median in organic and conventional food samples (D'Hollander *et al.*, 2009).

Conventionally grown

³⁴ For the results below the LOQ, a 0 value was assumed as concentration

 $^{^{35}}$ A concentration equal to the LOQ (0.6 $.10^{-3}\,\mu\text{g/l})$ was assumed for results below the LOQ.

³⁶ After finalising this report, EFSA published new data in 2020
	Min-max (median) mg/kg	Min-max (median) mg/kg
Potato	<2.00.10 ⁻⁴ -2.00.10 ⁻³ (3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	< 6.00.10 ⁻⁴ - 9.00.10 ⁻⁴ - (< 6.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Carrot	2.00.10 ⁻⁴ -5.00.10 ⁻⁴ (3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Onion	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -1.30.10 ⁻³ (3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ -2.3.10 ⁻³ (1.30.10 ⁻³)
Tomato	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -6.00.10 ⁻⁴ (3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Lettuce	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -9.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ -8.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Beef	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ - 3.3.10 ⁻³ (1.70.10 ⁻³)
Chicken	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Pork	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<1.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Eggs	<1.00.10 ⁻⁴ -7.00.10 ⁻⁴ (3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<6.00.10 ⁻⁴ -5.0.10 ⁻³ (<6.00.10 ⁻⁴)
Cow's milk	<3.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<3.00.10 ⁻⁴)	<3.00.10 ⁻⁴ - 3.00.10 ⁻⁴ (<3.00.10 ⁻⁴)

For the calculation of exposure, Cornelis *et al.* (2009) included data from foreign studies as foodstuffs on the Belgian (Flemish) market do not only originate from Belgium and the dataset with concentration data measured in the BF-Risk project is too limited. To this end, literature data were looked up from measurements carried out from 2003 and published until mid-May 2009. For fruit and vegetables, the levels from the BF-Risk project did not differ significantly from those from other European studies (Spain, UK). Cornelis *et al.* (2009) did however observe that there was significant variation in the data. For vegetables, the authors distinguished between vegetables and potatoes, see Table 3. No data were available for butter and therefore the data for dairy were used.

Food group	PFOA
Potato	6.74.10 ⁻⁴
Vegetables	6.47.10 ⁻⁴
Butter	1.23.10-4
Egg	8.63.10 ⁻⁴
tap water and bottled water	2.04. 10 ⁻⁶
Liver	0.00.10 ⁻³
Milk	1.23.10 ⁻⁴
Meat	5.20.10-4
Poultry	5.49.10 ⁻⁵
Seafish	5.86.10-4
Fresh water fish	7.82.10-4

Table 39: Average concentrations of PFOA in a selection of foodstuffs as used in the intake estimate by Cornelis *et al.* (2009) (mg/kg fresh weight).

For the intake via food and drinking water, the results of the Belgian Food Consumption Survey of 2004, carried out by WIV, were used (De Vriese *et al.*, 2006). This was the most recent study into food intake in the Belgian population over 15 years of age.

The average intake for the different age groups as calculated in BF-Risk is given in Table 4. The intake is dominated by potatoes, fruit, vegetables and fish and shellfish.

Table 40: Intake of PFOA via food by the Flemish (Belgian) population (ng/kg.day) (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009)

	Age	1-<3	3-<6	6-<10	10-<15	15-<21	21-<31	31-<41
--	-----	------	------	-------	--------	--------	--------	--------

(years)						
Intake						
(ng/kg.d)	20.1	12.1	8.09	6.32	6.18	5.64

Noorlander et al. (2010) - Netherlands

Noorlander *et al.* (2010) calculated the intake of PFOA via food and drinking water in the Netherlands using the 'total diet method', which is a combination of consumption data, concentration measurements in mixed samples of specific food categories and drinking water, and statistical modelling. Drinking water samples were not measured, the concentrations reported by EFSA (2008b) were used instead, namely $9.00.10^{-3} \mu g/l$. Table 41 shows a selection of concentrations measured in food samples in 2009 in the Netherlands.

Table 41: Concentration of PFOA in food groups collected in 2009 in the Netherlands (results > LOD are shown in bold).

Food group	PFOS in mg/kg
Oily fish	8.00.10 ⁻⁶
White fish	2.30.10 ⁻⁵
Butter	1.60.10 ⁻⁵
Milk	1.00.10 ⁻⁶
Eggs	<3.20.10 ⁻⁵
Beef	<5.0.10 ⁻⁶
Vegetables/fruit	5.00.10 ⁻⁶

The long-term intake was calculated for PFOA, taking into account concentration data from 2010 and data from the Dutch food consumption survey in 1998 (Table 41). The intake of drinking water contributed 55% of the total intake, followed by fruit and vegetables (19%), flour (15%) and pork (6%). The calculated intakes for the Netherlands are slightly lower than those calculated by EFSA (2012) for the UB scenario (comparable for LB scenario) and Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and comparable with those calculated by Vestergren *et al.* (2012).

Table 42: Long-term intake via food for PFOA in the Netherlands (Noorlander *et al.*, 2010; Noorlander *et al.*, 2011) for the P50 percentile (in ng/kg.d). Values under the LOD were approached according to 3 different scenarios.

Age (years)	S1: male	S1: female	S2: male	S2: female	S3: male	S3: female
2	0.385	0.470	0.424	0.452	0.691	0.736
10	0.181	0.192	0.203	0.216	0.328	0.355
40	0.222	0.236	0.237	0.252	0.314	0.338
Lifelong	0.120	0.226	0.229	0.244	0.324	0.346
average						

When the analysis results are \geq LOD but < LOQ, 3 scenarios can be identified: S1: result = LOD; S2: result = measured concentration; S3: result = LOQ

The intake data from Noorlander *et al.* (2011) are used in Wintersen *et al.* (2019) to calculate the contribution of the various foodstuffs to the background exposure when calculating risk limits for the application of PFOA-containing soil and sludge for arable and livestock farming.

EFSA (2012 and 2018) - Belgium

EFSA (2012) collected analytical results of PFOA in foodstuffs in 13 European countries over the period 2006-2012 (54,195 analytical results distributed among all PFAS of which 7,536 for PFOA, 2% of these samples came from Belgium). A selection of results is given in Table 43. The dataset was characterised by a high proportion of left-skewed data (results > LOD or LOQ), 91% for PFOA (10,522 samples of which 9,828 were eventually retained).

When the concentrations (upper bound) are compared with the samples for conventional cultivation measured in BF-Risk (Table 38), we can see that for onions, tomatoes, lettuce and beef, the EFSA results are up to 10 times lower than those measured in D'Hollander *et al.* (2009). For potatoes, carrot, milk and eggs, the results are in the same order of magnitude. A comparison with the data used for the intake estimation in BF-Risk (Table 39) shows that the mean concentrations for potatoes, a number of vegetables, eggs, milk and meat are in the same order of magnitude.

Food group	Number of samples (including mixed samples)	Proportion of left-skewed distribution of data	Average Lower bound (mg/kg)	Average Upper bound (mg/kg)
Root crops	134 (276)	97	3.40.10 ⁻⁶	2.00.10 ⁻⁴
Bulbous vegetables	8 (68)	88	2.20.10 ⁻⁶	4.00.10 ⁻⁵
Fruiting vegetables	37 (243)	81	4.50.10 ⁻⁶	6.70.10 ⁻⁵
Cabbages	23 (111)	87	1.90.10 ⁻⁶	1.10.10-4
Leafy vegetables	25 (210)	64	6.20.10 ⁻⁶	3.90.10 ⁻⁵
Leguminous vegetables	4 (13)	25	2.50.10 ⁻⁵	2.80.10 ⁻⁵
Stalk vegetables	23 (176)	78	3.00.10 ⁻⁶	8.20.10 ⁻⁵
Potatoes and potato products	299 (335)	99.7	9.00.10 ⁻⁷	6.40.10 ⁻⁴

Table 43: Selection of concentration data for PFOA in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2012).

Beef	232 (1418)	95	6.10.10 ⁻⁶	1.30.10-4
Poultry	150 (735)	99	2.40.10 ⁻⁶	1.40.10-4
Offal	1265 (1655)	98	3.40.10 ⁻⁵	1.40.10 ⁻³
Milk	152 (722)	100	0	1.20.10-4
Butter (animal fat)	12 (54)	92	1.7.10 ⁻⁶	1.3.10 ⁻⁴
Eggs	99 (585)	87	8.80.10 ⁻⁵	7.6.10 ⁻⁴
Fish and other	2542 (4403)	95	8.20.10 ⁻⁵	6.9.10 ⁻⁴
Tap water	110 (152)	92	2.30.10 ⁻⁶	5.30.10 ⁻⁶
Bottled water	254 (254)	82	3.00.10 ⁻⁷	1.60.10 ⁻⁶

Left-skewed data = data < LOQ or LOD

Lower bound: value 0 assigned to all left-skewed data, upper bound: value of LOQ or LOD assigned to left-skewed data

For the calculation of the intake, EFSA used the data in the Belgian Food Consumption Survey (BVCP 2004, Devriese *et al.* (2006)) and for children, from the Flemish toddler study (Huybrechts, 2008). The intakes for Belgium calculated in EFSA (2012) are given in Table 44, drinking water is part of the calculated intakes. In these calculations, EFSA (2012) makes the reservation that a chronic intake estimate via food cannot be accurate when more than 80% of the analysis results are lower than the LOD or LOQ. For this reason, the intake estimate below is a rough indication of exposure. If the lower bound method is used, the intake is likely to be underestimated; if the upper bound method is used, it may be significantly overestimated. When the calculated intakes from EFSA are compared with those in Cornelis *et al.* (2009), it can be seen that for most age groups the data calculated in BF-Risk are of the same order of magnitude, and slightly higher than those calculated by EFSA (upper bound).

Table 44: Average chronic PFOA intake via food for the Belgian population, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (UB) approach (EFSA, 2012).

Age (years)	1-3	3-10	10-18	18-65	65-75	≥75
Intake	0.220-	0.180-	0.09-2.8	0.110-2.6	0.91-2.50	0.120-
LB - UB	11.0	8.80				2.70
(ng/kg.d)						

EFSA (2012) states fish, fruit, eggs, drinking water, meat and vegetables (in descending order) as the main food groups contributing to the intake of PFOA for adults. For children, depending on their age, meat (3-10 years old) or fruit (1-3 years old) are the main sources.

At the end of 2018, EFSA published a new intake estimate for chronic exposure to PFOS and PFOA EFSA (2018c), based on 21,411 samples for which data for PFOS and PFOA were available (end of 2016). 62% of the samples came from Germany, followed by Norway and France. The samples were reported between 2000 and 2016, but only samples collected after 2007 were included in the calculations. For PFOS, the calculation was made with 10,012 results, for PFOA with 9,828 results. As in 2012, the data were characterised by a large proportion of left-skewed data (results < LOD or LOQ). The intake estimate for PFOA, according to EFSA, is about 30% lower in 2018 than in 2012 when using the UB approach, the LB approach results in a four times higher intake for 2018. Milk and drinking water contribute most to PFOA exposure. The EFSA report is accompanied by annexes in Excel, which present average and P95 intakes for Belgium for different age groups using the lower and upper bound approach, these data are shown in Table 45.

Table 45: Average chronic PFOA intake via food, lower bound (LB) and upper bound (UB) approach for Belgium, obtained by EFSA in 2018 (EFSA, 2018c).

Age	1-3	3-10	10-18	18-65	65-75	≥75
(years)						
Intake	0.34-4.02	0.34-3.62	0.33-1.67	0.27-1.44	0.21-1.39	0.21-1.35
LB - UB						
(ng/kg.d)						

The concentrations used by EFSA for the intake estimation are shown in Table 46, these are also taken from the Excel tables annexed to the EFSA report. Although the intake estimates in 2018 are lower than those in 2017, the concentrations reported by EFSA are higher for most foodstuffs in 2018. No explanation could be found for this in the report.

Food group	Number of samples	Proportion of left-skewed distribution of	Average Lower bound (mg/kg)**	Average Upper bound (mg/kg)
		data (%)*		
Root vegetables	163	90	1.6.10 ⁻⁵	2.39.10 ⁻⁴
Bulbous vegetables	75	98	1.0.10 ⁻⁶	2.48.10 ⁻⁴
Fruiting vegetables	122	88	4.0.10 ⁻⁶	1.74.10 ⁻⁴
Cabbages	35	82	2.0.10 ⁻⁶	1.52.10 ⁻⁴
Leafy vegetables	103	81	7.0.10 ⁻⁶	1.41.10 ⁻⁴
Leguminous vegetables	5	29	2.3.10 ⁻⁵	6.2.10 ⁻⁵
Stalk vegetables	85	89	2.0.10 ⁻⁶	2.30.10 ⁻⁴
Potatoes	50	100	0	4.06.10 ⁻⁴
Beef	146	96	5.40.10 ⁻⁵	1.86.10 ⁻⁴
Poultry	172	98	3.00.10 ⁻⁶	1.45.10 ⁻⁴
Offal	1415	97	4.50.10 ⁻⁵	1.390.10 ⁻³
Milk	241	98	6.30.10 ⁻⁵	2.66.10 ⁻⁴
Eggs	166	92	1.10.10-4	3.69.10 ⁻⁴
Fish and other	2855	94	2.24.10-4	8.84.10-4
Tap water	46	61	3.00.10 ⁻⁶	9.00.10 ⁻⁶
Bottled water	330	86	0	1.00.10-6

Table 46: Selection of concentration data for PFOA in foodstuffs according to EFSA (2018c).

*Left-skewed data = data < LOQ or LOD

**Lower bound: value 0 assigned to all left-skewed data, upper bound: value of LOQ or LOD assigned to left-skewed data

Vestergren et al. (2012) - Sweden

Vestergren *et al.* (2012) calculated the intakes of various PFAS for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. The authors used a highly sensitive analysis technique, the analysis results for a selection of food samples can be found in Table 47.

Food group	2010	2005	1999
Dairy products	2.90.10 ⁻⁵	1.60.10 ⁻⁵	< LOD
Meat products	1.20.10 ⁻⁵	1.60.10 ⁻⁵	2.40.10 ⁻⁵
Fats	< LOD	1.50.10 ⁻⁵	1.00.10 ⁻⁵
Pastry	1.80.10 ⁻⁵	3.60.10 ⁻⁵	4.70.10 ⁻⁵
Fish	5.00.10 ⁻⁵	3.20.10 ⁻⁵	1.10.10-4
Eggs	3.90.10 ⁻⁵	7.20.10 ⁻⁶	3.10.10 ⁻⁵
Cereal products	6.20.10 ⁻⁵	1.10.10 ⁻⁵	1.20.10 ⁻⁵
Vegetables	2.20.10 ⁻⁵	5.20.10 ⁻⁵	3.50.10 ⁻⁵
Potatoes	5.70.10 ⁻⁵	1.20.10 ⁻⁵	4.9.10 ⁻⁶

Table 47: Estimated (between LOD and LOQ) and measured (> LOQ, indicated in bold) concentrations in mg/kg PFOA in Swedish food samples from 1999, 2005 and 2010 (Vestergren *et al.*, 2012).

For PFOA, based on consumption data for the Swedish population, average intakes were calculated of 0.348, 0.495 and 0.692 ng/kg.d in 1999, 2005 and 2010, respectively (lower bound scenario, the difference with the upper bound scenario is less than 1%). These intakes were calculated without drinking water. The intake in the UB scenario is dominated by the food groups cereals (38%), dairy products (32%), vegetables (11%) and fruit (9.6%). Fish only contributes 6.2% to the intake (UB scenario). These results are comparable to the lower bound scenario obtained by EFSA (2012) and for 2010 are a factor of 4-10 lower than the upper bound scenario calculated by EFSA and the data in Cornelis *et al.* (2009). The concentrations in potatoes are a factor of 10 lower than those used in BF-Risk for the intake estimate and the UB data of EFSA (but almost a factor of 100 higher than the LB data of EFSA). As regards vegetables, the concentrations are similar or slightly lower than those in BF-Risk and EFSA (UB). For fish, the concentrations are about 10 times lower than the concentrations in BF-Risk and in the UB data of EFSA (but comparable to the LB data); for meat the concentrations are a factor of 2 lower than the UB data of EFSA and the concentrations used in BF-Risk.

PERFOOD- Belgium

In the European project PERFOOD (Klenow *et al.*, 2013) the exposure via food was quantified for 4 European countries including Belgium. For this, results from analytical analyses carried out during the project were used (Herzke *et al.*, 2013; Hlouskova *et al.*, 2013) as were consumption data for the individual countries as published by EFSA.

The concentrations for vegetables were approximately 60 times lower than those used in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) for the intake estimate (average 6.50^{-4} mg/kg versus $1.03.10^{-5}$ mg/kg for vegetables), see also Table 48.

Food group	PFOA in mg/kg
Vegetables	1.03.10 ⁻⁵
Broccoli	1.02.10 ⁻⁵
Beans	1.20.10 ⁻⁵
Peas	1.05.10 ⁻⁵
Lettuce	8.0.10 ⁻⁶
Spinach	1.12.10 ⁻⁴
Asparagus	1.60.10 ⁻⁵
Celery	1.48.10 ⁻⁵
Cabbage, cauliflower, aubergine, courgette, cucumber, peppers, tomato,	< LOQ
beans, peas, chicory, lettuce, carrot, potato, fennel	
Pork	7.20.10 ⁻⁶ *
Eggs	4.90.10 ⁻⁶ *

Table 48: Concentration data for PFOA in Belgian samples measured in PERFOOD (Herzke *et al.*, 2013; Hlouskova *et al.*, 2013).

* : figures calculated by VITO by combining data from figure 2 (sum of PFAS in foodstuffs for Belgium) and figure 3 (PFOA profiles foodstuffs Belgium) published in Hlouskova *et al.* (2013)

Due to the sensitive analysis technique, the authors consider a further interpretation of the results for the lower bound data to be justified. The intake for adults in the lower bound scenario is dominated by alcoholic drinks (52%) and fruit (26%). For children, fruit (74%) is the most dominant category. The results from the PERFOOD project and the lower bound results from EFSA (2012) are of approximately the same order of magnitude, the upper bound results of EFSA (2012) are approximately 10 times higher. The intake estimate is similar to the one carried out by Noorlander *et al.* (2010) and the one for Sweden (Vestergren *et al.*, 2012) and 30-60 times lower than the one calculated in BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.*, 2009). The authors mention that the results in PERFOOD should not be considered representative for Belgium, as the samples were taken in a short period of time and at a limited number of sampling sites.

Table 49: Average PFOA intake via diet for children and adults in Belgium, calculated according to the lower and upper bound scenario (Klenow *et al.*, 2013).

Age (years)	3-9 average	18-64 average
Intake: LB – UB (ng/kg.d)	0.280-0.389	0.186-0.231

Discussion

Both Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and EFSA (2012) EFSA (2018c) and Klenow *et al.* (2013) published data for the intake estimate of PFOA for the Belgian population (see Figure 11). The highest results were obtained in BF-Risk (Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and the UB data from EFSA. The lowest intakes were calculated with the LB data of EFSA and in PERFOOD (Klenow *et al.* (2013). The concentrations used for intake estimations are based on own measurements or literature in Cornelis *et al.* (2009) and on own analysis results in Klenow *et al.* (2013). The number of samples analysed in both studies is limited or was collected during a limited period of time, and for this reason the results may not be representative. EFSA has a large amount of samples at its disposal, but it calculates intakes for Belgium with concentrations for foodstuffs from all the European countries that have made data available, so the concentrations do not relate only to foodstuffs present on the Belgian market. Klenow *et al.* (2013) refer to higher concentrations of PFAS in foodstuffs originating from Belgium compared to other European countries, so it is possible that the concentrations used by EFSA are an underestimate. EFSA itself considers its UB calculations to overestimate the intake, since 80% of the analysis results are lower than the LOQ or LOD.



Figure 11: Intake PFOA for Belgium in μ g/kg.day for different ages. Comparison of data published in BF-Risk, EFSA (upper bound and lower bound) and PERFOOD (upper bound and lower bound)

Taking into account the various aspects described above, it was decided to initially use the UB intake estimate made by EFSA for the Belgian population as intake estimate for PFOA. The consumption figures use specific data for Belgium and the concentrations are based on a large amount of samples. Using UB intake estimates is a very conservative approach, according to EFSA. This is also shown by a comparison of the intake estimates for the LB and UB scenario of EFSA with recent scientific literature, the LB approach of EFSA approaches the intake estimates based on more sensitive analytical techniques such as in Vestergren *et al. (2012)* and Perfood better than the UB approach. For deriving soil remediation values, both the LB and UB data are calculated through. As long as drinking water is part of the diet used by EFSA to estimate intakes, the concentration in drinking water for deriving soil remediation values will be set at zero to avoid double counting.

Table 50 shows the EFSA data extrapolated to the age groups present in S-Risk.

Intake (ng/kg.d)	1-<3	3-<6	6-<10	10-<15	15-<21	21-<31	31 and above
2012 UB	11.0	9.75	8.00	4.00	2.77	2.72	2.63
2012 LB	0.220	0.198	0.162	0.108	0.0924	0.0980	0.111
2018 UB	4.02	3.80	2.90	1.55	1.66	1.59	1.81
2018 LB	0.340	0.340	0.338	0.332	0.321	0.303	0.210

Table 50 PFOA intake via food for the Belgian population calculated on the basis of extrapolation of LB and UB approach of EFSA (2012) and (2018).

3.5. TRANSFER TO PLANTS

Like PFOS, PFOA is a strong acid with a long organic tail and does not behave like a standard organic compound. Due to the amphiphilic nature of PFAS, the formulas of Trapp (2002), Trapp *et al.* (2007) and Trapp and Matthies (1995)) usually applied in S-Risk for non-ionising organic compounds cannot be used to calculate plant uptake of PFAS, and therefore empirical relationships based on bioconcentration factors (BCF) need to be applied. In the literature, BCF-values for PFOA are generally based on soil concentrations, while in S-Risk BCF based on soil pore water are required for organic compounds. For this reason, modifications were made to S-Risk, using a test environment, in order to be able to calculate soil remediation valuess with BCF_{soil} from the literature (see also 3.10 calculations of the soil remediation value).

For the plant uptake of PFOA we rely in the first instance on two important sources: i) a review paper by Ghisi *et al.* (2019) and the study by Lijzen *et al.* (2018). As far as possible, the numerical values from these overview publications are verified against the original data. Additional information is consulted and, if available, integrated.

Ghisi *et al.* (2019) bring together all known data related to plant uptake for different PFAS, differentiating between perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSAs). Most of the data in this literature review relating to plant uptake for PFAS refer to PFOA and PFOS, C8 representatives for PFCAs and PFSAs respectively. This subset of PFSA-data from Ghisi *et al.* (2019) is the starting point for final selection of BCF values in S-Risk for the derivation of soil remediation values of PFOA. Studies relying on aquacultures for the uptake of PFAS are not taken into consideration for this study. A further literature search/review on data relating to uptake of PFOA by crops did not provide additional data. Due to the water solubility of PFAS, the industrial and urban sludge from water treatment plants used for irrigation are considered important sources for plant uptake. In addition, sludge applications intended to improve soil structure and the use of PFAS as emulsifiers in plant protection products are also important sources of plant uptake.

The literature often distinguishes between the uptake of PFOA in cereal crops and vegetables. This distinction is based, on the one hand, on the difference between the parts of plants that are suitable for consumption, vegetative parts including fruit in the case of vegetables and seeds in the case of cereal crops. On the other hand, the vegetative parts of cereals are used in fodder crops (straw, chaff, etc.). Ghisi *et al.* (2019) identify 3 publications relating to cereal crops, including maize, oats, wheat and ryegrass (grasses). BCF derived for cereals and grasses are the basis for the calculation of transfer

PFOA via locally grown fodder crops to livestock (biomagnification). A distinction can be made between parts of the plant suitable for human consumption (cereals) and non-edible parts of cereals and grasses used in livestock feed (straw, chaff). The results are summarised in Table 51. All numerical values in the table are based on measurements taken on spiked soils, with the exception of Wen et al. (2014). In the latter studies, the plants were grown on soils to which a mixture of PFAS was added in the form of (organic) sludge. The BCF for parts suitable for human consumption are often significantly lower than for non-edible parts. Differences in availability of PFOA for different crops are attributed to differences in protein content (Wen et al., 2016) or to morphological differences in e.g. leaf surface and/or root system (Müller et al., 2016).

Сгор	compart-	concentration in	BCF	reference
	ment	soil (mg/kg dm)	(mg/kg plant	
			dm)/(mg/kg soil dm)	
maize	straw	0.25	0.272	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.126	
maize	straw	0.25	0.560	Krippner <i>et al.</i> (2015)
		1	0.650	
maize	cobs	0.25	0.008	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.004	
maize	cereal grains	0.25	LOD	Krippner <i>et al.</i> (2015)
		1	0.002	
oats	straw	0.25	0.880	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.690	
	cereal grains	0.25	0.048	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.054	
ryegrass	4 consecutive samples	0.25	0.128	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	7.520	
wheat	straw	0.25	3.200	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	1.900	
wheat	straw	0.0261	0.847	Wen et al., 2014
wheat	cereal grains	0.25	0.096	Stahl <i>et al.</i> (2009)
		1	0.009	
wheat	cereal grains	0.0261	0.111	Wen et al., 2014
wheat	Ear of corn	0.0261	0.160	

Table 51: BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for PFOA for cereals and grasses (Selection from Ghisi *et al.* (2019))

An increase in BCF_{PFOA} with higher soil concentrations (as recorded for PFOS) is not observed with the exception of ryegrass. Higher mobility and leaching from the soil of PFAO compared to PFOS offers a possible explanation. Preference is given to measurements of Wen et al. (2014) on soils treated with sludge mixtures (as spiking may lead to overestimation).



Figure 12: BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for cereals and grasses as a function of the concentration of PFOA in soil (mg/kg dm) (Selection from Ghisi *et al.* (2019))

When we extend the analysis for plant uptake to vegetables, we find 4 additional studies in the review paper of Ghisi *et al.* (2019). Additionally, we retrieved one extra publication, i.e., Navarro *et al.* (2017), based on which BCF_{PFOA} can be calculated for spinach and tomato. The BCF derived by Lechner and Knapp (2011) are based on spiked soil. All other studies study soils enriched with PFAS-containing household or industrial sludge.

Сгор		Concentration in soil (mg/kg)	BCF (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm)	reference
Carrot	carrot (peeled)	0.681	0.49	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	carrot (peeled)	0.676	0.49	
	carrot (peeled) Chantenay variety	0.528	0.28	Bizkarguenaga <i>et al.</i> (2016)
	carrot (peeled) Nantesa variety	0.485	0.3	
Celery	Celery shoots	0.07852	0.71	Blaine et al., 2014a
	Celery shoots	0.01491	0.13	
cucumber	pot 1	0.406	0.79	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	pot 2	0.805	0.85	
lettuce	leaf	0.07852	2.52	Blaine et al., 2013
	leaf	0.01491	1.34	
	leaf	0.00517	LOD	
lettuce	leaf	0.56	1.85	Bizkarguenaga <i>et al.</i> (2016)
peas	fruits	0.07852	0.03	Blaine et al., 2014a
	fruits	0.01491	LOD	
spinach		2.73	0.87	Navarro <i>et al.</i> (2017)
			LOD	
potatoes	peeled	0.276	0.065	Lechner and Knapp (2011)
	peeled	0.795	0.045	
radish	carrot	0.07852	0.85	Blaine et al., 2014a
	carrot	0.01491	0.54	
tomato	fruits	0.07852	0.11	Blaine et al. (2013) and Blaine et al., 2014a
	fruits	0.01491	LOD	Blaine et al. (2013) and Blaine et al., 2014a
	fruits	0.00517	LOD	Blaine et al., 2013
		0.12	1.5	Navarro <i>et al.</i> (2017)

Table 52: BCF for PFOA for vegetables (Selection from Ghisi *et al.* (2019) supplemented with Navarro et al., 2017)

A closer look at Table 51 and Table 52 shows that the calculated BCF for vegetables is overall one to two orders of magnitude higher than that for cereals (Figure 13). We can also make a distinction between experiments carried out on soil enriched with PFOA spiked sludge (Lechner and Knapp (2011); Bizkarguenaga *et al.* (2016)) and soil to which PFOA contaminated industrial or household

sludge has been added (Blaine et al., 2013; 2014a; Navarro *et al.* (2017)). The highest concentrations of PFOA are found in lettuce, followed by tomato and spinach.



Figure 13: BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) in vegetables (circled blue) and cereal crops (circled red) as a function of the concentration of PFOA in the soil.

Blaine et al. (2013), 2014 perform measurements on soils enriched with sludge, contaminated with PFAS. The authors make a distinction between sludge of industrial and household origin. Based on the differences in concentrations of PFOA in the soil on the one hand and the different % OC between the two types of enriched soils, it appears that the calculated BCF for vegetables increases with the PFOA concentration in the soil and decreases the higher the % OC. The highest % OC are found in household enriched sludge (Blaine et al., 2013); 2014) resulting in a lower BCF.



Figure 14: BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) as a function of the concentration of PFOA (mg/kg dm) in the soil and the % OC (based on data from Blaine et al. (2013), 2014)

We identified a second important study by Lijzen *et al.* (2018) on PFOA plant uptake. They rely on the same sources as Ghisi *et al.* (2019) with additional values for potatoes from Müller (2008) and pumpkins from Mohammadi *et al.* (2015). The values for potato are consistent with those reported by Lechner and Knapp (2011)) when converted to fresh weight basis. Pumpkins are not included in the food basket used by S-Risk. Lijzen *et al.* (2018) do not take any cereal crops into consideration. This is remedied in the most recent RIVM report by Wintersen et al. (2019). These authors retain the same BCF values derived in Lijzen et al. (2018) for vegetable garden crops. RIVM uses 3 BCF for their final calculations in C-Soil: a BCF for cereals (BCF = 0.063 (μ g/kg plant **dm**)/(μ g/kg soil dm)), and further a BCF for "potatoes" (BCF = 0.012 (μ g/kg plant **fw**)/(μ g/kg soil dm)³⁷.

In order to allow for an additional comparison between the BCF for garden crops collected in this study and the BCF that were selected by Lijzen *et al.* (2018), the BCF values on a fresh weight basis from Lijzen *et al.* (2018) were converted to a dry weight basis. For this, we used the dry matter contents from the formularium of S-Risk (Cornelis *et al.* (2017)). These converted BCF are shown as a function of the concentration of PFOS in the soil in Figure 15.

³⁷ Note that the BCF for cereals is expressed on a dry matter basis where the BCF for vegetable crops is calculated on a fresh weight basis.



Figure 15: BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Lijzen *et al.* (2018) converted on a dry matter basis as a function of PFOA concentrations in soil

A comparison of both datasets is made in Figure 16. Despite the fact that the BCF values on a fresh weight basis from Lijzen *et al.* (2018) are converted to dry matter basis to allow for comparison, where we did not use the original dry matter levels in C-Soil, both datasets are comparable. The largest discrepancy (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) is found for celery, lettuce and tomato. For celery, Lijzen *et al.* (2018) rely on the BCF from Blaine *et al.* (2013) 2014) contaminated with industrial bio-sludge with an organic carbon content of 6.34%. The lower BCF values based on soil enriched with household bio-sludge (% OC = 2.24) were not retained. For lettuce, a subset of the data from Blaine *et al.* (2013) by Lijzen *et al.* (2018) is not taken into account, due to the very low levels of PFOA in the soil. For tomato, the BCF derived by Navarro *et al.* (2017) is not included in the study by Lijzen *et al.* (2018). This also applies to spinach, for which no value is indicated in Lijzen *et al.* (2018). For string beans, a BCF value is only available at Lijzen *et al.* (2018).



Figure 16: Comparison between BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) derived by Ghisi *et al.* (2019) and the BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) from Lijzen *et al.* (2018) converted on a dry matter basis. For peas and spinach only one value was derived in this study. A value for pumpkin is only available at Lijzen et al. (2018)

For the final selection we rely on Ghisi *et al.* (2019) supplemented by data for cereals and grasses from Table 51 and supplemented with the data from Navarro *et al.* (2017). For ryegrass, only the BCF calculated at 0.25 mg/kg dm in the soil is retained (Stahl *et al.* (2009)).

Сгор	PFOS	method of derivation		
carrot		average value Lechner and Knapp (2011) and		
	0.39	Bizkarguenaga et al. (2016)		
Celery		average values		
		Blaine et al., 2014a		
	0.42			
Cucumber	0.82	average values from Lechner et al., 2011		
lettuce		average value Blaine et al., 2013 and Bizkarguenaga		
	1.90	et al. (2016)		
peas	0.03	single value Blaine et al., 2014		
potatoes	0.06	average values Lechner et al., 2011		
spinach	0.87	single value Navarro et al. (2017)		
radish		average values		
		Blaine et al., 2014a		
	0.70			
tomato	0.81	single value Blaine et al., 2013 and Blaine et al., 2014		
maize (cob)	0.005	single value Stahl et al. (2009)		
oats (cereal)	0.051	average value Stahl et al. (2009)		
ryegrass	0.128	average value Stahl et al. (2009)		
wheat		single value Wen et al., 2014		
(cereal)	0.072			

Table 53: Selected BCF_{PFOA} (mg/kg plant dm)/(mg/kg soil dm) for vegetables and cereals for calculating the soil remediation value for PFOA in this study

For the calculations in S-Risk, a food basket has been defined consisting of vegetables that are commonly consumed. If no BCF values are found in the literature for one or more vegetables from this food basket, equivalence rules as defined in Bierkens et al. (2016) are used. This means that for the crop with missing BCF values from a certain crop group (tuber vegetables, bulbous vegetables, leafy vegetables, etc.) a BCF is applied from a related crop for which a BCF is available from the same crop group (Table 54).

Table 54: Calculated (bold) and estimated BCFs for PFOA for the different crops in the S-Risk diet, with indication of the equivalence rules used

Plant	BCF or BCF model
potatoes	
potatoes	0.06
root and tuber vegetables	
carrots	0.39
salsify	0.55
	(average value of known root and tuber vegetables)
other root vegetables (such as radish)	0.70
bulbous vegetables	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
bulbous vegetables (such as	0.55
onion)	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leek	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
fruiting vegetables	
tomato	0.81
cucumber	0.82
other fruiting vegetables	0.81 (=tomato)
(such as peppers)	
Cabbages	
Cabbage	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
cauliflower and broccoli	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
sprouts	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leafy vegetables	4.00
Lettuce	1.90
lamb's lettuce	1.90 (=lettuce)
endive	1.06
a stra a la	(= average of all known leafy vegetables)
spinach	0.87
chicory	
a a la m	(= average of all known leafy vegetables)
celery	0.42
legumes	0.02 ()
peans	0.03 (= peas)
peas	0.03
Grasses	
Grass	0.128
Cereals	
Maize	0.005

3.6. TRANSFER TO ANIMAL PRODUCTS

Bioaccumulation of PFAS cannot be simulated on the basis of equilibrium partitioning as is the case for most neutral hydrophobic organic compounds that accumulate primarily in fat tissue. Due to their amphiphilic and anionic character, they are mainly distributed over the serum, liver and kidneys and their toxicokinetics are largely controlled by urinary excretion. The equations derived by Travis and Arms (1988) using S-Risk to estimate concentrations in meat and milk based on K_{ow} partition distribution coefficients are not applicable, so we have to start from empirically derived biotransfer factors from case studies. A literature review provides 4 papers with paired measurement data for PFOA in feed and drinking water together with PFOS concentrations in bovine tissues/organs (n =3) and/or sheep (n=1) suitable for human consumption, from which biotransfer factors (BTF) can be derived.

Bovines

We find the most detailed study in Vestergren *et al.* (2013). Vestergren *et al.* (2013) derived BTF for dairy cows from agricultural areas without external influence from known PFCAs or PFSAs point sources. The feed consisted of a mixture of silage, maize and barley. Well water from local origin was used as drinking water. At the time of the measurements the adult (> 24 months old) dairy cows had had sufficient time to achieve equilibrium between intake and excretion of PFAS. The measurement results for PFOA in feed and drinking water, as well as in the different tissues and animal matrices relevant for the calculations, are summarised in Table 55. In bovines, the highest concentrations of PFOA are found in the liver and blood. The measured values in muscle and milk are 7.0 ± 4.3 ng/kg fw and 6.7 ± 1.8 ng/kg fw respectively. Based on a total daily intake of 294.6 ng/d PFOA, the authors calculate a BTF_{muscle} = 0.012 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ and BTF_{milk} = 0.011 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹ (own calculation; Table 56).

Table 55: Concentrations of PFOA (arithmetic mean and SD) in feed and tissues of dairy cows (Vestergren et al., 2013)

	number of	PFOA
intake media	samples	
water	6	0.23 ± 0.03 (ng/l)
ensiled fodder	6	13.0 ± 4.4 (ng/kg)
barley	6	8.3 ± 2.8 (ng/kg)
tissue		
(bovine)		
liver	5	9.0 ± 2.0 (ng/kg)
blood	5	16.0 ± 4.1 (ng/kg)
muscle	5	7.0 ± 4.3 (ng/kg)
excretion		
media		
urine	10	11.0 ± 0.6 (ng/l)
faeces	10	<lod (ng="" kg)<="" td=""></lod>
milk	6	6.7 ± 1.8 (ng/l)

Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) carried out a controlled feeding study on 6 dairy cattle divided into two groups, the first group being slaughtered after 29 days of exposure to PFAA contaminated feed, while the second group was put on a non-contaminated control diet for an additional 21 days. The feed consisted of hay and silage from farmland enriched with PFAA by the use of fertilisers and herbicides. The daily intake of PFOA (hay and silage grass) is estimated at 4472.04 μ g/d. The concentrations after 29 days in milk, muscle, liver and kidney were respectively 0.07 μ g/l, 0.6 μ g/kg fw, 10.1 μ g/kg fw and 8.7 μ g/kg fw. After stopping the intake of contaminated feed, these values fell drastically. For milk and muscle, the measured values fall below the limit of detection, while the concentrations in the liver and kidney decline to respectively 0.8 μ g/l and 0.4 μ g/kg fw. The BTF for both periods which we calculate on the basis of these concentrations in feed and milk or tissues are shown in Figure 17. The decrease in concentrations in animal products after the intake of contaminated feed was stopped indicates that the equilibrium of PFOA in cattle was already reached after 29 days and/or that PFOA practically does not accumulate in the samples examined, as such we only take into account the values obtained after 29 days, see Table 56.



Figure 17: BTF in milk, muscle, liver and kidney in dairy cattle after 29 and 50 days (feeding with contaminated feed stops after 29 days), based on data from Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013).

Table 56: BTF values (mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹) for bovines and sheep for PFOA derived from available literature data.

	Vestergren et al., 2013 ⁽¹⁾	Kowalczyk et al 2013 ⁽¹⁾	Kowalczyk et al 2012 ⁽²⁾
BTF _{milk}	0.011	1.6x10 ⁻⁵	0.014
BTF _{muscle}	0.012	13x10 ⁻⁵	0.007
BTF _{liver}	0.015	2.26x10 ⁻³	0.079
BTF _{kidney}		1.94x10 ⁻³	0.145

(1) Bovines; (2) sheep

Kowalczyk *et al.* (2012) describe a 21-day controlled feed study on sheep (n = 3 including 1 control). The animals were fed PFAA-contaminated silage (maize). The intake of PFOA was estimated at 21.29 and 33.10 μ g/d for sheep 1 and sheep 2 respectively. The average concentration in milk during the 21 days was 0.2 and 0.7 mg/l for sheep 1 and 2 respectively. On the basis of these data, we calculate an average BTF_{milk} for both sheep of -0.014 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹. This value, together with the BTF values for muscle, liver and kidney, has been included in Table 56 (for these matrices, only data are available for 1 sheep, there is therefore significant uncertainty). It was shown in the study by Kowalczyk *et al.* (2012) that there is a significant correlation between PFOA concentrations in blood plasma and milk (r² = 0.95). The study once again shows the strong affinity for PFOA for plasma proteins, whereby their transfer to milk can be considered negligible. This is a pilot study in which two animals are tested, where ultimately one animal will have significant values available for all organs.

Chickens

In connection with the transfer of PFOA from feed to chickens and more specifically to eggs, our search resulted in 3 studies, i.e. Yoo et al. (2009), Yeung et al. (2009) and Hanell (2015). Only the latter publication reports paired data in chicken feed and eggs for different PFAS, but does not indicate any usable data for PFOA, which makes it impossible to calculate BTF_{egg}.

Conclusion

In contrast to PFOS, the BTF values from Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) for PFOA are retained in order to determine the final BTF values together with the data from Vestergren *et al.* (2013). The reason for this is that the dates indicate that an equilibrium was reached on day 29. Although the concentrations of PFOA in the feed are much higher than the background values, they are representative for contaminated sites and therefore relevant as a worst case approach. Based on the publications by Vestergren *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) on day 29, average values are calculated for the BTF_{milk} of (0.006 ± 0.008) mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹. The average value for the BTF_{muscle} and BTF_{liver} from Vestergren *et al.* (2013) and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) are respectively 0.006 ± 0.008) mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹. For kidneys, we only find in Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013) a BTF value of -0.002 mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹. All these values for bovines are summarised in Table 57.

For comparison, the most recent RIVM report (Wintersen et al., 2019) also uses the BTF values from Vestergren et al. (2013). The study by Kowalczyk et al. (2013) was taken into consideration but was not retained, as the values derived from it are based on studies in which significantly higher concentrations of PFAS were administered.

Table 57: Average (\pm SD) BTF values (mg.kg⁻¹ fw/mg.d⁻¹) for bovines from Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk *et al.* (2013)

	average value	SD
BTF _{milk}	0.006	0.008
BTF _{muscle}	0.006	0.008
BTF _{liver}	0.009	0.009
BTFkidney	0.002	

For sheep we use for milk and muscle BTF values of respectively $BTF_{milk} 0.014 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1} \text{ fw/mg.d}^{-1}$ and $BTF_{muscle} 0.007 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1} \text{ fw/mg.d}^{-1}$ (Kowalczyk et al. , 2012) IThe values for liver and kidney are respectively $BTF_{liver} 0.079 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1} \text{ fw/mg.d}^{-1}$ and $BTF_{kidney} 0.145 \text{ mg.kg}^{-1} \text{ fw/mg.d}^{-1}$

3.7. TOXICOLOGY

3.7.1. INTRODUCTION

The overview of the toxicology of PFOA is mainly based on the review reports of CONCAWE (2016); OVAM (2018), EFSA (2008b); ECHA (2015), EFSA (2018c), ATSDR draft (2018), US-EPA (2016d), FSANZ (2016), Lijzen *et al.* (2018) DEPA (2015) and Pancras *et al.* (2018). The toxicokinetics and toxicology of PFOA are first discussed. A summary of the available toxicological reference values is given in section 3.7.4. A proposal for the toxicological reference values to be used for deriving soil remediation values is set out in section 3.7.5.

Based on the physicochemical properties of PFAS, exposure via intake of food and drinking water is highly likely. PFAS is also measured in air and dust, meaning that inhaled air, dust ingestion or dermal contact with dust or aerosols may also be possible routes of exposure.

3.7.2. TOXICOKINETICS

\rightarrow Absorption after oral intake

PFOA is easily absorbed after oral intake (PHE, 2009). After administration of a single oral dose to rats, absorption was 93% after 24 hours. Peak concentrations in the blood were reached at 1-2 hours after administration. In male rats, PFOA was mainly found in the liver and plasma, while in females, PFOA was mainly found in the plasma and kidneys (van den Heuvel *et al.*, 1991). More than 95% of an oral dose of ammonium PFOA was absorbed by rats after a single dose of tube feeding, ranging from 0.1 to 25 mg/kg. The highest plasma concentration in male rats was reached after about 10 hours and the half-life for clearance from the plasma was about 170 hours in these animals (Kemper, 2003).

After intravenous administration of PFOA to male rats of 0.041 and 16.56 mg/kg bw, proportionally more of the low dose was found in the liver (52%) and of the higher dose more in serum, other tissues and the carcass, and less in the liver (27%) (Kudo *et al.*, 2007).

For deriving soil remediation values, the oral absorption factor is equated by default to 1 (Cornelis *et al.*, 2012).

\rightarrow Absorption after inhalation

Human studies specifically for PFOA are not available. In rats, 1-25 mg ammonium PFOA PFOA was found in the plasma 30 minutes after the onset of exposure via aerosol (nose only). Plasma concentrations continued to increase during the 6-hour exposure; the highest level was reached after 9 hours (3 hours after administration was stopped) in male rats and after 7 hours (1 hour after stopping) in female rats (Hinderliter *et al.*, 2006). This corresponds to a half-life for absorption of about 1.3 hours. The fact that the highest concentration occurs faster in females appears to be related to the faster clearance of absorbed PFOA compared to rats (see below: clearance) (ATSDR draft, 2018). Exposure of rats to dust (nose only) of ammonium PFOA induced significant increases in absolute and relative hepatic weight, which is an indirect indication of absorption of the substance by inhalation (Kinney *et al.*, 1989).

Inhalation of soil particles is insignificant (Xiao et al., 2015).

In accordance with Cornelis *et al.* (2012) we assume that absorption by inhalation and by the oral route is the same for both routes, i.e. 95%.

ightarrow Absorption after dermal contact

In vitro dermal penetration of PFOA was investigated with isolated epidermis from humans, rats and mice. This showed that the skin of rats and mice is more permeable than that of humans (Fasano *et al.*, 2005; Franko *et al.*, 2012). Following *in vitro* administration of an aqueous solution of the ammonium salt of PFOA to rat and human skin, approximately 0.048% of the dose was absorbed through human skin and 1.44% through rat skin, in 40 hours.

Approximately 24% of a dermal dose of PFOA (0.5 mg in 1% acetone) was absorbed *in vitro* by human skin and 45% of the dose was retained in the skin. (Franko *et al.*, 2012); the authors note, however, that the acetone and glycerol used in the pre-treatment of the skin may have facilitated absorption. The permeability of the acid appears to be higher than that of the anion.

Dermal absorption from soil particles is insignificant compared to exposure via oral intake of soil and dust (Cornelis *et al.,* 2012; Xiao *et al.,* 2015). For deriving soil remediation values **the dermal absorption factor from soil and dust is therefore set to 0**.

Dermal absorption from water is driven by the permeability coefficient (Kp, expressed in cm/h), indicating a measured mean Kp of $9.5 \cdot 10^{-7}$ cm/h of PFOA; absorption through the skin may therefore be considered low.

The average *in vitro* measured Kp of the anion of PFOA (ammonium perfluorooctanoate, AFPO) is $9.49.10^{-7}$ cm/h for the human and $3.25.10^{-5}$ cm/h for the rat humans (Fasano *et al.*, 2005; Franko *et al.*, 2012). The calculated Kp is 0.114 cm/h (EpiSuite DermWin). The Kp for organic substances is calculated in Dermwin from the log K_{ow}; for PFOA a log K_{ow} of 6,30 was used for the calculation.

We propose using the measured **Kp of 9.49.10**⁻⁷ **cm/h** for dermal **absorption via water** in the soil remediation value calculation

\rightarrow Distribution

After absorption, PFOA primarily ends up in the liver and the serum (PHE, 2009). In a study with workers from the perfluoroalkyl industry, the serum:plasma ratio was 1:1, regardless of the concentration(Ehresman *et al.*, 2007). Distribution from plasma to tissues is mainly to the liver. Liver,

blood and kidneys accounted for 22, 22 and 2% of an oral dose of 1 mg/kg in male rats, and 6, 7 and 3% in female rats (faster excretion in females) (Kemper, 2003).

A Japanese cohort study investigated the influence of age and sex on PFOA levels in blood and urinary excretion. In the sub-cohort of 20-50 year olds, blood concentrations were higher in males than in females, while in the age group > 50 years the average concentrations in males and females were not different (Harada *et al.*, 2004). The interpretation of these data is limited due to the small size of the cohort. Renal clearance was negligible in both sexes, much lower than in rats and monkeys.

Unlike most other persistent organic pollutants (POPs), PFOS has a low affinity for fats. ¹⁴C-PFOA, administered as a single oral dose was rapidly absorbed. After 24 hours, the absorption of radioactivity was 93%. Peak levels in blood were reached 1 to 2 hours after administration. Analysis of 14C in the tissues showed that the liver and plasma of male rats and the liver, kidneys and plasma of female rats were the primary tissues for distribution (van den Heuvel *et al.*, 1991). Han *et al.* (2003) estimate that more than 90% of PFOA appears to bind to serum albumin in the blood of both rats and humans. An important factor that plays a role in the distribution is therefore the binding to proteins, including the binding to the fatty acid binding protein (L-FABP) in the liver of rats (Luebker *et al.*, 2002).

Hinderliter *et al.* (2005) have demonstrated that after oral administration of the ammonium salt of PFOA to rats, PFOA passed from the mother to the foetus via the placenta and to the offspring via lactation. The concentrations in the foetal plasma were half the steady-state concentrations in the maternal plasma, while steady-state concentrations in milk were about one-tenth lower than those in the maternal plasma. The information on PFOA transfer through the human placenta is limited. Fei *et al.* (2007) compared PFOA concentrations in maternal blood from week 4-14 and later during pregnancy with umbilical cord blood. The ratio fell from 1.83 to 1,46.

In a development study with mice, serum concentrations of PFOA were measured in female mice at weaning on postnatal day 22. A 4x higher dose was found in females without pups (10400 ng/ml) than in those with pups, indicating that there was an extensive transfer to the mother's milk (Abbott *et al.*, 2007).

\rightarrow Metabolisation

PFOA does not undergo any significant metabolisation and therefore accumulates in the body (Stahl *et al.,* 2011).

\rightarrow Clearance

PFOS is only eliminated very slowly from the human body; the half-life measured in serum in the general public in England is 4 years (PHE, 2009), in the USA it is 2.9 to 8.5 years (Seals *et al.*, 2011) and 2.3 years (Bartell *et al.*, 2010), and among retired workers from the fluorine chemical industry in the USA it is 2.3 to 3.8 years (Olsen *et al.*, 2007a). Clearance via the kidneys is almost negligible in humans (PHE, 2009). Half-life periods for animals are 33 and 21 days for male and female Java monkeys (Macaca fascicularis) respectively (Butenhoff *et al.*, 2004) and 5.63 and 0.08 days respectively for male and female rats (Ohmori *et al.*, 2003). Clearance appears to vary with the type of organism and sex (CONCAWE, 2016). In female rats, 91% of the dose was cleared via the urine within 24 hours of administration. During the same period, males cleared only 6% of PFOA via urine; faecal clearance is the most important clearance route for male rats. This sex-related difference in clearance via urine resulted in a half-life for total clearance of 15 days for males and less than 1 day for females (van den Heuvel *et al.*, 1991). This sex-related difference in clearance is due to an active excretion mechanism for organic acids in the female rat (Hanhijarvi *et al.*, 1982), while testosterone appears to suppress clearance via the kidneys in the rat (van den Heuvel *et al.*, 1992). The faster

clearance of PFOA by female rats is not due to the formation of a PFOA metabolite (van den Heuvel *et al.,* 1992).

In humans, there appeared to be no significant difference in clearance between men and women. Active transport plays an important role in clearance (EFSA, 2008b)

3.7.3. EFFECTS ON TEST ANIMALS AND HUMANS

An overview of the studies discussed below is given in Table 58.

\rightarrow Acute toxicity

PFOA is classified as hazardous according to the CLP criteria (EC, 2008); PFOA is harmful following acute exposure via inhalation or oral ingestion (referred to as Acute Tox. 4), and causes serious eye damage (Eye Dam. 1).

The LC50, rat after inhalation for 4 hours of the ammonium salt of PFOA is 980 mg/m³. This concentration caused an increase in size of the liver and corneal turbidity. These effects diminished with time after exposure. Repeated subacute administration for 10 days (6h/d, 5d/week at 0, 1, 8 or 84 mg/m³) suppressed the increase in body weight at 84 mg/m³ and increased the weight of the liver at 8 mg/m³. The NOEL was 1 mg/m³; at this concentration the average blood concentration was 13 ppm on the tenth day (Kennedy *et al.*, 1986). The oral LD50 fluctuates around 500 mg/kg bw/d. The dermal LD50 for rabbits is higher than 2000 mg/kg bw/d and the substance is mildly irritant to the skin (EFSA, 2008b).

ightarrow Subacute and (sub)chronic toxicity

Subacute and sub-chronic studies are available for rodents and monkeys.

The weight of the liver and peroxisomal beta-oxidation³⁸ in the liver appear to be the most pronounced targets when laboratory animals are exposed to PFOA. In an oral 90-d study, male rats were given 0.6, 1.7, 5.6, 18 and 64 mg PFOA/kg bw per day via diet and female rats 0.7, 2.3, 7.7, 22.4 and 76 mg PFOA/kg bw per day. The absolute and relative weight of the liver was increased in the males with the two highest doses and in the females with the highest dose. Increases in absolute liver weight and hepatocellular necrosis were observed at 1.7 mg/kg bw/d in the males. On the basis of liver effects, the NOAEL was 0.6 mg/kg bw/d for males and 22 mg/kg bw/d for females (Goldenthal *et al.*, 1978).

In another oral 90-d study, male rats were given 0, 0.06, 0.64, 1.94 and 6.4 mg PFOA/kg bw per day via diet. The animals in the group with the highest dose showed a lower body weight. The dose group of 0.64 mg/kg bw/d and above showed increased palmitoyl CoA oxidase activity in the liver, which is a marker for peroxisome proliferation, and increased relative liver weight. Histopathological changes in the liver were hepatocellular hypertrophy and necrosis of liver cells (Perkins *et al.*, 2004). In a sub-chronic study with Java monkeys, the animals were given a daily dose of 0, 3, 10 or 30 mg/kg PFOA for 6 months. All groups showed a dose-dependent increase in liver weight associated with mitochondrial proliferation. There was no histopathological evidence of liver damage in dose groups 10 and 30 mg/kg bw/day. Two animals died before the end of the study: one in the 3mg/kg group and one in the 30 mg/kg group (Butenhoff *et al.*, 2002).

³⁸ Peroxisomes are small organelles that break down fatty acids to acetyl CoA (= beta-oxidation).

ightarrow Reproduction and development

A lot of information is available on the effect of exposure to PFOA on reproduction and development, and other effects, both in experimental animals and humans. An overview of No (Lowest)-Effect-Concentrations (N(L)OEC) from several (sub)chronic animal studies is given in Table 58.

The most sensitive endpoint (birth weight) identified in developmental and reproductive toxicity studies comes from a study in mice by Abbott *et al.* (2007). In this study, dams were exposed to the ammonium salt of PFOA in doses of 0.1, 0.3, 0.6, 1, 3, 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg bw/d for days 1-17 of pregnancy. A decreasing neonatal survival rate was observed at doses \geq 0.6 mg/kg bw/d resulting in a NOAEL of 0.3 mg/kg bw/d (EFSA, 2018c).

Lau *et al.* (2006) observed an increase in the incidence of the loss of the complete litter (and some additional neonatal mortality) from a dose of 5 mg/kg/d administered throughout pregnancy. Birthweight was only affected at a dose \geq 20 mg/kg/d, but a lower growth rate of the young of 25-30% during postnatal days 13-23 was observed at a dose of 3 mg/kg/d or higher, resulting in a NOAEL of 1 mg/kg/d and a calculated benchmark dose lower limit (BMDL5) of 0.86 mg/kg/d (for reduced growth of the young). However, the weight did normalise as they reached adulthood. Based on Figure 3 in the paper by Lau, ECHA (2015) estimates that the serum concentration of PFOA was roughly 20000 ng/ml in the dams exposed to 1 mg/kg/d on the 18th day of pregnancy. The NOAEL is therefore approximately 20000 ng/ml (BMDL5 0;86 mg/kg/d according to Borg and Håkansson (2012)).

PFOA has a harmonised CLP classification as 'May damage to the unborn child' (Rep. 1B) and 'May cause harm to breast-fed children' (EC, 2008).

\rightarrow Carcinogenicity

PFOA has a harmonised CLP classification as 'Suspected of causing cancer' (Carc. Category 2) (EC, 2008). US-EPA (2016d) concludes that there is suggestive evidence for carcinogenicity of PFOA based on epidemiological studies showing an association between PFOA in serum and renal and testicular tumours in highly exposed members of the general population. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified PFOA as a potential human carcinogen (Group 2B) based on the limited evidence that human exposure to PFOA is associated with testicular and renal cancer and on the limited evidence in animal studies (IARC, 2017)(Abbott, 2007).

\rightarrow Genotoxic effects

The CONTAM panel found no evidence of a direct genotoxic mechanism of action *in vitro* or *in vivo*. This seems to indicate an indirect (non-genotoxic) mechanism for carcinogenicity.

\rightarrow Neurotoxicity

Like PFOS, PFOA exhibits developmental neurotoxicity in rodents and causes widespread effects on the expression of genes encoding proteins relevant to signal transmission in the brain. Male offspring appear to be more sensitive than female offspring. The most common impact on behaviour is increased spontaneous movement activity, in contrast to PFOS where a decrease is observed. Onishchenko *et al.* (2011) conducted a comparative study between PFOS and PFOA at an oral dose of 0.3 mg/kg bw/d with mice. Pregnant mice were exposed through diet throughout pregnancy. Only male offspring showed altered movement activity, increased after exposure to PFOA, decreased after exposure to PFOS. Sobolewski *et al.* (2014) exposed mice to 0.1 mg PFOA/kg bw/d, alone or in

combination with mixtures of endocrine disruptors, from the 7th day of pregnancy until 21 days after childbirth. The offspring were tested for cognitive functions and movement on the 60th day after birth. The males exposed to PFOA alone showed increased horizontal movement, lower resting time and reduced habituation to repeat testing. In a recognition test of new objects (which tests memory), both male and female mice exposed to PFOA showed a lower exploration during the initial phase; the males generally had a lower exploration time (EFSA, 2018c).

\rightarrow Immunotoxicity

PFOA has an effect on the immune system. In a chronic dietary study, male rats and mice were exposed for 29 days daily to doses of 0, 0,3, 1, 10, and 30 mg NH⁴⁺PFOA/kg bw/d. In addition, animals in the group with the highest dose were given intravenous administration of SRBCs³⁹ or pure water for 5 days from day 23 or 24 to measure the immunosuppressive potential of PFOA (Loveless *et al.*, 2008). In mice, 10 and 30 mg PFOA/kg bw/d caused a decrease in body weight, a tripling of liver weight, a 2.3-fold increase in serum corticosterone, a moderate reduction in triglycerides, an increase in neutrophils and monocytes in the blood and a decrease in lymphocytes in peripheral blood (only at 30 mg/kg). Immunological effects include reduced IgM response to SRBCs, lower spleen and thyroid weight and cell count. In the rats, the dose of 10 mg/kg or higher caused a decrease in body weight and an increase in relative liver weight and moderate hepatocellular hypertrophy, with indications of hepatocellular necrosis. Unlike the mice, no SRBC-IgM response was reported for the rats.

In other mouse studies, a dietary study by Vetvicka and Vetvickova (2013) and a drinking water study by Son et al. (2009), an impact on the immune system was also observed EFSA (2018c). The CONTAM panel of EFSA therefore concludes that there is evidence that exposure to PFOA has an effect on the immune system *in vivo*. These effects were manifested in the cellular composition of bone marrow, spleen and thyroid and in functional effects including reduced antibody response to T-cell dependent antigens and increased specific IgE antibody response and inflammatory response. These data seem to indicate a deregulation of the immune system. Effects were mostly observed at doses that also induced general toxic effects such as on food intake and body weight. However, effects on the immune system seemed to last longer than effects on body weight and liver, when treatment was stopped. Based on the 28-day study by Loveless *et al.* (2008) the NOAEL for systemic toxicity was 0.3 mg/kg bw/d, based on hepatocellular necrosis at 1 mg/kg bw/d. The NOAEL for immunotoxicity was 1mg/kg bw/d, based on suppression of the anti-SRBC IgM response (EFSA, 2018c).

³⁹ sheep red blood cells

Animal	Administration	Duration of exposure	Parameter	Value	Effects	Reference
Rat	Inhalation	4 hours	LC50	980 mg/m ³ (NH4-salt)	Lethality	Kennedy <i>et al.</i> (1986)
Rat	Inhalation	10 days	NOEL	1 mg/m³ (13 mg/l in blood)	Increased liver weight at 8 mg/m ³ and lower weight gain at 84 mg/m ³	Kennedy <i>et al.</i> (1986)
Rabbit	Dermal	acute	LD50	>2000 mg/kg bw/d	Lethality	Glaza (1995)
Rat	Oral	acute	LD50	680/430 (male/female) mg/kg bw/d	Lethality	Dean and Jessup (1978) reviewed by Griffith and Long (1980)
Rat	Food	90 days	NOAEL	0.6/22 mg/kg bw/d (male/female)	Increased liver weight, hepatocellular necrosis	Goldenthal <i>et al.</i> (1978)
Rat	Food	90 days	-	0, 0.06, 0.64, 1.94 and 6.4 mg/kg bw/d	Liver effects from 0.64 mg/kg bw/d; lower body weight at highest dose	Perkins <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Monkeys	Food	6 months	-	0, 3, 10 and 30 mg/kg bw/d	Dose-dependent increase in liver weight	Butenhoff <i>et al.</i> (2002)
Mouse	Food	day 1 to 17 of the pregnancy	NOAEL	0.3 mg/kg bw/d (NH4-salt)	Decreasing neonatal survival rate at ≥0.6 mg/kg bw/d	Abbott <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Mouse	Food	Full pregnancy	NOAEL	1 mg/kg bw/d (20 mg/l in blood)	Decreased growth rate of the young at 3 mg/kg/d; increase loss of full litter at 5 mg/kg/d; Lower birth weight at 20 mg/kg/d	Lau <i>et al.</i> (2006); ECHA (2015)
Mouse	Food	Full pregnancy	-	0.3 mg/kg bw/d	Increased movement activity (males)	Onishchenko et al. (2011)

Table 58: (Sub)acute and (sub)chronic animal studies with PFOA (sources: EFSA (2018c) CONCAWE (2016), EFSA (2008b), US-EPA (2016d)))

Mouse	Food	from day 7 of pregnancy until 21 days after birth	-	0.1 mg/kg bw/d	Effect on cognitive functions and movement	Sobolewski <i>et al.</i> (2014)
Rat	Tube feeding	29 days	NOAEL	0.3 mg/kg bw/d	Hepatocellular necrosis	(Loveless <i>et al.,</i> 2008); EFSA (2018c)
Mouse	Tube feeding	29 days	NOAEL	1 mg/kg bw/d	Immunotoxicity	
Mouse	Tube feeding	29 days	-	0, 0.3, 1, 10, and 30 mg/kg bw/d (NH4-salt)	Decrease in body weight and increase in liver weight, from 10 mg/kg bw/d; Immunological effects (only tested at 30 mg/kg bw/d)	

Summary: the developing foetus appears to be highly sensitive to exposure to PFOA. Effects associated with PFOA are (see also 3.7.4):

- Lower birth weight and falling neonatal survival rate
- Liver effects (weight, increase in enzymes and necrosis)
- Deregulation of the immune system
- Neurotoxicity: increased spontaneous movement activity
- High cholesterol
- Lower vaccination response
- Disruption of thyroid function
- Testicular cancer and kidney cancer

3.7.4. SUMMARY OF THE AVAILABLE TOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES

A summary of the toxicological assessment values derived for PFOA by various bodies is given in Table 60.

\rightarrow Oral - non-carcinogenic

EFSA

The TDI of EFSA (2008b) is based on the 95% lower limit of the confidence interval of the benchmark dose for a 10% increase in absolute hepatic weight (BMDL10) from multiple studies in rats and mice. The BMDL10 values ranged from 0.3 to 0.7 mg/kg/d. The lowest BMDL10 (0.3 mg/kg/d) was obtained in studies in male rats after 7 weeks of exposure (Palazzolo, 1993; Perkins *et al.*, 2004). An uncertainty factor of 200 (100 for inter- and intraspecies variability and 2 for uncertainties about the kinetics of the internal PFOA dose as the kinetics of PFOA in both rat and human are still unclear) was applied to the BMDL10 in order to arrive at a TDI of **1500 ng/kg/d**.

In a scientific opinion from 2018, EFSA published a preliminary¹⁴ oral health-based guideline value for PFOA (EFSA, 2018c). The derivation of this guideline value is based on epidemiological studies that were not yet available in 2008. The increase in cholesterol levels in the serum was considered a critical effect by CONTAM. Two major studies investigating the association between PFOA levels and cholesterol in serum (Steenland et al., 2009; Eriksen et al., 2013) showed a very similar BMDL5 for 5% increase in cholesterol (9.2 and 9.4 ng/ml), corresponding to an estimated chronic daily intake of 0.8 ng/kg bw/d, according to a human PBPK model. An overview of the BMD analysis and the associated modelled daily dietary intake is given in Table 59. For the BMD modelling study by Steenland et al. (2009), with the lowest decile as reference, a 5% increase could not be modelled because the dose response curve flattened out at high PFOA concentrations in serum. The median PFOA concentration at the lowest decile (5.5 ng/ml) was higher than in other cohorts and in biomonitoring studies. Therefore, a "low" (L) concentration of 1 ng/ml, which is half of the median of PFOA in serum in Europe (1.9 ng/ml), was chosen. CONTAM is aware that this is an extrapolation outside the aggregated data of the study by Steenland et al. (2009) but it is within the interval of individual data of the lowest decile in the same study. This method increases the uncertainty about the BMDL5. The study by Eriksen et al. (2013) does not have this shortcoming, but has a smaller cohort than the study by Steenland et al. (2009). CONTAM therefore decided to use both studies to derive the HBGV. CONTAM has not corrected for simultaneous exposure to PFOS (and possibly other PFAS) but acknowledges that this could potentially lead to slightly higher BMDL5 levels and associated daily intake estimates.

For the association between PFOA and alanine transferase (Health Canada)in serum, the modelling was performed for an increase in the absolute risk of ALT above its reference value (> 45 IU^{40}/L for males and > 34 IU/I for females), with the results of the study by (Dallas *et al.*, 1989). An absolute increase of 5% ALT in serum did not occur even in the highest decile and could therefore not be modelled, an increase of 3% (from 9% to 12%) could. The association between PFOA and birth weight could also be modelled, with a benchmark response of 5% corresponding to a reduction of roughly 170 g in birth weight.

Human endpoint	BMDL5 (ng/ml)	Intake via food ^d (ng/kg bw/d)	Number of persons (cohort)	Type data	Model	Reference
Total cholesterol	9.4 ^{a)}	0.8	46,294 ^{b)}	deciles	Log normally cumulative	Steenland <i>et al.</i> (2009)
	9.2	0.8	753 (Danish cohort 1996-2002)	octiles	Linear (square root)	Eriksen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2013)
Alanine transferase ^(c)	21	2.0	47,092	deciles	Logistical	Gallo <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Birth weight	10.6	1.0	1,400 (Danish birth cohort 1996-2002)	deciles	Linear	Fei <i>et al.</i> (2007)
	4.0	0.4	901 (Norwegian birth cohort)	quartiles	Exponential	Whitworth <i>et al.</i> (2012)

Table 59: Overview of the BMD analysis of PFOA (EFSA, 2018c)

(a) modelled with extrapolation of a reference value of 1 ng/ml PFOA in serum; an increase of 5% in the response observed in the lowest quantile could not be modelled

(b) local residents (age \geq 18 years) who drank water contaminated with PFOA from a chemical plant in West Virginia for at least 1 year.

(c) BMDL3; alanine transferase is a marker for hepatocellular damage

(d) estimated value, corresponding to the BMDL5 of a PBPK model (rounded numbers)

The five studies in Table 59 give BMDL5 values of 4.0 to 21 ng/ml plasma, corresponding to a lifetime daily intake of 0.4 to 2.0 (median 0.8) ng/kg bw/day according to a human PBPK model. The CONTAM panel considered that these human studies provided sufficient evidence to derive a health-based guideline value; the value of **0.8 ng/kg bw/day** is therefore proposed by EFSA as a possible new TDI for PFOA.

No additional uncertainty factor was applied, as the BMD modelling was based on large epidemiological studies of the general population, including sensitive sub-groups.

Taking into account the long half-life of PFOA, a Tolerable Weekly Intake (TWI) of 6 ng/kg bw per week.

Due to the fact that both toxicity and the underlying mechanism of action are not sufficiently known and may be different but also overlap, the CONTAM panel decided not to derive group-HBGV for PFOS and PFOA (EFSA, 2018c).

A new EFSA risk assessment, which was published after the finalisation of this report, includes a tolerable weekly intake (TWI) based on epidemiological data to specifically protect infants. The TWI calculated as the sum of PFOA+PFNA+PFHxS+PFOS (which contribute most to human exposure) is 4.4 ng/kg bw/week. Effects on the immune system were considered the most critical endpoint for the risk assessment. Equal potencies were assumed for the four PFASs (EFSA CONTAM Panel *et al.*, 2020).

⁴⁰ International Units

ECHA

In 2015, the Risk Assessment Committee (RAC) established a Derived No Effect Level (DNEL) for the general population, within the framework of a restriction proposal for PFOA and its salts, of **800 ng/ml serum** (ECHA, 2015). The basis for the DNEL was the NOAEL of approximately 20000 ng/ml serum from the reproduction study with mice by Lau *et al.* (2006). The uncertainty factor is 250 (10 for intra-species differences and 2.5 for intra-species differences). A factor for kinetic differences is not necessary because the starting point is a serum concentration. ECHA also evaluated the evidence for humans of the data on cholesterolemia and immunotoxicity, but concluded that the data were not robust enough or the damage was unclear or there were uncertainties in the dose response. At an expert meeting on the new TDI of EFSA, ECHA stated that the restriction on PFOA, its salts and related substances is based on identification as persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic (PBT); the sole purpose of the human health assessment was to give the restriction a broader basis and not to derive a definitive reference value (EFSA, 2018a).

The Netherlands

In the Netherlands, the TDI is determined at **12.5 ng/kg bw/d** (Zeilmaker et al., 2016). While ECHA uses effects on reproduction to derive a reference value, the Netherlands bases its TDI on the prevention of liver effects (hypertrophy) as the most critical endpoint in animal studies. Perkins *et al.* (2004) exposed male rats to 1, 10, 30 and 100 ppm PFOA in food (0.06, 0.64, 1.94 and 6.50 mg/kg bw/d) for 13 weeks. Effects on liver weight and liver cell hypertrophy were found at doses \geq 10 ppm (0.64 mg/kg bw/d); the LOAEL for elevated liver weight is 0.64 mg/kg bw/d, the NOAEL is 0.06 mg/kg bw/d. The serum concentration corresponding to the NOAEL was 7.1 ng/ml. The NOAEL in the rat corresponds to 1.0 µg/kg bw/d in humans (how Zeilmaker obtains this figure is not indicated; is allometric scaling taken into account⁴¹?). Furthermore, the following uncertainty factors are applied:

- 1 for toxicodynamics within the interspecies variability, due to the higher sensitivity of rats compared to humans, for liver effects when exposed to PFOA.
- 10 for intraspecies variability
- 8 as an adjustment for chronic exposure; (this factor is based on an empirically derived distribution proposed by IPCS (2014)⁴² and has a range of 95%, i.e. there is 95% confidence that this factor takes sufficient account of possible sub-chronic differences.

This results in a TDI of 12.5 ng/kg bw/d, corresponding to an acceptable level of 89 ng/ml in serum (Zeilmaker & Janssen, 2016).

Great Britain

In 2006, UKCOT¹⁶ derived a provisional TDI of 3000 ng/kg bw/d. This was based on liver effects in a number of studies with rats and mice. The TDI was derived from a dose of 0.3 mg/kg bw/d and an uncertainty factor of 100 (for inter- and intraspecies variability). In 2009, UKCOT revised its TDI following the publication by EFSA (2008b) of a TDI of 1500 ng/kg bw/d. The difference in both TDIs is due to the use by EFSA of an additional uncertainty factor of 2 for uncertainties related to the kinetics of the internal dose. UKCOT concluded that an additional factor for interspecies differences in toxicokinetics was justified and adjusted its TDI to **1500 ng/kg bw/d**. However, the TDI remains provisional as it will be revised when new information becomes available (FSANZ, 2016).

Denmark

⁴¹ Allometric scaling extrapolates doses according to an overall assumption that equitoxic doses (when expressed in mg/kg bw/day) scale with body weight to the power of 0.75. (REACH guidance R.8 <u>https://www.echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/13632/information requirements r8 en.pdf/e153243a-03f0-44c5-8808-88af66223258</u>

⁴² <u>http://www.who.int/ipcs/methods/harmonization/uncertainty_in_hazard_characterization.pdf?ua=1</u>

In 2015, Denmark derived a TDI of **100 ng/kg bw/d**, based on developmental toxicity and increased liver weight in rats as the most critical endpoints (DEPA, 2015). Denmark continues to build on the BMDL10 values derived by EFSA (2008) and US-EPA (2014) from the Pallazo study to derive its TDI. Both bodies use other studies in their more recent derivations. The basis of Denmark's TDI is therefore in fact obsolete.

Germany

The HBM I value of PFOA is set at **2 ng/ml blood plasma**, for the general population (Umweltbundesamt, 2016). For PFOA, the HBM I value is based on epidemiological studies and critical endpoints such as immunological effects, birth weight and development (puberty). Analogy with results from animal tests increases confidence in the HBM I value of PFOS, according to the authors (Apel *et al.*, 2017).

Sweden

In a study commissioned by the Swedish Environment Agency, no TDI was derived, but a safe serum concentration (Derived no effect level (DNEL)) for the general population and for different endpoints (liver toxicity, reproductive toxicity and other effects) was derived (Borg & Håkansson, 2012). The lowest DNEL was for 'other effects', i.e. development of mammary glands and increased body weight in mice (LOAEL 0.01 mg/kg bw/d or 15 μ g/ml serum; White *et al.* (2007); White *et al.* (2009); White *et al.* (2011)), and is **2.0 ng/ml serum**. This value is based on a POD of 150 ng/ml serum and an uncertainty factor of 75 (3 for extrapolation from LOAEL to NOAEL, 2.5 for interspecies variability (no factor for toxicokinetics because serum concentrations of humans and animals are compared), and 10 for intraspecies variability). The DNELs for liver and reproductive toxicity (endpoints relevant for multiple PFAS) were higher (142 and 628 ng/ml serum, respectively).

US-EPA

The RfD of US-EPA is **20 ng/kg bw/d** (US-EPA, 2016d). This value is based on effects observed in a development study with mice (Lau *et al.*, 2006). The basis for the RfD was the LOAEL of 1 mg/kg/d; this LOAEL corresponds to a calculated average serum concentration of 38.0 mg/l for which it was determined to represent 56% of the steady-state concentration. The critical effects associated with the LOAEL are reduced ossification of proximal phalanges⁴³ of front and hind legs of male and female pups and accelerated (4 days earlier than controls) adolescence in male pups from dams exposed to PFOA via tube feeding on day 1-17 of pregnancy and sacrificed at weaning (Lau *et al.*, 2006). From the calculated serum concentration (38.0 mg/l) a human equivalent dose (HED) of 5.3 µg/kg/d was derived. An uncertainty factor of 300 (10 for intraspecies variability, 3 for toxicodynamic differences between animals and humans and 10 for the use of a LOAEL) was applied to the HED LOAEL to obtain an RfD of 0.02 µg/kg/d. No correction was made for lifetime exposure, as the average serum concentrations associated with the development studies are more protective than those of the long-term systemic toxicity studies (US-EPA, 2016d). The RfD of 20 ng/kg bw/d appears to correspond to a serum concentration of 142 ng/ml (Zeilmaker & Janssen, 2016).

ATSDR

In its provisional toxicological profile of 13 PFAS, ATSDR derived an intermediate oral MRL (minimum risk level) for PFOA of **3 ng/kg bw/d** (ATSDR draft, 2018). The critical effects were altered activity at 5-8 weeks of age and changes in skeleton at 13 and 17 months of age in offspring of mice fed PFOA from the 1st to the 21st day of pregnancy (Onishchenko et al. 2011). The MRL is based on a HED LOAEL of 0.000821 mg/kg/d and a total uncertainty factor of 300 (10 for LOAEL \rightarrow NOAEL, 3 for rat extrapolation to humans with adjustments for dosimetry, and 10 for intraspecies variability).

⁴³ Finger or toe joints lying between the metacarpals and middle phalanges (Wikipedia)

Australia and New Zealand

The health based guideline value (HBGV) is derived from the most sensitive endpoint from the mouse study by Lau *et al.* (2006), namely foetotoxicity. The HED_{NOAEL} is 4.9 μ g/kg bw//d. The uncertainty factor is 300 (10 for inter-species and 3 for intra-species variability). The HBGV is **160 ng/kg bw/d**. (FSANZ, 2016)

\rightarrow Inhalation, non-carcinogenic

Compared to oral intake data, there is little data available on exposure via inhalation. The importance of this route of exposure is therefore unclear (CONCAWE, 2016). There are not enough data to derive a reference value (US-EPA, 2016d; ATSDR draft, 2018).

Table 60: Toxicological criteria for PFOA

Body	Type value	Value	Basis	Critical effect	Study	Factors	Reference				
Oral intake (mg/kg.d)											
EFSA	TDI	1.5.10 ⁻³	NOAEL	Liver effects	Rat, mouse (Palazzolo, 1993; Perkins et al., 2004)	200 (100 for inter- and intraspecies variability and 2 for kinetics)	EFSA (2008b)				
EFSA	HBGV - draft	0.8.10-6	BMDL5	Increase in cholesterol levels in serum	Epidemiological studies: Steenland et al. (2009); Nelson et al. (2010); Eriksen et al. (2013)	-	EFSA (2018c)				
The Netherlands	MTR	1.25.10 ⁻⁵	NOAEL	Liver effects (hypertrophy)	Rat	Converted to human equivalent dose, and 1 (toxicodynamics) and 10 (intraspecies)	Zeilmaker and Janssen (2016); RIVM (2019)				
United Kingdom	TDI	3.10 ⁻³	NOAEL	Liver effects	Rats and mice	100 (intra- and interspecies)	FSANZ (2016)				
Denmark	TDI	1.10-4	BMDL10	developmental toxicity and increased liver weight	Rat -(Palazzolo, 1993)		DEPA (2015)				
US-EPA	RfD	2.10 ⁻⁵	HED LOAEL	development toxicity	Mice (Lau et al., 2006).	300 (10 for intraspecies, 3 for toxicodynamics, 10 for LOAEL)	(US-EPA, 2016d).				
ATSDR	MRL - proposal	3.10 ⁻⁶	HED LOAEL	development toxicity	Mice – Onishchenko et al. (2011)	300 (10 for LOAEL, 3 for interspecies and dosimetry, 10 for intraspecies	ATSDR draft (2018)				
---------------	--	--------------------	-----------	---	---	---	---				
Australia and	TDI	1,6.10-4	HED NOAEL	foetotoxicity.	Mice (Lau et al.,	30 (10 interspecies; 3	FSANZ (2016)				
New Zealand					2006).	intraspecies)					
			Ser	rum concentration ng/n	าไ						
ECHA-RAC	DNEL (not intended to be reference value)	800	LOAEL	reproduction	Mouse (Lau et al., 2006).	250 (10 intraspecies; 2.5 interspecies)	(EFSA, 2018a)				
Germany	НВМ І	2	-	immunological effects, birth weight, development	Epidemiological studies	-	Apel et al. (2017) (Umweltbundesa mt, 2016)				
Sweden	DNEL	2	LOAEL	development of the mammary glands and body weight	Mice - White et al., 2007, 2009, 2011	75 (3 for LOAEL, 2.5 for interspecies, 10 for intraspecies)	Borg and Håkansson (2012)				

\rightarrow Carcinogenic

US-EPA (2016) derived a human equivalent dose of 0.58 mg/kg bw/d and an slope factor of 0.07 (mg/kg/d)⁻¹. The basis for this factor are the dose-response data from Leydig cell tumours in rats (Butenhoff, 2012). The slope factor corresponds to a dose of 1.43.10⁻⁴ mg/kg bw/d for an additional cancer risk of 1/10⁵. US-EPA states that the lifetime health advisory (2.10⁻⁵ mg/kg bw/d) based on non-cancer effects is protective for the cancer endpoint (US-EPA, 2016b)

A unit risk for inhalation or a slope factor for dermal contact are not available.

3.7.5. PROPOSAL FOR TOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES TO BE USED

It is generally accepted that the current TDI of EFSA is too high. The new TDI of EFSA is still provisional and therefore cannot be selected as a reference value. Moreover, the Netherlands, Germany and Denmark have raised substantive objections to the evaluation by EFSA (EFSA, 2018c).

The TDI of **12.5 ng/kg bw/d** of the Netherlands is in line with the RfD of 20 ng/kg bw/d; however, the Netherlands will review its TDI when EFSA publishes its final TDI (RIVM, 2019).

ATSDR, US-EPA 2016 and ECHA/RAC do not use information from epidemiological studies to derive a health reference value, which RIVM considers to be a drawback (Zeilmaker, 2016).

The MRL of ATSDR (2018) is a proposal and therefore cannot be selected as a reference value.

EFSA has applied an additional uncertainty factor of 2 for differences in toxicokinetics. To avoid this, US-EPA used PBPK modelling to derive an HED, which served as a starting point for the derivation of an RfD. A PBPK model uses, as it were, substance-specific evaluation factors and using a HED NOAEL may therefore be considered more reliable than using an experimental NOAEL and standard uncertainty factors.

The RfD of US-EPA (20 ng/kg bw/d) is selected as a reference value for deriving soil remediation values.

Because there is no toxicological reference value for exposure via inhalation, this is calculated from the TDI (20 ng/kg bw/d) with the following parameters: 70 kg body weight, 20 m³/day of breathing volume and 95% inhalation absorption (equivalent to oral absorption). The calculation results in a tolerable concentration in air (TCA) of **70 ng/m³**.

In order to have an idea of the impact on the soil remediation value, scenarios are also calculated with the MTR of the Netherlands (12.50 ng/kg bw/d) and the TDI proposal of EFSA (0.8 ng/kg bw/d).

3.8. ECOTOXICOLOGY

For the evaluation of ecotoxicological effects , no new primary sources and/or databases were consulted to derive possible new ecotoxicological values. However, it was examined whether substantiated ecotoxicological values have recently been derived by other regulatory bodies. Based on the guidelines for drawing up soil remediation values (Cornelis and Touchant, 2016), the following sources were consulted:

US EPA: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ecotox/ecossl/index.html</u>

- CCME Canada: http://www.ccme.ca/en/resources/canadian_environmental_quality_guidelines/index.html
- RIVM Netherlands (intervention values, national reference values: <u>http://www.rivm.nl/rvs/Normen/Milieu/Bodeminterventiewaarden,</u> <u>http://www.rwsleefomgeving.nl/onderwerpen/bodem-ondergrond/bbk/instrumenten/nobo</u>
- ECHA database: http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals

The results of this inventory are summarised in section 3.10.3. Ecotoxicological reference values

3.9. LEGAL LIMITS

3.9.1. OUTDOOR AIR AND INDOOR AIR

PFOA is a low-volatile substance. PFOA does not occur in the WHO Air quality guidelines for Europe (WHO, 2000) or those of other bodies (ANSES, RIVM, Germany, US-Clean air Act, LCI (lowest concentration of interest) for indoor air).

APFOA is not included in the Flemish Indoor Environment Decree (BOG2018) and also does not appear in the WHO guidelines for indoor air quality (WHO, 2010) or in the list of LCI (lowest concentration or interest) substances for indoor air (EU-LCI, 2016).

The TCA is 70 ng/m³.

3.9.2. DIET AND FOOD

There are restrictions on the use of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (Case No 3825-26-1) in plastics intended to come into contact with foodstuffs (EU, 2011)).

PFOA is not included in the European list of undesirable substances in animal feed (EC, 2002). There is no European standard for PFOA in water intended for human consumption (EC, 1998).

3.9.3. DRINKING WATER

On 1 February, the **European Commission** adopted a **proposal** to revise the Drinking Water Directive 98/83/EC (EC, 1998). This sets the drinking water standard at **0.1 \mug/l** for individual PFAS (including PFOA) and 0.5 μ g/l for PFAS total (EC, 2018).

The Netherlands applies an indicative guideline value for drinking water of 87.5 ng/l for lifelong exposure (Zeilmaker & Janssen, 2016; van der Aa & al., 2017). This value is calculated on the basis of a TDI of 12.5 ng/kg/day, a contribution of drinking water to the TDI of 20%, a body weight of 70 kg and drinking water consumption of 2l/day. This indicative guideline value is based on the TDI used by the Netherlands pending a definitive new TDI from EFSA.

In Germany, the guideline value (Leitwerte) for drinking water is 0.1 μ g/l (UBA, 2017). This value is based on an average of the results of epidemiological studies (UBA, 2016a). The United States of America has a lower health-based advisory value of 0.07 μ g/l for drinking water, which is a sum parameter for PFOS and PFOA (US-EPA, 2016). By way of comparison, US-EPA has calculated a drinking water limit from the slope factor for testicular tumours. US-EPA takes into account an additional cancer risk of 1/10⁶, 80 kg body weight and drinking water consumption of 2.5 litres. The result is 0.5 μ g/l and exceeds the US-EPA standard (0.07 μ g/l) based on non-carcinogenic effects. Australia applies a limit of 0.56 μ g/l for PFOA (Australia, 2016).

For deriving soil remediation values , the value of $0.1 \,\mu g/l$ is selected as it is an accepted value within the revision of the European Drinking Water Directive.

Substance	Value	Details	Country/region	Reference
PFOA	0.56 μg/l	Drinking water quality value	Australia	Australia (2016)
PFOA	0.0875 μg/l	Drinking water reference value	The Netherlands	Alphenaar <i>et al.</i> (2018)
PFAS separately and total	0.1 μg/l for individual PFAS and 0.5 μg/l for PFAS total	Proposal of limit values for drinking water	EU	EC (2018)
PFOA + PFOA	0.07 µg/l (70 ppb)	Health Advisory for lifetime exposure	USA	US-EPA (2016b)
PFOA	0.1 μg/l	Guideline value	Germany	UBA (2017)

Table 61: Drinking water	standards of various	countries/bodies
--------------------------	----------------------	------------------

3.10. CALCULATION OF THE SOIL REMEDIATION VALUE

The calculations of the soil remediation values were made with a modified S-Risk version 1.3 Application I for the calculations, Application II with modified buffer space (0.75 m) for interpretation of exposure routes and exposure pathways. To avoid the use of the K_{ow}, S-Risk version 1.3 was specifically adapted for PFAS on the VITO test server. Transfer to plants can therefore be calculated with BCF factors based on dry matter concentration in the soil, whereas normally BCF factors for organic substances are expressed on pore water concentrations. Moreover, PFOA was considered a non-dissociative substance in S-Risk in the calculations (PFOA is a dissociative substance), which means that K_d can be calculated directly from the organic carbon content in the soil and K_{oc} without the use of K_{ow}. The user manual of S-Risk states "If a K_{oc}-value is available for a dissociative substance at the correct soil pH, it is also possible to leave the dissociative option-button unchecked while filling out the required K_{oc} value. However, the calculations must only be carried out for the applicable pH range".

3.10.1. GROUNDWATER

EFSA carried out a comprehensive study of chronic exposure to PFOA via food, setting upper and lower limits for minimum, average and maximum intakes (EFSA, 2018c). In the lower limits of average exposure, the highest contribution for drinking water was found in a Swedish study measuring the relative contribution of different pathways to total exposure; the contribution of PFOA via drinking water ranged from 9.1 to 11% (Haug *et al.*, 2011). As the contribution of PFOA is larger than PFOS, the contribution of drinking water to the TDI should not be lower than that of PFOS; therefore, the WHO standard value of 0.2 is taken as the contribution. The SRV for groundwater is calculated using the standard formula (see 3.10.1).

The mean, measured dermal absorption coefficient (Kp) of PFOA = $5.8 \times 10-5 \text{ cm/h}$ (Franko *et al.*, 2012). This value is lower than the minimum Kp for the contribution to drinking water (0.022 cm/h), therefore dermal exposure via drinking water should not be considered in the derivation of the soil remediation value.

The basis for determining the inhalatory drinking water equivalent is the Henry coefficient. This cannot be estimated from the vapour pressure and the solubility because the vapour pressure above an aqueous solution is reduced, as PFOA dissociates in water (EFSA, 2008c). For this reason, the inhalatory drinking water equivalent cannot be calculated, but it is probably low; for the purposes of deriving soil remediation values, it is set at zero.

Toxicological reference	Value	Unit	SRV groundwater (ng/l)
value			
Set 1 (preference)			
(US-EPA, 2016d).			
TDI oral	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	120
TCA inhalation	7.10 ⁻⁵	[mg/m³]	
TDI dermal	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	
Set 2 RIVM (2019)			
TDI oral	12.5.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	75
TCA inhalation	43.8.10 ⁻⁶	[mg/m ³]	
TDI dermal	12.5.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	
Set 3 EFSA (2018c)			
TDI oral	0.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	4.8
TCA inhalation	2.8.10 ⁻⁶	[mg/m ³]	
TDI dermal	0.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	

Table 62: Reference values for groundwater

3.10.2. SOIL

The calculations were made for 3 different sets of toxicological reference values, as described in the substance sheets at the end of this report. The first scenario makes use of the RfD in (US-EPA, 2016d) (= preferred scenario), the second scenario is based on the MTR of the Netherlands as described in RIVM (2019) and the third scenario is calculated with the proposed TDI-value of EFSA (2018c).

As was the case for PFOS, the calculations were carried out in the first instance using the UB food consumption and concentration data of EFSA (2018c). However, the calculations gave negative background exposure for the landuse type agriculture through food consumption. This indicates that the exposure via locally grown foods in an agricultural setting exceeds the general background exposure via dietary intake of consumtion foods, possibly because the estimated intake via locally grown vegetables is overestimated by the available BCF. Also for the calculations based on the UB data from EFSA (2012) it appeared that for scenario 3 the oral toxicological reference value (TDI oral = 0.8 ng/kg/d) is already fully filled in by the background intake via food (2.63 ng/kg/d).

On the basis of previous observations, the final calculations for deriving the SRV were carried out on the basis of the lower bound (LB) intake figures from EFSA (2012). The calculations were made for the three different scenarios or three different sets of toxicological limit values. The results are summarised in Table 63 and compared graphically in Figure 18.

Table 63: Proposed human toxicological soil remediation values for PFOA (μ g/kg dry matter) when lower bound intake figures from EFSA (2012) are used. The calculations were made for 3 sets of toxicological reference values, see also the substance sheets at the end of this report and chapter 3.7 Toxicology.

	Ш	111	IV	V	
S-Risk tox 1 (US-EPA, 2016d)					
	4.3 (threshold)	205 (threshold)	IV a	V a	

			12 610	1/ 080
			(threshold)	14,000 (throshold)
				(threshold)
				Vb
			14,760	12,770
			(threshold)	(threshold)
Adjustment			IV a and IV b	V a and V b
			<u>643</u>	<u>643</u>
			(drinking water)	(drinking water)
S-Risk tox 2 RIVM (2019)				
	2.7 (threshold)	127 (threshold)	IV a	V a
			7,831	8,769
			(threshold)	(threshold)
			IV b	V b
			9,166	7,954
			(threshold)	(threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	IV a and IV b	V a and V b
			<u>643</u>	<u>643</u>
			(drinking water)	(drinking water)
S-Risk tox 3 EFSA (2018c)				
	0.14	6.2	IV a	V a
			375	489
			(threshold)	(threshold)
			IV b	Vb
			439	443
			(threshold)	(threshold)
Adjustment	-	-	-	-

bold: values proposed as soil remediation values based on tox values

bold underlined: values proposed as soil remediation values based on adjustment based on binding legal reference values -: the concentration indices are not critical, no adjustment is needed

Threshold: the non-carcinogenic endpoint is the most critical, the proposed soil remediation value corresponds to the value at which there is no longer a risk for children 1 - 6 years (with the exception of industry where no children are present)



Figure 18: Comparison of the SRV (μ g/kg dm) calculated on the basis of three sets of toxicity reference values under scenario 2 (LB scenario) for the different landuse types

The contribution of the exposure pathways to the risk for the different landuse types is shown in Figure 19.



Figure 19: Contribution of exposure pathways to overall risk for PFOA in tox scenario 1 (US-EPA (2016c)) and with background dietary exposure based on the LB approach of EFSA (2012) (blue: oral, green: dermal, orange: inhalation). The contribution has been calculated for a soil concentration

equal to proposed soil remediation values and - with the exception of landuse type Vb - for children (1-6 years).

This figure has been calculated on the basis of the toxicologically based soil remediation value as calculated for each landuse type, and as such it does not take into account adjustments. We see that for all landuse types the oral exposure route is dominant. In type II, the determining factor is consumption of local meat and animal products (95.2%) with only a limited contribution from vegetables (4.6%). Local meat and animal products consist of 95% milk for children, 51% for adults, followed by beef (11%). Offal contributes less than 0.3% for adults. The concentration calculated in milk at a concentration in soil equal to the proposed soil remediation value for Tox1 (4.32 µg/kg dm) is 0.69 µg/kg fw, more or less a factor of 6 higher than the UB concentration as determined by EFSA (2012), i.e. 0.12 µg/kg fw. At 2.68 µg/kg dm in the soil (SRV based on Tox2) the concentration of PFOA in milk is 0.43 µg/kg fw (factor 4). At 0.14 µg/kg dm in the soil (SRV based on Tox 3) we calculate a PFOA concentration in milk of 0.22 μ g/kg fw, still about a factor of 2 higher than the UB from EFSA (2012). If we take into account the left-skewed data distribution, it appears that the concentration in 94% of milk samples was lower than the LOD or LOQ, and as a result of the assumption under the UB scenario, were equated with the LOD or LOQ by EFSA. However, the LB concentration determined by EFSA (2012) is 0 mg/kg fw. This shows that the current calculations most probably overestimate the concentration in animal products, and milk in particular.

For type III, the consumption of vegetables weighs the most (91.1%), with a limited contribution from ingestion of soil and dust (5.7%). Type IV is dominated by soil and dust ingestion (68%), drinking water contributes about 32% and type V is largely determined by drinking water (83%).

To ascertain whether we obtain realistic SRV for the various scenarios, a comparison is made with measured background values for PFOA in the Netherlands (as insufficient measurements are available for Flanders). In the Netherlands the expertise centre PFAS (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018) collected data on the presence of PFOS and PFOA in the topsoil (up to about 0.5 m minus ground level) in the Netherlands. By using data from Northern Holland, Utrecht and Northern Brabant for PFOA, the aim was to rule out the influence of potential risk locations or known PFOA sources. The report states the percentile values for PFOA as shown in Table 64.

Percentiles	PFOA
25 percentile (μg/kg dm)	0.40
Median; 50 percentile (µg/kg dm)	0.73
75 percentile (μg/kg dm)	1.10
90 percentile (μg/kg dm)	2.00
95 percentile (μg/kg dm)	4.60

Table 64: Calculated percentile values for diffuse load of PFOA in the topsoil (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018).

In Figure 20 the calculated SRV for the landuse types II and III are compared for each of the three sets of tox values, with the median, the 90th and 95th percentile values of the concentrations of PFOA in topsoils of Northern Holland. The SRV for agricultural soils derived for all three sets of toxicity values are always below the 95 percentile value of background PFOA from (Pancras & van Bentum, 2018). If and when PFOA background levels in Flemish topsoil are proven to be at the same level of those in the Netherlands, the above findings would indicate that, with current scientific knowledge and available calculation methods, no feasible SRV for agricultural areas can be derived in Flanders.

Based on the toxicity criteria from (US-EPA, 2016d) (tox 1) and RIVM (2019) (tox 2) we can derive, for residence with vegetable gardens, a SRV with a sufficiently large margin above the 95 percentile value of the PFOA background values in the Netherlands.



Figure 20: Comparison of the SRV on the basis of 3 tox scenarios with respect to the median, 90th percentile and 95th percentile value of the diffuse loading of PFOA in topsoils in the Netherlands (Pancras, 2018)

3.10.3. ECOTOXICOLOGICAL REFERENCE VALUES

Based on the guidelines for drafting soil remediation values (Cornelis and Touchant, 2016), the database data of the following 4 international bodies were consulted: US-EPA, ECHA, CCME and RIVM⁴⁴. For PFOA, ecotoxicological limit values were only derived by RIVM (2019). These are shown in Table 65. In contrast to Flanders, in the Netherlands, biomagnification (accumulation to higher trophic levels) is taken into account for the determination of the ecotoxicological limit value and therefore a distinction is made in the table between direct ecotoxicity through soil contact and biomagnification.

⁴⁴ US EPA: <u>http://www.epa.gov/ecotox/ecossl/index.html</u>

CCME Canada: <u>http://www.ccme.ca/en/resources/canadian_environmental_quality_guidelines/index.html</u> RIVM Netherlands: <u>http://www.rivm.nl/rvs/Normen/Milieu/Bodeminterventiewaarden,</u> <u>http://www.rwsleefomgeving.nl/onderwerpen/bodem-ondergrond/bbk/instrumenten/nobo</u> ECHA database: <u>http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals</u>

Table 65: Overview of ecotoxicologically based reference values (direct soil contact and biomagnification in brackets) derived for PFOA in the Netherlands (RIVM, 2019) (μ g/kg dm).

Reference value	Nature and agriculture areas	Residential and park areas (*)	Commercial and industrial areas	Reference
Ecological Risk direct (biomagnification)	500 ^{a)} (7 ^{c)})	5,000 ª) (89)	50,000 ^{b)} (1,100)	RIVM, 2019

a) medium protection level (Geometric mean of HC5 and HC50); b) moderate protection level (SR_{eco} Serious-Risk soil corresponding to the HC₅₀ level); c) high protection level (MTR_{eco} Maximum Permissible Risk soil corresponding to the HC₅ level); (*) park areas are not a separate landuse type in the Netherlands

The direct ecological risks are tested against two risk limits in the Netherlands: the Serious Risk to the soil ecosystem. (SReco soil) is the concentration at which harmful effects of the substance on the soil ecosystem are likely to occur and corresponds to the HC₅₀ protection level⁴⁵ and the Maximum Permissible Risk for the ecosystem (MTR_{eco}) which corresponds to the HC₅ protection level⁴⁶. Below this level, no negative effects on the soil ecosystem are expected. Where the SR_{eco soil} applies in industrial areas, the MTR_{eco} is applied to agricultural and nature reserve areas. For the soil function class 'Residence with vegetable garden', a middle level is defined as the geometric mean of both. RIVM (2019) bases its derivation of the PFOA limit values on the previously published data from Lijzen et al., 2018. Based on the original data for direct ecotoxicity of PFOA, this gives a SR_{eco,direct} of 50,000 μ g/kg dm and a MTR_{eco,direct} of 500 μ g/kg dm. The middle level for direct toxicity is 5,000 μ g/kg dm. If biomagnification is taken into account, RIVM (2019) derives the following ecotoxicological risk limits: $SR_{eco,indirect} = 1,100 \ \mu g/kg \ dm$, $MTR_{eco,indirect} = 7 \ \mu g/kg \ dm$ and a middle level = 89 $\mu g/kg \ dm$. These values are adopted as a preliminary proposal for ecotoxicological standards for PFOS in Flanders (Table 66). Due to the persistent nature of PFAS as a substance group as a whole, it is proposed that, exceptionally and in contrast to normal practice in Flanders, biomagnification should be taken into consideration for the PFOA standard proposals for the SRV_{eco} for the landuse types 'Agriculture' and 'Residence with vegetable garden' and 'Recreational areas'. The proposal for the SRV_{eco} for these landuse types is then respectively 7, 89 and 1,100 μ g/kg dm (in bold in Table 66).

Reference value	Agriculture areas (type II)	Residence with vegetable garden (type III)	Recreational areas (type IV)	Industrial areas (type V)
SRV _{eco}	7 (500)	89 (5,000)	1,100 (50,000)	50,000

Table 66: Proposal for ecotoxicological values for PFOA in Flanders (μ g/kg dm); values based on direct toxicity are shown in brackets.

3.10.4. TARGET VALUES

No target values for Flemish soils were available at the time this study was carried out. On behalf of OVAM, background values were measured in 2020, for which, for PFOA, a background value of 1.0

 $^{^{\}rm 45}$ The Hazardous Concentration for 50% of the soil organisms (HC_{\rm 50})

⁴⁶ The Hazardous Concentration for 5% of the soil organisms (HC₅)

 μ g/kg dm in soil was derived, more information can be found in Touchant *et al.* (2020). The Netherlands applies a temporary background value of 0.8 μ g/kg dm in soil (Wintersen *et al.*, 2019)²⁴.

3.11. INTEGRATION AND EVALUATION

3.11.1. SOIL

The calculations for deriving the soil remediation values for PFOA were carried out in an adapted version of the S-Risk model version 1.3 (for the time being only available on an internal VITO test server) taking into account the amphiphilic character of PFOA, substances for which the log K_{ow} cannot be measured according to the OECD standard test guideline. In order to avoid the use of the log K_{ow}, the transfer to plants was initially calculated on the basis of BCF factors relative to the solid phase of the soil, in contrast to the usual method where BCF factors for organic substances in S-Risk are expressed on the basis of pore water concentrations. In addition, PFOA was considered as a non-dissociative in S-Risk during the derivation of the soil remediation values (PFOA is a dissociative substance) so that the sorption of soil particles (K_d) can be calculated directly from the organic carbon content in the soil and the K_{oc} without the intervention of K_{ow}.

Various scenarios with combinations of parameter values were calculated and tested for feasibility. The following parametric values were used to derive the proposed soil remediation values for PFOA:

- Toxicology:
 - The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) of 20 ng/kg bw/d and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of 70 ng/m³ (preferred scenario);
 - The RfD of Zeilmaker et al. (2016) of 12.25 ng/kg bw/d and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of 43.8 ng/m³;
 - The RfD of EFSA (2018c) of **0.8 ng/kg bw/d** and the derived tolerable concentration in the air (TCA) of **2.8 ng/m³**;
- Background exposure: The lower bound intake and concentration data of EFSA (2012);
- Plant uptake: The BCF_{PFOS} values derived by Ghisi et al. (2019) after comparing the original data with the approach followed by Wintersen et al. (2019) applying a complete diet;
- Animal transfer: average BTF values derived from Vestergren et al. (2013) and Kowalczyk et al. (2013);

All parameter values used for the final human toxicological soil remediation values are summarised in the substance sheet at the back.

For the evaluation of ecotoxicological effects, no new primary sources and/or databases were consulted to derive possible new ecotoxicological values, but it was examined whether ecotoxicological values have recently been derived from other bodies. For PFOA the values derived by RIVM (2019) were used, whereby biomagnification was taken into account.

During this study, insufficient measurement data were available to derive reliable target values. On behalf of OVAM, background values were measured in 2020, for which, for PFOA, a background value of 1.0 μ g/kg dm in soil was derived (Touchant *et al.*, 2020).

A comparison of the proposed human and ecotoxicological soil remediation values is given in Table 67 with in green the preferred value based on the preferred toxicology scenario. At present there

are no soil remediation values for PFOA in the Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO) meaning that a comparison is not possible. If the US EPA scenario is used for the human health based SRV, the values in green are used as reference value (provisional SRV). A first comparison with Dutch background values (Pancras, 2018) shows that, with current scientific knowledge and available calculation methods, no feasible SRV for agricultural areas can be derived (landuse type II). The decision concerning the SRV for landuse type II (agriculture) (and thus also for landuse type I - nature) is awaiting the study 'Derivation of target values for perfluorinated compounds' commissioned by OVAM. The soil remediation values for landuse type I (nature) and landuse type II (agriculture) can be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.

Table 67: The proposed SRV for soil (μ g/kg dm) for PFOA with the preferred value in green. The soil remediation values for landuse type I (nature) and landuse type II (agriculture) may be further adjusted to a feasible value on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil.

	II ⁴⁷	III	IV	V
Flemish legislation on soil (VLAREBO)	-	-	-	-
Proposal human health based tox US-EPA (2016c)	4.3	205	643 (drinking water) IV a and IV b	643 (drinking water) Va and Vb
Proposal human health based tox Zeilmaker et al. (2016)	2.7	127	643 (drinking water) IV a and IV b	643 (drinking water) Va and Vb
Proposal human health based tox EFSA (2018c)	0.14	6.2	375 (Va)	443 (Vb)
Proposal ecotox	7	89	1,100	50,000
Background value	1.0			

3.11.2. GROUNDWATER

The soil remediation value for groundwater has a human health based underpinning, and corresponds to the drinking water standard if this has a toxicological basis (Cornelis & Touchant, 2016). The drinking water standard of 100 ng/l proposed by the EU is a general limit (not specific for PFOA) which is mainly based on feasibility and not only on toxicology.

As such, the SRV for groundwater was also calculated, with the standard formula (paragraph 2.10.1) for the three toxicological reference values with which the soil remediation value was derived. The corresponding calculated values for groundwater are:

- 120 ng/l, based on the RfC of US-EPA (2016)
- 75 ng/l, based on the maximum tolerable human health based risk level (Zeilmaker *et al.*,2016)
- 4.8 ng/l, based on the TDI proposal of EFSA (2018).

⁴⁷ Not final, will be adjusted on the basis of the target values and the values for free use of soil

120 ng/l, based on the RfC of US-EPA (2016) is the preferred value based on the preferred toxicology scenario. This is also the most closely related to the groundwater criterion put forward at EU level, i.e. 100 ng/l.

3.11.3. GUIDELINE VALUES

Guideline values are not yet available at the time of publication of this report and will be published in a separate document.

3.12. COMPARISON WITH FOREIGN SOIL REMEDIATION VALUES

In 2018, RIVM derived generic risk limits for non-agricultural soil functions that allow local authorities to develop a site-specific approach to PFOA contamination (Lijzen *et al.*, 2018). The derived generic intervention and target values for soil and groundwater are set out in Table 68. The values are derived according to the applicable method, but they are not national standards as such. The lower limit for soil (0.1 μ g/kg dm) is the reporting limit, and is based on background concentrations in relatively unloaded areas. The upper limit (900 μ g/kg dm) is the lowest value of the human maximum tolerable risk (MTR) and the Serious Risk level (SR) for the environment. The lower limit for groundwater is the generic target value, derived from the Negligible Risk to the environment (NR_{eco}); the upper limit for groundwater is the lower of the following values: MTR_{human}, groundwater, MTR_{DW} (safe value for drinking water for consumption) and SR_{eco}, groundwater (Wintersen *et al.*, 2016).

The generic intervention value for residence with garden (900 μ g/kg dm) takes into account the leaching of PFOA to groundwater used as drinking water. The generic value for 'other green spaces, buildings, infrastructure and industry' (1137 μ g/kg dm) is a SR_{eco}, _{BM} that takes into account biomagnification (BM); this calculation is based on the assumption that areas with this function are large enough to serve as habitats for birds and mammals, whereby biomagnification to higher organisms can play a role. This is not assumed in the case of 'residence with a garden (Wintersen *et al.*, 2016).

In 2019, RIVM derived the following national risk limits for PFOA for a temporary framework for the application of soil and dredge spoil on or in soils: 7 μ g/kg dm for agriculture, 89 μ g/kg dm for residential and 1100 μ g/kg dm for industry (RIVM, 2019). These are not real soil remediation values, but values that are used within the PFAS temporary action framework. For these three soil function classes it appears that biomagnification (ecology) determines the lowest risk limit value; this is because PFOS is mobile and accumulates in higher organisms (RIVM, 2019). The risk limit values based on the human health based maximum tolerable risk level (12.5 ng/kg bw/d) of Zeilmaker (2016) are higher (Table 68).

The proposed human health based SRV for agriculture (4.3 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) is slightly more than half of the Dutch risk limit value_{eco} for agriculture (7 μ g/kg dm).

The proposed ecological SRV for residences (89 μ g/kg dm) is the same as the Dutch risk limit value for residences. The human health based SRV proposals for residences for tox scenario 1, 2 and 3 (205, 127 and 6.2 μ g/kg dm) (Table 35) are respectively 2 and 1.5 times higher, and 20 times lower than the Dutch risk limit for residences (89 μ g/kg dm).

The proposed human health based SRV for recreation and industry (643 μ g/kg dm, adjusted for drinking water) (Table 35) is slightly more than half of the Dutch risk limit value for industry taking

into account biomagnification (1100 μ g/kg dm). The Netherlands based the choice of an ecotoxicologically-underpinned intervention value over a health-related underpinned intervention value on an evaluation with the reference value of Zeilmaker (2016) and not with the proposed TDI from EFSA (2018). It is therefore only useful to compare the human health based SRV for scenario 2 with the Dutch human toxicological risk limit. The human health based SRV is lower than the Dutch risk limit_{human} for landuse type agriculture, recreation (adjusted for drinking water) and industry (adjusted for drinking water), and higher for landuse type residence with vegetable garden (127 vs. 86 μ g/kg dm).

Denmark has a quality criterion of 0.39 mg/kg soil as sum parameter (DEPA, 2015), but this value is based on the old RfD of US-EPA (0.03 μ g/kg/d) and therefore in fact obsolete.

Australia has derived health-based guideline values for different landuse types: 100 μ g/kg dm for residences with gardens, 20000 μ g/kg dm for residences with minimum risk of soil contact and 10000 μ g/kg dm for public areas (Australië, 2018).

The human health based screening value is 1260 μ g/kg dm in the USA and 850 μ g/kg dm in Canada; the screening value which takes groundwater protection into account is much lower (0.172 μ g/kg dm in the USA).

Soil				
Agriculture/nature	Risk limit	7.0 μg/kg	The	Table 5.2 in RIVM (2019) ⁴⁸
	value _{eco} for the	dm	Netherlands	
	temporary			
	framework for			
	action			
Residence	Risk limit	89 µg/kg		
	value _{eco} for the	dm		
	temporary			
	framework for			
	action			
Industry	Risk limit	1100 µg/kg		
	$value_{eco}$ for the	dm		
	temporary			
	framework for			
	action			
Agriculture/nature	Risk limit	37000	The	Table 3.2 in RIVM (2019)
	value _{human}	µg/kg dm	Netherlands	
Residence with	Risk limit	86 μg/kg	The	
vegetable garden	value _{human}	dm	Netherlands	
Residence with	Risk limit	1100	The	
garden	value _{human}	µg/kg dm	Netherlands	
Industry/recreation ^c	Risk limit	36500	The	
	value _{human}	µg/kg dm	Netherlands	

Table 68 Foreign soil remediation values for soil and groundwater^a.

48

^{48 &}lt;u>https://www.rivm.nl/sites/default/files/2019-</u> 04/Notitie%20mogelijkheden%20onderbouwing%20landelijke%20normen%20PFAS_0.pdf

Upper limit (ad hoc intervention value)	MTR _{human-soil}	900 μg/kg dm	The Netherlands	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Lower limit (target value)	Reporting limit	0.1 μg/kg dm	The Netherlands	
Residence with garden	MTR _{residence-garden}	900 μg/kg dm	The Netherlands	
Residence with garden	Health based guideline value (HHSV)	100 μg/kg dm	Australia	Australië (2018)
Residence with minimal risk of soil contact	Health based screening value (HHSV)	20000 μg/kg dm		
Public area	Health based screening value (HHSV)	10000 µg/kg dm		
Other green spaces, buildings, infrastructure, industry	SR_{eco} , biomagnification	1137 μg/kg dm	The Netherlands	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Industry - commerce	Health based screening value (HHSV)	50000 μg/kg dm	Australia (2018)	Australië (2018)
Quality criterion	QC _{soil}	390 μg/kg dm	Denmark	DEPA 2015
Protection of groundwater	RSL	0.172 μg/kg dm	USA (2017)	Australië (2018)
Screening value human	RSL	1260 μg/kg dm		
Screening value human	SSV	850 μg/kg dm	Canada (2017)	
Groundwater				
Upper limit (intervention value)	MTR _{DW}	0.39 µg/l	The Netherlands	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Lower limit (target value)	-	Not determined	The Netherlands	
Residence with garden (Csoil)	Human risk limit	130 µg/l	The Netherlands	Alphenaar <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Residence with vegetable garden (Csoil)	Human risk limit	12 μg/l	The Netherlands	

^a The values for the Netherlands are generic risk limits, not national soil remediation values

^b Application of correction to standard soil is recommended

^cNo vegetable consumption, limited soil contact

ANNEX A: PFOS SUBSTANCE SHEET

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
Name		Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid	
CAS number		1763-23-1	
EC number		217-179-8	
Туре		organic	
Dissociative		no ⁽¹⁾	
Acid constant (pKa)		-3.27	Brooke <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Molar mass	g/mol	500,126	
Water solubility	mg/l	370 (K-salt) ⁽²⁾	OECD (2002)
Vapour pressure	Ра	3.31.10 ⁻⁴ (K-salt) (20°C)	OECD (2002)
Henry coefficient	Pa m³/mol	-	Calculated in S-Risk
Log K _{ow} ⁴⁹ K _{ow}	g/g	4.49 (calculated value) ⁽³⁾ 30902,95	EpiSuite
Log K _{oc}	dm³/kg	2.57 (anion)	Higgins and
K _{oc}	-	371.54	Luthy (2006)
Log K _{oa}	g/g	_(4)	optional in S- Risk
BCF	(mg/kg dm)/(mg/m³)	see table below	
Dpe	m²/d	1.10 ⁻⁷ (standard value)	Based on Vonk (1985) and Lijzen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2011)
Dpvc	m²/d	1.10 ⁻¹⁰ (Dpe/1000)	Cornelis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2017)
Diffusion for organic substance in air (Da)	m²/d	-	Calculated in S-Risk
Diffusion for organic substance in water (Dw)	m²/d	-	Calculated in S-Risk
Кр	[cm/h]	9.5.10 ⁻⁷ (AFPO)	Washburn <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2005)
FA	-	1	Cornelis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2017)
ABS dermal soil/dust	-	0	Xiao <i>et al.</i> (2015)
BTF beef	d/kg	0.071	Vestergren <i>et al.</i> (2013)

⁴⁹ Entered in S-Risk but not used in further calculations

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
BTF sheepmeat	d/kg	0.387	Kowalczyk et
			al 2012
BTF liver	d/kg	0.441	Vestergren
	. //		et al. (2013)
BTF kidney	d/kg	1.201	(1) Kowal
			CZYK <i>et al.</i>
RTE milk	d/ka	0.021	(2013) Vostorgrop
	u/ Kg	0.021	<i>et al.</i> (2013)
BTF soil – egg	d/kg		
BTF food - egg	d/kg		
Carcinogenicity		Carc. 2	EG (2008)
Systemic effects threshold ⁽⁵⁾			
TDL oral	mg/kg.d	2,10 ⁻⁵	Preferred
		2.20	scenario US-
			EPA (2016)
TCA inhalatory	[mg/m³]	7.10 ⁻⁵	calculated
			from TDI oral
TDI dermal	mg/kg.d	2.10 ⁻⁵	= TDI oral
smoothing - ages		child, adolescent, adult	
Limit in air	mg/m³	-	
Limit in drinking water	mg/m³	0.1	EC (2018)
Crop standard	mg/kg fw		
Meat standard			
Beef	mg/kg fw		
Sheepmeat	mg/kg fw		
Liver	mg/kg fw		
Kidney	mg/kg fw		
Milk	mg/kg fw		
Butter	mg/kg fw		
Egg	mg/kg fw		
Dietary background all age groups	mg/kg day	1.2.10 ⁻⁶ (1 - < 3 γ)	Extrapolatio
including children			
			Lower bound
		1.2.10 ⁻⁶ (3 - < 6 v)	
		$1.08.10^{-6}$ (6 - < 10 y)	
		0.513.10 ⁻⁶ (10 - < 15 y)	
		0.562.10 ⁻⁶ (15 - < 21 y)	
		0.634.10 ⁻⁶ (21 - < 31 y)	
		0.875.10 ⁻⁶ (≥ 31 y)	
Background potato	mg/kg fw	3.60.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012)
	-		LB
Background root vegetables	mg/kg fw	9.50.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012)
			LB

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
Background bulbous vegetables (onion, etc.)	mg/kg fw	2.20.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background fruiting vegetables	mg/kg fw	2.10.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background cabbage	mg/kg fw	1.20.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background leafy vegetables	mg/kg fw	6.10 ⁻⁷	EFSA (2012) LB
Background legumes	mg/kg fw	0	EFSA (2012) LB
Background beef	mg/kg fw	8.60.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background offal	mg/kg fw	4.20.10 ⁻⁴	EFSA (2012) LB
Background milk	mg/kg fw	9.00.10-7	EFSA (2012) LB
Background butter	mg/kg fw	8.2.10 ⁻⁴	EFSA (2012) LB (Assimilated to <i>animal</i> fat)
Background eggs	mg/kg fw	3.7.10 ⁻⁵	EFSA (2012) LB
Background outdoor air	mg/m³	1.4.10 ⁻⁹	P50 value from Cornelis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2009)
Background indoor air	mg/m³	1.6.10 ⁻⁹	Jahnke <i>et al.</i> (2007b) in Cornelis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2009)
Background drinking water	mg/m³	0	Assimilated to zero since it is included in the intake estimation of EFSA (2012)

⁽¹⁾ in S-Risk 'no' is entered because the Kd of dissociative substances is calculated from log K_{ow} , which we want to avoid; for non-dissociative substances the Kd is calculated from the K_{oc}

⁽²⁾ The value of 370 mg/l is given in OECD (2002) with reference to a 3M report from 1999, without mention of temperature. The OECD test protocol for solubility (OECD test guideline 105) states that the test should preferably be carried out at 20 ± 0.5 °C. As such, 20°C is used in S-Risk.

 $^{(3)}$ Log K_{ow} is mandatory in S-Risk, and is used to calculate Kp, K_{oc}, and transfer factors, unless an experimental value is entered. Experimental values are available for these three parameters.

⁽⁴⁾ Log K_{oa} is optional in S-Risk, which uses K_{oa} in the calculation of transfer to plants; as experimental data are available for this purpose, a K_{oa} value is not necessary.

⁽⁵⁾ Due to the ongoing discussions on the new proposed TDI of EFSA, scenarios with 3 different sets of toxicological reference values will be calculated. The three sets are in the table below.

Toxicological	Value	Unit	Reference
reference value			
Set 1 (preference)			
TDI oral	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	US-EPA (2016c)
TCA inhalation	7.10 ⁻⁵	mg/m³	calculated from TDI
			oral
TDI dermal	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral
Set 2			
TDI oral	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	Zeilmaker et al. (2018)
TCA inhalation	21.9.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m³	calculated from TDI
			oral
TDI dermal	6.25.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral
Set 3			
TDI oral	1.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	EFSA (2018c)
TCA inhalation	6.3.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m³	calculated from TDI
			oral
TDI dermal	1.8.10-6	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral

The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) of **20 ng/kg bw/d** is proposed as a toxicological reference value for the calculation of the soil remediation value based on the following arguments:

- experts recognise that the current standard of EFSA is too high
- the more stringent EFSA standard is still provisional
- the Dutch MTR is more protective than the current TDI of EFSA, but is likely to be reviewed when EFSA publishes its final (more stringent) TDI
- the MRL of ATSDR is still provisional
- the RfD is based on a long-term study
- the value of the RfD is the same as that of Australia and New Zealand

the derivations of US-EPA and Australia/New Zealand are recent

Plant	BCF or BCF model
potatoes	
potatoes	0.01
root and tuber vegetables	
carrots	0.50
salsify	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
other root vegetables (such	0.38
as radish)	
bulbous vegetables	
bulbous vegetables (such as	0.44
onion)	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leek	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
fruiting vegetables	
tomato	0.06
cucumber	0.07
other fruiting vegetables	0.065 (average known fruiting vegetables)
(such as peppers)	
cabbages	
cabbage	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
cauliflower and broccoli	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
sprouts	0.44
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leafy vegetables	
lettuce	0.56
lamb's lettuce	0.56 (= lettuce)
endive	0.62 (average lettuce and celery)
spinach	3.77
chicory	0.62 (average lettuce and celery)
celery	0.72
legumes	
beans	0.03 (= peas)
peas	0.03
grasses	
grass	0.048
cereals	
maize	0.003

ANNEX B: PFOA SUBSTANCE SHEET

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
Name		Perfluorooctanoic acid	
CAS number		335-67-1	
EC number		206-397-9	
Туре		organic	
Dissociative		no ⁽¹⁾	
Acid constant (pKa)		2.8	Moody and Field (2000)
Molar mass	g/mol	414,07	
Water solubility	mg/l	9.5.10 ³ (25°C)	ECHA (2014)
Vapour pressure	Ра	1.7.10 ⁻² (10°C)	Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Henry coefficient	Pa m³/mol	-	Calculated in S- Risk
Log K _{ow} ⁵⁰ K _{ow}	g/g	4.81 (calculated value) ⁽²⁾ 64565,42	EpiSuite
Log K _{oc}	dm³/kg	2.06	Higgins and Luthy
K _{oc}		114.82	(2006)
Log K _{oa}	g/g	_(3)	optional in S-Risk
BCF	(mg/kg dm)/(mg/m³)	See table below	
Dpe	m²/d	1.10 ⁻⁷ (standard value)	Vonk (1985); Lijzen <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Dpvc	m²/d	1.10 ⁻¹⁰ (Dpe/1000)	Cornelis <i>et al.</i> (2017)
Diffusion for organic substance in air (Da)	m²/d	-	Calculated in S- Risk
Diffusion for organic substance in water (Dw)	m²/d	-	Calculated in S- Risk
Кр	[cm/h]	9.49.10 ⁻⁷	Fasano <i>et al.</i> (2005)
FA	-	1	Cornelis <i>et al.</i> (2017)
ABS dermal soil/dust	-	0	Xiao <i>et al.</i> (2015)
BTF beef	d/kg	5,999.10 ⁻³	Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2013)
BTF sheepmeat	d/kg	6,950.10 ⁻³	Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk <i>et</i> al. (2013)
BTF liver	d/kg	8,756.10 ⁻³	Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk <i>et</i> al. (2013)

⁵⁰ Entered in S-Risk but not used in further calculations

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
BTF kidney	d/kg	1,945.10 ⁻³	Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2013)
BTF milk	d/kg	5,686.10 ⁻³	Vestergren, 2013 and Kowalczyk <i>et</i> al. (2013)
BTF soil – egg	d/kg		
BTF food - egg	d/kg		
Carcinogenicity		Carc. 2	EC (2008)
Systemic effects threshold ⁽⁴⁾			
TDI oral	mg/kg.d	2.10 ⁻⁵	US-EPA (2016)
TCA inhalatory	mg/m³	7.10 ⁻⁵	calculated from TDI oral
TDI dermal	mg/kg.d	2.10 ⁻⁵	= TDI oral
smoothing - ages		child, adolescent, adult	
Systemic effects without threshold			
Slope factor oral	(mg/kg/d)⁻¹	0.07 ⁽⁵⁾	US-EPA (2016d)
Unit risk	(mg/m³)⁻¹	-	
Slope factor dermal	(mg/kg/d) ⁻¹	-	
Smoothing duration		lifelong	
Limit in air	mg/m³	-	
Limit in drinking water	mg/m³	0.1	EC (2018)
Crop standard	mg/kg fw		
Meat standard			
Beef	mg/kg fw		
Sheepmeat	mg/kg fw		
Liver	mg/kg fw		
Kidney	mg/kg fw		
Milk	mg/kg fw		
Butter	mg/kg fw		
Egg	mg/kg fw		
Dietary background all age groups including children	mg/kg day	2.20.10 ⁻⁷ (1 - < 3 y)	Extrapolation based on EFSA (2012) Lower bound
		1.98.10 ⁻⁷ (3 - < 6 у)	
		1.62.10 ⁻⁷ (6 - < 10 y)	
		1.08.10 ⁻⁷ (10 - < 15 y)	
		0.924.10 ⁻⁷ (15 - < 21 y)	
		0.98.10 ⁻⁷ (21 - < 31 y)	
		1.11.10 ⁻⁷ (≥ 31 y)	
Background potato	mg/kg fw	9.00.10-7	EFSA (2012) LB

Parameter	Unit	Value	Source
Background root vegetables	mg/kg fw	3.4.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background bulbous vegetables (onion, etc.)	mg/kg fw	2.2.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background fruiting vegetables	mg/kg fw	4.5.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background cabbage	mg/kg fw	1.9.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background leafy vegetables	mg/kg fw	6.2.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background legumes	mg/kg fw	2.5.10 ⁻⁵	EFSA (2012) LB
Background beef	mg/kg fw	6.1.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB
Background offal	mg/kg fw	3.4.10 ⁻⁵	EFSA (2012) LB
Background milk	mg/kg fw	0	EFSA (2012) LB
Background butter	mg/kg fw	1.7.10 ⁻⁶	EFSA (2012) LB assimilated to animal fat
Background eggs	mg/kg fw	8.8.10 ⁻⁵	EFSA (2012) LB
Background outdoor air	mg/m³	8.90.10 ⁻⁹	Cornelis <i>et al.</i> (2009)
Background indoor air	mg/m³	8.90.10 ⁻⁹	Assimilated to outdoor air
Background drinking water	mg/m³	0	Assimilated to 0 since it is included in the intake estimation of EFSA (2012)

⁽¹⁾ in S-Risk 'no' is entered because the Kd of dissociative substances is calculated from log K_{ow} , which we want to avoid; for non-dissociative substances the Kd is calculated from the K_{oc}

⁽²⁾ Log K_{ow} is mandatory in S-Risk, and is used to calculate Kp, K_{oc}, and transfer factors, unless an experimental value is entered. Experimental values are available for these three parameters. ⁽³⁾ Log K_{oa} is optional in S-Risk, which uses K_{oa} in the calculation of transfer to plants; as

 \sim Log K_{0a} is optional in S-Risk, which uses K_{0a} in the calculation of transfer to plants; a

experimental data are available for this purpose, a K_{oa} value is not necessary.

⁽⁴⁾ Due to the ongoing discussions on the new proposed TDI of EFSA, scenarios with 3 different sets of toxicological reference values will be calculated. The three sets are in the table below.

⁽⁵⁾ The slope factor corresponds with a dose of 1.43.10⁻⁴ mg/kg bw/d or 143 ng/kg bw/d for an additional cancer risk of 1/10⁵. This value is higher than the toxicological reference value (20 ng/kg bw/d) used for the derivation of the soil remediation values. Hence a soil remediation value based on carcinogenic effects was not derived as it could be expected to be higher than for non-carcinogenic effects. This statement is in line with US-EPA who confirmed that the lifetime health advisory (2.10⁻⁵ mg/kg bw/d) based on non-cancer effects is protective for the cancer endpoint (US-EPA, 2016b).

Toxicological reference value	Value	Unit	Reference
Set 1 (preference)			
TDI oral	2.10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	US-EPA (2016c)

TCA inhalation	7.10 ⁻⁵	mg/m ³	calculated from TDI
TDI dermal	2 10 ⁻⁵	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral
Set 2	2.10		
TDI oral	12.5.10-6	mg/kg/d	Zeilmaker et al. (2016)
TCA inhalation	43.8.10-6	mg/m ³	calculated from TDI
			oral
TDI dermal	12.5.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral
Set 3			
TDI oral	0.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	EFSA (2018c)
TCA inhalation	2.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/m ³	calculated from TDI
			oral
TDI dermal	0.8.10 ⁻⁶	mg/kg/d	= TDI oral

The RfD of US-EPA (2016c) of **20 ng/kg bw/d** is proposed as a toxicological reference value for the calculation of the soil remediation value based on the following arguments:

- experts recognise that the current standard of EFSA is too high
- the more stringent EFSA standard is still provisional
- the Dutch MTR is more protective than the current TDI of EFSA, but is likely to be reviewed when EFSA publishes its final (more stringent) TDI
- the MRL of ATSDR is still provisional
- the RfD is based on a long-term study
- the value of the RfD is the same as that of Australia and New Zealand the derivations of US-EPA and Australia/New Zealand are recent

BCF values PFOA

Plant	BCF or BCF model
potatoes	
potatoes	0.06
root and tuber vegetables	
carrots	0.39
salsify	0.55
	(average value of known root and tuber vegetables)
other root vegetables (such as radish)	0.70
bulbous vegetables	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
bulbous vegetables (such as	0.55
onion)	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leek	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
fruiting vegetables	
tomato	0.81
cucumber	0.82
other fruiting vegetables (such as peppers)	0.81 (=tomato)
Cabbages	
Cabbage	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
cauliflower and broccoli	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
sprouts	0.55
	(= average known root and tuber vegetables)
leafy vegetables	
Lettuce	1.90
lamb's lettuce	1.90 (=sla)
endive	1.06
	(= average of all known leafy vegetables)
spinach	0.87
chicory	1.06
	(= average of all known leafy vegetables)
celery	0.42
legumes	
peans	0.03 (= peas)
peas	0.03
Grasses	
Grass	0.128
Cereals	
Maize	0.005

References

- 3M-Company (1979) Technical report summary final comprehensive report: FC-143. (U.S. EPA AR-226 528).
- 3M-Company (1999) Perfluorooctane sulfonate: Current summary of human sera, health and toxicology data. 3M, January 21, 1999.
- 3M-Company (2000) Soil Adsorption/Desorption Study of Potassium Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS); 3M: St Paul, MN. US-EPA docket AR226-1030a030.
- 3M-Company (2001) Solubility of PFOS in natural seawater and an aqueous solution of 3.5% of sodium chloride. Laboratory Project Number E00-1716. EPA docket AR226-1030a026. 3M Environmental Laboratory, St. Paul, MN.
- 3M-Company (2003) Environmental and Health Assessment of Perfuorooctane Sulfonic Acid and its Salts. Prepared by 3M in consultation with Moore, J., DABT, Hollyhouse, Inc. Rodricks, J., DABT, and Turnbull, D. DABT, Environ Corp. Warren-Hicks, W. and colleagues, The Cadmus Group, Inc. August 20, 2003, pp. 131.
- Abbott, B.D., Wolf, C.J., Schmid, J.E., Das, K.P., Zehr, R.D., Helfant, L., Nakayama, S., Lindstrom, A.B., Strynar, M.J. & Lau, C. (2007) Perfluorooctanoic acid-induced developmental toxicity in the mouse is dependent on expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha. *Toxicological Sciences*, 98, 571-581.
- Ahrens, L., Taniyasu, S., Yeung, L.W.Y., Yamashita, N. & Lam, P.K.S. (2010) Distribution of polyfluoroalkyl compounds in water, suspended particulate matter and sediment from Tokyo Bay, Japan. *Chemosphere*, **79**, 266-272.
- Ahrens, L., Yeung, L.W., Taniyasu, S., Lam, P.K. & Yamashita, N. (2011) Partitioning of perfluorooctanoate (PFOA), perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctane sulfonamide (PFOSA) between water and sediment. *Chemosphere*, **85**, 731-737.
- Alphenaar, A., Hendriks, W., Pancras, T. & Slenders, H. (2018) Handelingskader PFAS. voor het omgaan met PFAS in grond en grondwater. Expertisecentrum PFAS, pp. 69.
- Apel, P., Angerer, J., Wilhelm, M. & Kolossa-Gehring, M. (2017) New HBM values for emerging substances, inventory of reference and HBM values in force, and working principles of the German Human Biomonitoring Commission. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 220, 152-166.
- Apelberg, B.J., Witter, F.R., Herbstman, J.B., Calafat, A.M., Halden, R.U., Needham, L.L. & Goldman, L.R. (2007) Cord serum concentrations of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) in relation to weight and size at birth. *Environ Health Perspect*, **115**, 1670-1676.

- ATSDR draft (2018) Toxicological profile for perfluoralkyls. Draft for public comment, Atlanta, pp. 852.
- Australia (2016) Health Based Guidance Values for PFAS, for use in site investigations in Australia. Australian Government Department of Health, pp. 2.
- Australië (2018) Appendix I PFAS toxicity profiles via <u>http://www.defence.gov.au/Environment/PFAS/docs/Tindal/Reports/201806HHRA</u> <u>AppIToxicityProfiles.pdf</u>, pp. 47.
- Barber, J.L., Berger, U., Chaemfa, C., Huber, S., Jahnke, A., Temme, C. & Jones, K.C. (2007) Analysis of per- and polyfluorinated alkyl substances in air samples from Northwest Europe. *Journal of environmental monitoring : JEM*, **9**, 530-541.
- Bartell, S.M., Calafat, A.M., Lyu, C., Kato, K., Ryan, P.B. & Steenland, K. (2010) Rate of decline in serum PFOA concentrations after granular activated carbon filtration at two public water systems in Ohio and West Virginia. *Environ Health Perspect*, **118**, 222-228.
- Beach, S., Newsted, J., Coady, K. & Giesy, J. (2006) Ecotoxicological evaluation of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS). *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol*, **186**, 133-174.
- Bizkarguenaga, E., Zabaleta, I., Mijangos, L., Iparraguirre, A., Fernandez, L.A., Prieto, A. & Zuloaga, O. (2016) Uptake of perfluorooctanoic acid, perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctane sulfonamide by carrot and lettuce from compost amended soil. *The Science of the total environment*, **571**, 444-451.
- Blaine, A.C., Rich, C.D., Hundal, L.S., Lau, C., Mills, M.A., Harris, K.M. & Higgins, C.P. (2013) Uptake of Perfluoroalkyl Acids into Edible Crops via Land Applied Biosolids: Field and Greenhouse Studies. *Environmental Science & Technology*, **47**, 14062-14069.
- Borg, D. & Håkansson, H. (2012) Environmental and Health Risk Assessment of Perfluoroalkylated and Polyfluoroalkylated Substances (PFASs) in Sweden. Report 6513. Study performed for the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency., pp. 139.
- Brooke, D., Footitt, A. & Nwaogu, T.A. (2004) Environmental risk evaluation report: Perfluorooctanesulphonate (PFOS). Reseach Contrctor: Building Research Establishment Ltd, Risk and Policy Analysts Ltd. This report was produced by the Environment Agency's Science Group.
- BS (2018) Besluit van de Vlaamse Regering tot wijziging van diverse bepalingen van het Binnenmilieubesluit van 11 juni 2004 en tot opheffing van het ministerieel besluit van 16 maart 2006 tot vaststelling van het modelformulier en de procedure voor aanvragen van een onderzoek van het binnenmilieu. Besluit van 13 juli 2018. Publicatiedatum 7 september 2018. Belgisch Staatsblad.

- Burns, D.C.E., D.A., Li, H., McMurdo, C.J. & Webster, E. (2008) Experimental pKa Determination for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and the Potential Impact of pKa Concentration Dependence on Laboratory-Measured Partitioning Phenomena and Environmental Modeling. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **42**, 9283-9288.
- Butenhoff, J., Costa, G., Elcombe, C., Farrar, D., Hansen, K., Iwai, H., Jung, R., Kennedy, G., Lieder, P., Olcese, G. & Thomford, P. (2002) Toxicity of amonium perfluorooctanoate in male cynomolgus monkeys after oral dosing for 6 months. *Toxicological Sciences*, 69.
- Butenhoff, J.L., Chang, S.C., Olsen, G.W. & Thomford, P.J. (2012) Chronic dietary toxicity and carcinogenicity study with potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in Sprague Dawley rats. *Toxicology*, **293**, 1-15.
- Butenhoff, J.L., Kennedy, G.L., Jr., Frame, S.R., O'Connor, J.C. & York, R.G. (2004) The reproductive toxicology of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) in the rat. *Toxicology*, **196**, 95-116.
- Case, M.T., York, R.G. & Christian, M.S. (2001) Rat and rabbit oral developmental toxicology studies with two perfluorinated compounds. *International journal of toxicology*, **20**, 101-109.
- Chang, S.C., Noker, P.E., Gorman, G.S., Gibson, S.J., Hart, J.A., Ehresman, D.J. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2012) Comparative pharmacokinetics of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats, mice, and monkeys. *Reprod Toxicol*, **33**, 428-440.
- Cheng, J., Psillakis, E., Hoffmann, M.R. & Colussi, A.J. (2009) Acid dissociation versus molecular association of perfluoroalkyl oxoacids: environmental implications. *The journal of physical chemistry. A*, **113**, 8152-8156.
- Christian, M.S., Hoberman, A.M. & York, R.G. (1999) Combined Oral (gavage) Fertility, Developmental and Perinatal/Postnatal Reproduction Toxicity Study of PFOS in Rats. Argus Research Laboratories, Inc., Horsham, PA U.S EPA. Docket 8EHQ-0200-00374.
- Cifone, M.A. (1999) Unscheduled DNA synthesis in rat liver primary cell cultures with PFOS. 20780-0-447. Covance Laboratories Inc.
- CONCAWE (2016) Environmental fate and effects of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), pp. 121.
- Cornelis, C., D'Hollander, W., Roosens, L., Covaci, A., Smolders, R., Van Den Heuvel, R., Govarts, E., Van Campenhout, K., Reynders, H. & Bervoets, L. (2012) First assessment of population exposure to perfluorinated compounds in Flanders, Belgium. *Chemosphere*, **86**, 308-314.

Cornelis, C. & Geerts, L. (2016) Nota omtrent voorzorgswaarden voor drinkwaterkwaliteit.

- Cornelis, C., Smolders, R., Van Den Heuvel, R., Govarts, E., Bervoets, L., Covaci, A., D'Hollander, W. & Roosens, L. (2009) Blootstelling van de Vlaamse bevolking aan brandvertragers en perfluorverbindingen via milieu en voeding fase 7: risico-evaluatie, pp. 108.
- Cornelis, C., Standaert, A. & Willems, H. (2017) S-Risk Technical guidance document (version March 2017. Study accomplished under the authority of OVAM. <u>https://s-risk.be/sites/s-risk.be/files/SRisk%20model%20equations.pdf</u>, pp. 174.
- Cornelis, C. & Touchant, K. (2016) Basisinformatie voor risico-evaluaties: werkwijze voor het opstellen van bodemsaneringsnormen en toetsingswaarden, richtwaarden en streefwaarden. VITO, Mol.
- Corning Hazleton (1993) Mutagenicity test on T-5710 in an in vivo rat micronucleus assay. No 15516-0-454. Corning Hazleton, Inc.
- Costopoulou, D., Vassiliadou, I., Leondiadis, L., Dassenakis, E., Traag, W., Hoogenboom, R.L.A.P. & van Leeuwen, S.P.J. (2015) Determination of perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs) in drinking water from the Netherlands and Greece AU - Zafeiraki, Effrosyni. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, **32**, 2048-2057.
- Cui, L., Zhou, Q.F., Liao, C.Y., Fu, J.J. & Jiang, G.B. (2009) Studies on the toxicological effects of PFOA and PFOS on rats using histological observation and chemical analysis. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, **56**, 338-349.
- D'Hollander, W., Roosens, L., Covaci, A., Cornelis, C., Smolders, R., Van Den Heuvel, R., De Voogt, P., Nobels, I., Van Parys, C., De Coen, W. & Bervoets, L. (2009) Gebromeerde brandvertragers en perfluorverbindingen in Vlaanderen: onderzoek naar verspreiding, humane opname, gehaltes in humane weefsels en/of lichaamsvochten, en gezondheidseffecten als basis voor de selectie van geschikte milieuen gezondheidsindicatoren (BFRISK): samenvattend rapport, pp. 115.
- Dallas, C.E., Ramanathan, R., Muralidhara, S., Gallo, J.M. & Bruckner, J.V. (1989) The uptake and elimination of 1,1,1-trichloroethane during and following inhalation exposures in rats. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol*, **98**, 385-397.
- Davis, K.L., Aucoin, M.D., Larsen, B.S., Kaiser, M.A. & Hartten, A.S. (2007) Transport of ammonium perfluorooctanoate in environmental media near a fluoropolymer manufacturing facility. *Chemosphere*, **67**, 2011-2019.
- de Voogt, P., Berger, U., de Coen, W., de Wolf, W., Heimstad, E., McLachlan, M., van Leeuwen, S. & van Roon, A. (2006) Perfluorinated organic compounds in the European environment (Perforce). Report to the EU, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, NL, pp. 126.

- De Vriese, S., Huybrechts, I., Moreau, M. & Van Oyen, H. (2006) De Belgische Voedselconsumptiepeiling 1 - 2004. In Volksgezondheid, W.I. (ed). Wetenschappelijk Instituut Volksgezondheid, afdeling Epidemiologie
- Dean, W.P. & Jessup, A.C. (1978) Acute oral toxicity (LD50) study in rats International research and development corporation, Study 137-091, 1978, USEPA AR226-0419.
- Deng, S., Zhang, Q., Nie, Y., Wei, H., Wang, B., Huang, J., Yu, G. & Xing, B. (2012) Sorption mechanism of perfluorinated compounds on carbon nanotubes. *Environ. Pollut.*, 168, 138-144.
- DEPA (2015) Perfluoroalkylated substances: PFOA, PFOS and PFOSA. Evaluation of health hazards and proposal of a health based quality criterion for drinking water, soil and ground water. Danish Environmental Protection Agency, pp. 90.
- Devriese, S., Huybrechts, I., Moreau, M. & Van Oyen, H. (2006) De Belgische voedselconsumptiepeiling 1 2004: Rapport.
- Dreyer, A. & Ebinghaus, R. (2009) Polyfluorinated compounds in ambient air from ship- and land-based measurements in northern Germany. *Atmospheric Environment*, **43**, 1527-1535.
- Dupont (2003) Adsorption/desorption of ammonium perfluoroctanoate to soil (OECD 106). Dupont EMSE report No 17-03.
- EC (1998) Directive 98/83/EC on the quality of water intended for human consumption. O.J. L 330/32.
- EC (2002) Directive 2002/32/EC on undesirable substances in animal feed. O.J. L140/10.
- EC (2008) Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures. In Commission, E. (ed), O.J. L 353.
- EC (2011) Regulation (EU) Nr. 420/2011 amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs. *Official Journal of the European Union*, pp. 3.
- EC (2018) Proposal for a Directive on the quality of water intended for human consumption (recast). COM (2017) 753 final. Brussels, 1.2.2018, pp. 64.
- ECHA (2014) Annex XV restriction report. Proposal for a restriction. Substance name: Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), PFOA salts and PFOA-related substances. Helsinki, Finland. European Chemicals Agency.

- ECHA (2015) European Chemicals Agency, Committee for Risk Assessment (RAC) Opinion on an Annex XV dossier proposing restrictions on Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), its salts and PFOA-related substances ECHA/RAC/RES-O-0000006229-70-02/F.
- EFSA (2008a) Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and their salts Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain. *EFSA Journal*, **653**, 1-131.
- EFSA (2008b) Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and their salts Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain. *EFSA Journal*, 1-653.
- EFSA (2008c) Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and their salts. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain. *EFSA Journal*, **653**, 1-131.
- EFSA (2012) Perfluoroalkylated substances in food: occurrence and dietary exposure. EFSA Journal, **10**, 2743.
- EFSA (2018a) Minutes of the expert meeting on perfluooroctane sulfonic acid and perfluorooctanoic acid in food assessment. EFSA/CONTAM/3503, at https://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/news/efsa-contam-3503.pdf.
- EFSA (2018b) Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and perfluorooctanoic acid in food. *EFSA Journal* **16**, 5194.
- EFSA (2018c) Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and perfluorooctanoic acid in food. Scientific Opinion. Adopted: 22 March 2018. *EFSA Journal*, **16**.
- EFSA CONTAM Panel, Schrenk, D., Bignami, M., Bodin, L., Kevin, J., del Mazo, J., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Hoogenboom, L., Leblanc, J.-C., Nebbia, C.S., Nielsen, E., Ntzani, E., Petersen, A., Sand, S., Vleminckx, C., Wallace, H., Barregård, L., Ceccatelli, S., Cravedi, J.-P., Halldorsson, T., Haug, L.S., Johansson, N., Knutsen, H.K., Rose, M., Roudot, A.C., Van Loveren, H., Vollmer, G., Mackay, C.J., Riolo, F. & Schwerdtle, T. (2020) Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluoroalkyl substances in food. *EFSA J.*, **18**, 391.
- EG (2008) Verordening (EG) Nr. 1272/2008 betreffende de indeling, etikettering en verpakking van stoffen en mengsels., pp. PB L353/351.
- Ehresman, D.J., Froehlich, J.W., Olsen, G.W., Chang, S.C. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2007) Comparison of human whole blood, plasma, and serum matrices for the determination of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoate (PFOA), and other fluorochemicals. *Environmental Research*, **103**, 176-184.

- Eriksen, K.T., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., McLaughlin, J.K., Lipworth, L., Tjonneland, A., Overvad,
 K. & Sorensen, M. (2013) Association between Plasma PFOA and PFOS Levels and
 Total Cholesterol in a Middle-Aged Danish Population. *Plos One*, 8.
- EU-LCI (2016) EU-LCI Master list. December 2016.
- EU (2011) Verordening (EU) Nr. 10/2011 betreffende materialen en voorwerpen van kunststof, bestemd om met levensmiddelen in contact te komen. PB L 12, blz. 1. European Commission.
- Expertisecentrum PFAS (2018) Een handelingskader voor PFAS. Mogelijkheden voor het omgaan met PFAS in grond en grondwater.
- Fasano, W.J., Kennedy, G.L., Szostek, B., Farrar, D.G., Wards, R.J., Haroun, L. & Hinderliter, P.M. (2005) Penetration of ammonium perfluorooctanoate through rat and human skin in vitro. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, **28**, 79-90.
- Fei, C., McLaughlin, J.K., Tarone, R.E. & Olsen, J. (2007) Perfluorinated chemicals and fetal growth: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *Environ Health Perspect*, **115**, 1677-1682.
- Franko, J., Meade, B.J., Frasch, H.F., Barbero, A.M. & Anderson, S.E. (2012) DERMAL PENETRATION POTENTIAL OF PERFLUOROOCTANOIC ACID (PFOA) IN HUMAN AND MOUSE SKIN. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health-Part a-Current Issues, 75, 50-62.
- FSANZ (2016) Hazard assessment report Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS), Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA), Perfluorohexane Sulfonate (PFHxS). Food Standards Australia New Zealand, pp. 2.
- FSANZ (2017) Occurrence of and dietary exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS) reported in the literature: Supporting Document 2: Dietary Exposure Assessment Attachment 1. FoodStandards Australia New Zealand, pp. 27.
- Gallo, V., Leonardi, G., Genser, B., Lopez-Espinosa, M.J., Frisbee, S.J., Karlsson, L., Ducatman,
 A.M. & Fletcher, T. (2012) Serum Perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) and Perfluorooctane
 Sulfonate (PFOS) Concentrations and Liver Function Biomarkers in a Population with
 Elevated PFOA Exposure. *Environ Health Persp*, **120**, 655-660.
- Geerts, L., Cornelis, C., Bierkens, J. & Gemoets, J. (2016) Toxicologische fiches voor gechloreerde solventen actualisatie. Versie 2016. VITO, Mol, Belgium.
- Ghisi, R., Vamerali, T. & Manzetti, S. (2019) Accumulation of perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) in agricultural plants: A review. *Environmental Research*, **169**, 326-341.

- Glaza, S. (1995) Acute dermal toxicity study of T-6342 in rabbits. Coming Hazelton Inc., Madison, WI., 3M Company, St Paul. USEPA AR226-0427.
- Goldenthal, E.I., Jessup, D.C., Geil, R.G. & Mehring, J.S. (1978) Ninety-day subacute rhesus monkey toxicity study. Study No. 137-092, International Research and Development Corporation, Mattawan, MI. FYI-0500-1378. (cited in OECD 2002).
- Grandjean, P. (2012) Serum Vaccine Antibody Concentrations in Children Exposed to Perfluorinated Compounds (vol 307, pg 391, 2012). JAMA-J. Am. Med. Assoc., **307**, 1142-1142.
- Grandjean, P., Heilmann, C., Weihe, P., Nielsen, F., Mogensen, U.B. & Budtz-Jorgensen, E. (2017) Serum Vaccine Antibody Concentrations in Adolescents Exposed to Perfluorinated Compounds. *Environ Health Persp*, **125**.
- Grasty, R.C., Wolf, D.C., Grey, B.E., Lau, C.S. & Rogers, J.M. (2003) Prenatal window of susceptibility to perfluorooctane sulfonate-induced neonatal mortality in the Sprague-Dawley rat. *Birth defects research. Part B, Developmental and reproductive toxicology*, **68**, 465-471.
- Griffith, F.D. & Long, J.E. (1980) Animal toxicity studies with ammonium perfluorooctanoate. *American Industrial Hygiene Association*, **41**, 576-583.
- Han, X., Snow, T.A., Kemper, R.A. & Jepson, G.W. (2003) Binding of perfluorooctanoic acid to rat and human plasma proteins. *Chem Res Toxicol*, **16**, 775-781.
- Hanell, T. (2015) Analysis of Per- and Polyfluorinated Substances (PFASs) in Eggs and Hen Food from Örebro County, Sweden.
- Hanhijarvi, H., Ophaug, R.H. & Singer, L. (1982) THE SEX-RELATED DIFFERENCE IN PERFLUOROOCTANOATE EXCRETION IN THE RAT. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, **171**, 50-55.
- Harada, K., Saito, N., Inoue, K., Yoshinaga, T., Watanabe, T., Sasaki, S., Kamiyama, S. & Koizumi, A. (2004) The influence of time, sex and geographic factors on levels of perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in human serum over the last 25 years. *Journal of Occupational Health*, **46**, 141-147.
- Haug, L.S., Huber, S., Becher, G. & Thomsen, C. (2011) Characterisation of human exposure pathways to perfluorinated compounds--comparing exposure estimates with biomarkers of exposure. *Environ Int*, **37**, 687-693.
- Health Canada (2018) Consultation Document on Proposed Amendments to the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations, 2012 for PFOS, PFOA, LC-PFCAs, HBCD, PBDEs, DP and DBDPE

- Herzke, D., Huber, S., Bervoets, L., D'Hollander, W., Hajslova, J., Pulkrabova, J., Brambilla, G., De Filippis, S.P., Klenow, S., Heinemeyer, G. & de Voogt, P. (2013) Perfluorinated alkylated substances in vegetables collected in four European countries; occurrence and human exposure estimations. *Environmental science and pollution research international*, **20**, 7930-7939.
- Higgins, C.P. & Luthy, R.G. (2006) Sorption of perfluorinated surfactants on sediments. *Environ Sci Technol*, **40**, 7251-7256.
- Hinderliter, P.M., DeLorme, M.P. & Kennedy, G.L. (2006) Perfluorooctanoic acid: Relationship between repeated inhalation exposures and plasma PFOA concentration in the rat. *Toxicology*, **222**, 80-85.
- Hinderliter, P.M., Mylchreest, E., Gannon, S.A., Butenhoff, J.L. & Kennedy, J.G.L. (2005) Perfluorooctane: Placental and lactational transport pharmacokinetics in rats. *Toxicology*, **211**, 139-148.
- Hlouskova, V., Hradkova, P., Poustka, J., Brambilla, G., De Filipps, S.P., D'Hollander, W., Bervoets, L., Herzke, D., Huber, S., de Voogt, P. & Pulkrabova, J. (2013) Occurrence of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in various food items of animal origin collected in four European countries. *Food additives & contaminants. Part A, Chemistry, analysis, control, exposure & risk assessment*, **30**, 1918-1932.
- Huybrechts, I. (2008) Dietary habits in preschool children as a basis for the development of a methodological framework for future dietary surveillance.
- IARC (2017) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Some chemicals used as solvents and in polymer manufacture. Vvolume 110, pp. 289.
- IPCS (2014) Guidance document on evaluating and expressing uncertainty in hazard characterization. WHO., http://www.who.int/ipcs/methods/harmonization/uncertainty in hazard charact http://www.who.int/ipcs/methods/harmonization/uncertainty in hazard charact http://www.who.int/ipcs/methods/harmonization/uncertainty in hazard charact
- ITRC (2018) Naming conventions and physical and chemical properties of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), <u>https://pfas-1.itrcweb.org/</u>, pp. 15.
- Jahnke, A., Berger, U., Ebinghaus, R. & Temme, C. (2007a) Latitudinal gradient of airborne polyfluorinated alkyl substances in the marine atmosphere between Germany and South Africa (53 degrees N-33 degrees S). *Environ Sci Technol*, **41**, 3055-3061.
- Jahnke, A., Huber, S., Temme, C., Kylin, H. & Berger, U. (2007b) Development and application of a simplified sampling method for volatile polyfluorinated alkyl substances in indoor and environmental air. *J Chromatogr A*, **1164**, 1-9.

- Johansson, J. H., Yan, H., Berger, U. & Cousins, I.T. (2017) Water-to-air transfer of branched and linear PFOA: Influence of pH, concentration and water type. *Emerging contaminants*, **3**, 46-53.
- Johansson, N., Fredriksson, A. & Eriksson, P. (2008) Neonatal exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) causes neurobehavioural defects in adult mice. *Neurotoxicology*, **29**, 160-169.
- Johnson, J.D. (1995a) Final report. Analytical study, single-dose dermal absorption/toxicity study of T6049 in rabbits. In vivo reference number: HWI#6329-130. 3M. SCD Division.
- Johnson, J.D. (1995b) Final report. Analytical study, single-dose dermal absorption/toxicity study of T6053 in rabbits (lithium perfluorooctane sulfonate). In vivo study reference number: HWI#6329-137. 3M. SCD Division.
- Johnson, J.D., Gibson, S.J. & Ober, R.F. (1979) Absorption of FC-95-14C in rats after a single oral dose. Project No. 890310200.Riker Laboratories, Inc., Subsidiary of 3M, St. Paul, MN.
- Johnson, R., Anschutz, A., Smolen, J., Simcik, M. & Penn, R. (2007) The Adsorption of Perfluorooctane Sulfonate onto Sand, Clay, and Iron Oxide Surfaces. *J. Chem. Eng. Data*, **52**, 1165–1170.
- Jones, P.D., Hu, W., De Coen, W., Newsted, J.L. & Giesy, J.P. (2003) Binding of perfluorinated fatty acids to serum proteins. *Environ Toxicol Chem*, **22**, 2639-2649.
- Kannan, K. & al., e. (2009) Perfluorooctanesulfonate and Related Fluorochemicals in Human Blood from Several Countries. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **38**, 4489-4495.
- Kemper, R.A. (2003) Perfluorooctanoic acid: Toxicokinetics in the rat. Association of Plastics Manufactures of Europe. Submitted to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Administrative Record. AR226-1499.
- Kennedy, G.L., Hall, G.T., Brittelli, M.R., Barnes, J.R. & Chen, H.C. (1986) INHALATION TOXICITY OF AMMONIUM PERFLUOROOCTANOATE. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 24, 1325-1329.
- Kinney, L.A., Chromey, N.C. & Kennedy, G.L. (1989) ACUTE INHALATION TOXICITY OF AMMONIUM PERFLUORONONANOATE. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **27**, 465-468.
- Klenow, S., Heinemeyer, G., Brambilla, G., Dellatte, E., Herzke, D. & de Voogt, P. (2013) Dietary exposure to selected perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in four European regions. *Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A*, **30**, 2141-2151.
- Kowalczyk, J., Ehlers, S., Fürst, P., Schafft, H. & Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M. (2012) Transfer of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) From Contaminated Feed Into Milk and Meat of Sheep: Pilot Study. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 63, 288-298.
- Kowalczyk, J., Ehlers, S., Oberhausen, A., Tischer, M., Fürst, P., Schafft, H. & Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M. (2013) Absorption, Distribution, and Milk Secretion of the Perfluoroalkyl Acids PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, and PFOA by Dairy Cows Fed Naturally Contaminated Feed. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **61**, 2903-2912.
- Krippner, J., Falk, S., Brunn, H., Georgii, S., Schubert, S. & Stahl, T. (2015) Accumulation Potentials of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids (PFCAs) and Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonic Acids (PFSAs) in Maize (Zea mays). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **63**, 3646-3653.
- Kroschwitz, J. & Howe-Grant, M. (1994) *Perfluorooctanoic. Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical toxicology. 4th ed. Vol. 11.* New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 551.
- Kudo, N., Sakai, A., Mitsumoto, A., Hibino, Y., Tsuda, T. & Kawashima, Y. (2007) Tissue distribution and hepatic subcellular distribution of perfluorooctanoic acid at low dose are different from those at high dose in rats. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, **30**, 1535-1540.
- Kutsuna, S. & Hori, H. (2008) Experimental determination of Henry's law constant of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) at 298 K by means of an inert-gas stripping method with a helical plate. *Atmospheric Environment*, **42**, 8883–8892.
- Kwadijk, C.J.A.F., KORYTAR, P. & Koelmans, A.A. (2010) Distribution of Perfluorinated Compounds in Aquatic Systems in The Netherlands. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 44, 3746– 3751.
- Kwan, W.C. (2001) Physical Property Determination of Perfluorinated Surfactants. A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science in Environmental Chemistry. *Department of Chemistry*. University of Toronto.
- Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J.R., Hanson, R.G., Narotsky, M.G., Rogers, J.M., Lindstrom, A.B. & Strynar, M.J. (2006) Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy in the mouse. *Toxicological Sciences*, **90**, 510-518.
- Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J.R., Hanson, R.G., Rogers, J.M., Grey, B.E., Stanton, M.E., Butenhoff, J.L.
 & Stevenson, L.A. (2003) Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. *Toxicol Sci*, **74**, 382-392.
- Lechner, M. & Knapp, H. (2011) Carryover of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) from Soil to Plant and Distribution to the Different Plant Compartments Studied in Cultures of Carrots (Daucus carota ssp. Sativus),

Potatoes (Solanum tuberosum), and Cucumbers (Cucumis Sativus). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **59**, 11011-11018.

- Li, Y., Oliver, D.P. & Kookana, R.S. (2018) A critical analysis of published data to discern the role of soil and sediment properties in determining sorption of per and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *The Science of the total environment*, **628-629**, 110-120.
- Lijzen, J.P.A., Janssen, M.P.M., Van Herwijnen, R., Wintersen, A.M., Zijp, M.C. & Posthuma, C.J.A.M. (2011) Verkenning doelstelling voor herstel verontreiniging met PFOS. RIVM, Bilthoven, pp. 38.
- Lijzen, J.P.A., Wassenaar, P.N.H., Smit, C.E., Posthuma, C.J.A.M., Brand, E., Swartjes, F., Verbruggen, E.M.J. & Versteegh, J.F.M. (2018) Risicogrenzen PFOA voor grond en grondwater. Uitwerking ten behoeve van generiek en gebiedsspecifiek beleid (herziene versie). In RIVM (ed), Bilthoven, pp. 96.
- Litton Bionetics, I. (1978) Mutagenicity evaluation of T-2014 CoC in the Ames Salmonella/microsome plate test. No 20838. Litton Bionetics, Inc.
- Loganathan, B.G. & Kwan-Sing Lam, P. (2011) *Global Contamination Trends of Persistent* Organic Chemicals. ISBN 9781439838303.
- Loveless, S.E., Hoban, D., Sykes, G., Frame, S.R. & Everds, N.E. (2008) Evaluation of the immune system in rats and mice administered linear ammonium perfluorooctanoate. *Toxicol Sci*, **105**, 86-96.
- Luebker, D.J., Case, M.T., York, R.G., Moore, J.A., Hansen, K.J. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2005a) Twogeneration reproduction and cross-foster studies of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats. *Toxicology*, **215**, 126-148.
- Luebker, D.J., Hansen, K.J., Bass, N.M., Butenhoff, J.L. & Seacat, A.M. (2002) Interactions of fluorochemicals with rat liver fatty acid-binding protein. *Toxicology*, **176**, 175-185.
- Luebker, D.J., York, R.G., Hansen, K.J., Moore, J.A. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2005b) Neonatal mortality from in utero exposure to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in Sprague-Dawley rats: dose-response, and biochemical and pharamacokinetic parameters. *Toxicology*, **215**, 149-169.
- Mecchi, M.S. (1999) Salmonella Eschericia coli/mammalian-microsome reverse mutation assay with PFOS. 20784-0-409. Covance Laboratories Inc.
- Milinovic, J., Lacorte, S., Vidal, M. & Rigol, A. (2015) Sorption behaviour of perfluoroalkyl substances in soils. *The Science of the total environment*, **51**, 63-71.

- Moermond, C., Verbruggen, E.M.J. & Smit, C.E. (2010) Environmental risk limits for PFOS A proposal for water quality standards in accordance with the Water Framework Directive, pp. 70.
- Mohammadi, M.M., Ahrens, L. & Josefsson, S. (2015) The bioavailability of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in soil to Eisenia fetida and Cucurbita pepo *Department of Aquatic Sciences and Assessment*. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Moody, C.A. & Field, J.A. (2000) Perfluorinated Surfactants and the Environmental Implications of Their Use in Fire-Fighting Foams. *Env Sci & Technol*, **34**.
- Muller, C.E., Gerecke, A.C., Bogdal, C., Wang, Z., Scheringer, M. & Hungerbuhler, K. (2012) Atmospheric fate of poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs): I. Day-night patterns of air concentrations in summer in Zurich, Switzerland. *Environ Pollut*, **169**, 196-203.
- Navarro, I., de la Torre, A., Sanz, P., Porcel, M.Á., Pro, J., Carbonell, G. & Martínez, M.d.I.Á. (2017) Uptake of perfluoroalkyl substances and halogenated flame retardants by crop plants grown in biosolids-amended soils. *Environmental Research*, **152**, 199-206.
- Nelson, J.W., Hatch, E.E. & Webster, T.F. (2010) Exposure to Polyfluoroalkyl Chemicals and Cholesterol, Body Weight, and Insulin Resistance in the General US Population. *Environ Health Persp*, **118**, 197-202.
- Noker, P.E. & Gorman, G.S. (2003) A pharmacokinetic study of potassium perfluorohexanesulfonate in the cynomolgus monkey. U.S. EPA docket AR-226-1361. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Noorlander, C.W., Te Biesebeek, J.D., van Leeuwen, S.P. & Zeilmaker, M.J. (2010) Intake of PFOS and PFOA from food and drinking water in The Netherlands. In RIVM (ed), pp. 28.
- Noorlander, C.W., van Leeuwen, S.P., Te Biesebeek, J.D., Mengelers, M.J. & Zeilmaker, M.J. (2011) Levels of perfluorinated compounds in food and dietary intake of PFOS and PFOA in the Netherlands. *J Agric Food Chem*, **59**, 7496-7505.
- NTP (2016) NTP Monograph. Immunotoxicity Associated with Exposure to Perfluorooctanoic Acid or Perfluorooctane Sulfonate. September 2016. National Toxicology Program, pp. 147.
- OECD (2002) Hazard assessment of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and its salts. ENV/JM/RD (2002) 17/Final. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. 21 November 2002, OECD, Paris, pp. 178.

- Ohmori, K., Kudo, N., Katayama, K. & Kawashima, Y. (2003) Comparison of the toxicokinetics between perfluorocarboxylic acids with different carbon chain length. *Toxicology*, **184**, 135-140.
- Olsen, G.W., Burris, J.M., Burlew, M.M. & Mandel, J.H. (2003) Epidemiologic Assessment of Worker Serum Perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and Perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) Concentrations and Medical Surveillance Examinations. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, **45**, 260-270.
- Olsen, G.W., Burris, J.M., Ehresman, D.J., Froehlich, J.W., Seacat, A.M., Butenhoff, J.L. & Zobel, L.R. (2007a) Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect*, **115**, 1298-1305.
- Olsen, G.W., Mair, D.C., Reagen, W.K., Ellefson, M.E., Ellefson, M.E., Ehresman, D.J., Butenhoff, J.L. & Zobel, L.R. (2007b) Preliminary evidence of a decline in perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) concentrations in American Red Cross blood donors. *Chemosphere*, **68**, 105-111.
- Onishchenko, N., Fischer, C., Wan Ibrahim, W.N., Negri, S., Spulber, S., Cottica, D. & Ceccatelli, S. (2011) Prenatal exposure to PFOS or PFOA alters motor function in mice in a sex-related manner. *Neurotox Res*, **19**, 452-461.
- OVAM (2018) Onderzoek naar aanwezigheid van PFAS in grondwater, bodem en waterbodem ter hoogte van risicoactiviteiten in Vlaanderen, Mechelen, België, pp. 120.
- Palazzolo, M.J. (1993) 13-Week toxicity study with T-5180, ammonium perfluorooctanoate (CAS No. 3825-25-1) in male rats. Report No. HWI 6329- 100, Hazleton Wisconsin, Madison, WI. USEPA Public Docket AR-226-0449 and AR-226-0450.
- Pancras, T., Bentum van, E. & Slenders, H. (2018) Poly- en PerFluor Alkyl Stoffen (PFAS). Kennisdocument over stofeigenschappen, gebruik, toxicologie, onderzoek en sanering van grond en grondwater. Expertisecentrum PFAS-Nederland, pp. 86.
- Pancras, T. & van Bentum, E. (2018) Een handelingskader voor PFAS: Deelrapport C Diffuse belasting van PFOS en PFOA in de bovengrond (Expertisecentrum PFAS), pp. 35.
- Peden-Adams, M.M., Keller, J.M., EuDaly, J.G., Berger, J., Gilkeson, G.S. & Keil, D.E. (2008) Suppression of humoral immunity in mice following exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Toxicological Sciences*, **104**, 144-154.
- Perkins, R.G., Butenhoff, J.L., Kennedy, G.L. & Palazzolo, M.J. (2004) 13-week dietary toxicity study of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) in male rats. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, **27**, 361-378.

- PHE (2009) PFOS and PFOA: Toxicological Overview (Version 1). Toxicology Department Public Health England.
- Prevedouros, K., Cousins, I.T., Buck, R.C. & Korzeniowski, S.H. (2006) Sources, fate and transport of perfluorocarboxylates. *Environ Sci Technol*, **40**, 32-44.
- Rauert, C., Shoieb, M., Schuster, J.K., Eng, A. & Harner, T. (2018) Atmospheric concentrations and trends of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and volatile methyl siloxanes (VMS) over 7 years of sampling in the Global Atmospheric Passive Sampling (GAPS) network. *Environmental Pollution*, **238**, 94-102.
- RIVM-actualisatie (2019) Tijdelijk handelingskader voor hergebruik van PFAS-houdende grond en baggerspecie (Geactualiseerde versie van 29 november 2019), pp. 15.
- RIVM (2019) Overzicht van risicogrenzen voor PFOS, PFOA en GenX ten behoeve van een tijdelijk handelingskader voor het toepassen van grond en baggerspecie op of in de landbodem - memo.
- Rusch, G.M., Rinehart, W.E. & Bozak, C.A. (1979) An Acute Inhalation Toxicity Study of T-2306 CoC in the Rat. Project No. 78-7185, Bio/dynamics Inc.
- Rylander, C., Brustad, M., Falk, H. & Sandanger, T.M. (2009) Dietary Predictors and Plasma Concentrations of Perfluorinated Compounds in a Coastal Population from Northern Norway. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, **2009**, 10.
- Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Clemen, L.A., Eldridge, S.R., Elcombe, C.R. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2003) Sub-chronic dietary toxicity of potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in rats. *Toxicology*, **183**, 117-131.
- Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Olsen, G.W., Case, M.T. & Butenhoff, J.L. (2002) Subchronic toxicity studies on perfluorooctanesulfonate potassium salt in cynomolgus monkeys. *Toxicol Sci*, **68**, 249-264.
- Seals, R., Bartell, S.M. & Steenland, K. (2011) Accumulation and clearance of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) in current and former residents of an exposed community. *Environ Health Perspect*, **119**, 119-124.
- Sobolewski, M., Conrad, K., Allen, J.L., Weston, H., Martin, K., Lawrence, B.P. & Cory-Slechta, D.A. (2014) Sex-specific enhanced behavioral toxicity induced by maternal exposure to a mixture of low dose endocrine-disrupting chemicals. *Neurotoxicology*, **45**, 121-130.
- Stahl, T., Heyn, J., Thiele, H., Hüther, J., Failing, K., Georgii, S. & Brunn, H. (2009) Carryover of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) from Soil to Plants. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 57, 289-298.

- Stahl, T., Mattern, D. & Brunn, H. (2011) Toxicology of perfluorinated compounds. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, **23:38**.
- Steenland, K., Tinker, S., Frisbee, S., Ducatman, A. & Vaccarino, V. (2009) Association of Perfluorooctanoic Acid and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate With Serum Lipids Among Adults Living Near a Chemical Plant. American Journal of Epidemiology, **170**, 1268-1278.
- Stubberud (2006) Økotoksikologiske effecter av PFOS, PFOA og 6:2 FTS på meitemark (Eisenia fetida). (in Norwegian, English summary). Report TA 2212/2006. Norwegian State Pollution Control Authority, PB 8100 Dep, 0032 Oslo.
- Thibodeaux, J.R., Hanson, R.G., Rogers, J.M., Grey, B.E., Barbee, B.D., Richards, J.H., Butenhoff, J.L., Stevenson, L.A. & Lau, C. (2003) Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicol Sci*, **74**, 369-381.
- Thomford, P.J. (2002) 104-week dietary chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity study with perfluorooctane sulfonic acid potassium salt (PFOS; T-6295) in rats. Final Report, 3M T-6295 (Covance Study No. 6329-183), Volumes I-IX, 4068 pages, January 2, 2002. 3M, St. Paul, MN.
- Touchant, K., Vanermen, G., Patyn, J. & De Wit, J. (2020) Afleiden van streefwaarden voor perfluorverbindingen en enkele andere 'emerging contaminants' – DEEL 2: Afleiden streefwaarden voor perfluorverbindingen.
- Trapp, S. (2002) Dynamic root uptake model for neutral lipophilic organics. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **21**, 203-206.
- Trapp, S., Cammarano, A., Capri, E., Reichenberg, F. & Mayer, P. (2007) Diffusion of PAH in potato and carrot slices and application for a potato model. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, **41**, 3103-3108.
- Trapp, S. & Matthies, M. (1995) Generic one-compartment model for uptake of organic chemicals by foliar vegetation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, **29**, 2333-2338.
- Travis, C. & Arms, A. (1988) Bioconcentration of organics in beef, milk and vegetation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, **22**, 271-274.
- UBA (2016a) Fortschreibung der vorläufigen Bewertung von per- und polyfluorierten Chemikalien (PFC) im Trinkwasser.
- UBA (2016b) Gesundheitliche Orientierungswerte (GOW)-Umweltbundesamt, Deutschland.

- UBA (2017) Fortschreibung der vorläufigen Bewertung von per- und polyfluorierten Chemikalien (PFC) im Trinkwasser. Bundesgesundheitsbl 2017 · 60:350–352, DOI 10.1007/s00103-016-2508-3.
- Umweltbundesamt (2016) HBM-I-Werte für Perfluoroctansäure (PFOA) und Perfluoroctansulfonsäure (PFOS) in Blutplasma. Stellungnahme der Kommission Human-Biomonitoring des Umweltbundesamtes. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt* -*Gesundheitsforschung* - *Gesundheitsschutz*, **59**, 1362-1363.
- US-EPA (2005) Draft risk assessment on the potential human health effects associated with exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid and its salts. United States Environmental Protection Agency. US EPA. Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics Risk Assessment Division. Washington DC, USA.
- US-EPA (2014) Health Effects Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfontate (PFOS) (Draft). United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- US-EPA (2016a) Drinking Water Health Advisory for Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS). US-EPA.
- US-EPA (2016b) Drinking Water Health Advisory for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA). EPA 822-R-16-005.
- US-EPA (2016c) Health Effects Support Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS). United States Environmental Protection Agency Office of Water. May 2016. US-EPA, Washington, USA.
- US-EPA (2016d) Health Effects Support Document for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA). United States Environmental Protection Agency Office of Water. Report EPA 822-R-16-003. US-EPA, Washington, USA.
- van Asselt, E.D., Kowalczyk, J., van Eijkeren, J.C.H., Zeilmaker, M.J., Ehlers, S., Fürst, P., Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M. & van der Fels-Klerx, H.J. (2013) Transfer of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) from contaminated feed to dairy milk. *Food Chemistry*, **141**, 1489-1495.
- van den Berg, R. (1997) Verantwoording van gegevens en procedures voor de 1e tranche interventiewaarden: van RIVM-rapporten naar de Notitie Interventiewaarden bodemsanering, Bilthoven, Nederland.
- van den Heuvel, J.P., Davis, J.W., Sommers, R. & Peterson, R.E. (1992) Renal excretion of perfluorooctanoic acid in male rats: inhibitory effect of testosterone. *J.Biochem.Toxicol.*, **7**, 31-36.

- van den Heuvel, J.P., Kuslikis, B.I., Van Rafelghem, M.J. & Peterson, R.E. (1991) Tissue distribution, metabolism, and elimination of perfluorooctanoic acid in male and female rats. *Journal of biochemical toxicology*, **6**, 83-92.
- van der Aa, N.G.F.M. & al., e. (2017) Evaluatie signaleringsparameter nieuwe stoffen drinkwaterbeleid. RIVM Rapport 2017-0091.
- van Vlaardingen, P.L.A. & Verbruggen, E.M.J. (2007) Guidance for the derivation of environmental risk limits within the framework of 'International and national environmental quality standards for substances in the Netherlands' (INS). Revision 2007. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands, pp. 146.
- Verbruggen, E.M.J. & al., e. (2014) New method for the derivation of risk limits for secondary poisoning. National Institute of Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands.
- Verbruggen, E.M.J. & al., e. (2020) Risicogrenzen PFOS voor grond en grondwater. National Institute of Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands.
- Vestergren, R., Berger, U., Glynn, A. & Cousins, I.T. (2012) Dietary exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. *Environ Int*, **49**, 120-127.
- Vestergren, R., Orata, F., Berger, U. & Cousins, I.T. (2013) Bioaccumulation of perfluoroalkyl acids in dairy cows in a naturally contaminated environment. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, **20**, 7959-7969.
- Vonk, M.W. (1985) Permeation of organic chemicals through piping materials (in Dutch).
- Wang, Z., McLeod, M., Cousins, I.T., Scheringer, M. & Hungerbühler, K. (2011) Using COSMOtherm to predict physicochemical properties of poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ. Chem.*, 8, 389–398.
- Washburn, S.T., Bingman, T.S., Braithwaite, S.K., Buck, R.C., Buxton, L.W., Clewell, H.J., Haroun, L.A., Kester, J.E., Rickard, R.W. & Shipp, A.M. (2005) Exposure assessment and risk characterization for perfluorooctanoate in selected consumer articles. *Environ Sci Technol*, **39**, 3904-3910.
- White, S.S., Calafat, A.M., Kuklenyik, Z., Villanueva, L., Zehr, R.D., Helfant, L., Strynar, M.J., Lindstrom, A.B., Thibodeaux, J.R., Wood, C. & Fenton, S.E. (2007) Gestational PFOA exposure of mice is associated with altered mammary gland development in dams and female offspring. *Toxicological Sciences*, **96**, 133-144.
- White, S.S., Kato, K., Jia, L.T., Basden, B.J., Calafat, A.M., Hines, E.P., Stanko, J.P., Wolf, C.J., Abbott, B.D. & Fenton, S.E. (2009) Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid on mouse

mammary gland development and differentiation resulting from cross-foster and restricted gestational exposures. *Reprod Toxicol*, **27**, 289-298.

- White, S.S., Stanko, J.P., Kato, K., Calafat, A.M., Hines, E.P. & Fenton, S.E. (2011) Gestational and Chronic Low-Dose PFOA Exposures and Mammary Gland Growth and Differentiation in Three Generations of CD-1 Mice. *Environ Health Persp*, **119**, 1070-1076.
- Whitworth, K.W., Haug, L.S., Baird, D.D., Becher, G., Hoppin, J.A., Skjaerven, R., Thomsen, C., Eggesbo, M., Travlos, G., Wilson, R., Cupul-Uicab, L.A., Brantsaeter, A.L. & Longnecker, M.P. (2012) Perfluorinated Compounds in Relation to Birth Weight in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, **175**, 1209-1216.
- WHO (1993) Guidelines for drinking-water quality, Genève, Zwitserland.
- WHO (2010) WHO guidelines for indoor air quality selected pollutants. World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Wintersen, A.M., Lijzen, J.P.A. & van Herwijnen, R. (2016) Milieukwaliteitswaarden voor PFOS Uitwerking van generieke en gebiedsspecifieke waarden voor het gebied rond Schiphol. In RIVM (ed). RIVM, pp. 48.
- Wintersen, A.M., Römkens, P.F.A.M., Rietstra, R., Zeilmaker, M.J., Bokkers, B.G.H. & Swartjes, F. (2019) Risicogrenzen voor het toepassen van PFAS-houdende grond en bagger voor akkerbouw en veeteelt - RIVM Briefrapport 2019-0068. In RIVM (ed). RIVM, pp. 84.
- Xiao, F., Simcik, M.F., Halbach, T.R. & Gulliver, J.S. (2015) Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) in soils and groundwater of a U.S. metropolitan area: Migration and implications for human exposure. Water Res, 72, 64-74.
- Zareitalabad, P., Siemens, J., Hamer, M. & Amelung, W. (2013) Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) in surface waters, sediments, soils and wastewater - A review on concentrations and distribution coefficients. *Chemosphere*, **91**, 725-732.
- Zeilmaker, M.J., Fragki, S., Verbruggen, E.M.J., Bokkers, B.G.H. & Lijzen, J.P.A. (2018) Mixture exposure to PFAS: A Relative Potency Factor approach. RIVM, pp. 76.
- Zeilmaker, M.J. & Janssen, P. (2016) Afleiding richtwaarde voor PFOA in drinkwater voor levenslange blootstelling. Projectnummer RIVM M/300007/16/PF.